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Dear Member
DERBYSHIRE FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY MEETING – 28 JULY 2022
Please attend the Meeting of Derbyshire Fire & Rescue Authority to be held on Thursday 28
July at 1000 hours at the Joint Training Centre, Fire & Rescue Service Headquarters, Butterley
Hall, Ripley, Derbyshire, DE5 3RS. Party Political Group pre-meetings will commence from
0930 hours onwards and a room for this will be allocated by the Committee Clerk on the day.
The agenda is set out below.
Yours sincerely

Gavin Tomlinson
Chief Fire Officer/Chief Executive

PART 1 – OPEN ITEMS
1.

Public Question Time

2.

Apologies

3.

Declarations of Interest – Solicitor/Monitoring Officer, Louise Taylor

4.

To confirm the Minutes of the Fire & Rescue Authority Meeting held on 30 June 2022

Reports for Decision:
5.

Capital and Prudential Outturn 2021/22 and Revised Capital Programme 2022/23 –
Director of Finance/Treasurer, Simon Allsop

6.

Approval of Statement of Accounts 2020/21 - Director of Finance/Treasurer, Simon
Allsop

email: reception@derbys-fire.gov.uk
www.derbys-fire.gov.uk
Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive
Gavin Tomlinson MBA MIFireE

7.

Internal Audit Annual Report 2021/22 – Director of Finance/Treasurer, Simon Allsop

Reports for Information:
8.

Update from Chief Fire Officer/Chief Executive

PART 2 – EXEMPT ITEMS
The Authority is asked to consider in respect of the following items whether the public should
be excluded from the meeting to avoid disclosure of information that is exempt for the reasons
set out in the minutes and reports at items 9 to 11.
9.

To confirm the Exempt Minutes of the Fire & Rescue Authority Meeting held on 30 June
2022

Reports for Information:
10.

Report from Real World HR - Director of Corporate Services, Judi Beresford

11.

Delegated Powers Actions – Acceptance of Tender for Fleet Maintenance
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ITEM 4
MINUTES of the Meeting of the DERBYSHIRE FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY
Meeting held at the Fire & Rescue Service Joint Training Centre, Butterley Hall,
Ripley commencing at 1000 hours on Thursday 30 June 2022
Present:
Councillors: T Ainsworth, E Williams, R Iliffe, S Bull, S Swann, R Ashton, J Woolley,
D Taylor, K Gillott, L Ramsey, N Peatfield, J Innes, S Burfoot
Co-opted Member: PCC Foster
Officers in Attendance:
L Taylor
S Allsop
G Tomlinson
L Slade

Solicitor/Monitoring Officer
Director of Finance/Treasurer
Chief Fire Officer/Chief Executive
Committee Clerk

1/22
TO APPOINT THE CHAIR OF DERBYSHIRE FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY FOR
THE 2022/23 YEAR
1.1

Cllr Ainsworth was nominated for Chair by Cllr Bull and seconded by Cllr
Ashton.
Recorded votes for the appointment of Cllr Ainsworth:
13
Cllrs Ainsworth, Williams, Iliffe, Bull, Swann, Taylor, Ashton, Woolley, Gillott,
Innes, Peatfield, Ramsey, Burfoot

Resolved:
1.2

To appoint Cllr Ainsworth as Chair for the 2022/23 year.

2/22
TO APPOINT THE VICE CHAIR OF DERBYSHIRE FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY
FOR THE 2022/23 YEAR
2.1

Cllr Williams was nominated for Vice Chair by Cllr Swann and seconded by
Cllr Bull.
Recorded votes for the appointment of Cllr Ainsworth:
13
Cllrs Ainsworth, Williams, Iliffe, Bull, Swann, Taylor, Ashton, Woolley, Gillott,
Innes, Peatfield, Ramsey, Burfoot

Resolved:
2.2

To appoint Cllr Williams as Vice Chair for the 2022/23 year.
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3/22
TO CONFIRM THE LEADER OF THE MINORITY GROUP
3.1

Cllr Gillott was nominated as Leader of the Minority Group by Cllr Innes and
seconded by Cllr Ramsey.

Resolution:
3.2

To confirm Cllr Gillott as Leader of the Minority Group.
Recorded votes:

Unanimous

4/22
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
4.1

The Chair acknowledged receipt of Public Questions from Mr Chris Tapp,
Brigade Secretary for the Fire Brigades Union and provided a response.

Question 1:
The White Paper, Reforming Our Fire and Rescue Service was launched on May
18th 2022. Will this Authority work with all members from all political parties, service
officers and employees and The Fire Brigades Union to compile a comprehensive
response that opposes the removal of a democratic governance structure that the
fire authority provide, opposes the attacks on the National Joint Council that has
proved to be the best vehicle for resolution to many things and provides equal voice
to firefighters and employers, opposes the notion that firefighters did not support
communities through the pandemic and risk assessments were problematic when
the truth is that firefighters stepped up and provided huge amounts of support whilst
ensuring that we had adequate protection in place for our employees in order to
maintain a fire service that was able to fulfil its legal responsibilities throughout the
pandemic, and supports an increase in funding to the UK fire service from
Westminster, increased recruitment of firefighters and the introduction of national
service delivery standards to measure performance equally across the sector?
Response:
We are engaging with a range of stakeholders and this includes a meeting with the
Fire Authority Group Leaders to obtain their comments on the consultation and
include these in the Service’s response to the consultation.
A separate response may be submitted on behalf of the Fire Authority.
In addition to this, the White Paper and its contents will be a key agenda item at our
forthcoming Staff Engagement Day. At this event we will encourage our staff to
comment and have a say on the consultation response. The FBU are invited to this
event and their contributions will be welcomed along with staff contributions.
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Question 2:
Fire Control members were not awarded the queens jubilee medal in 2022. The
rationale given was that they do not attend operational incidents.
Government website states;
Those who will receive the medal for Her Majesty The Queen's Jubilee are; Frontline
emergency services personnel that have been paid in service, retained, or in a
voluntary capacity, dealing with emergencies as part of their conditions of service,
and have completed five full calendar years of service on 6th February 2022. No
such mention of attending emergency incidents.
Our members in control clearly meet all this criteria and more, they are the first point
of contact on the frontline and provide a vital function in the successful resolution of
incidents that are openly celebrated here. They deal with emergencies and do so as
part of their conditions of service.
Will this Fire Authority take the necessary steps to right this wrong?
That being;
Request that DFRS order the medals and award them as other authorities have
done, make any changes required in order to ensure this never happens again, and
stop any such actions that cause huge amounts of anger, demotivation and upset
within a core function that our service could not function without.
Response:
We thank you for bringing this matter to our attention. We have looked into the
criteria that has been applied and whilst we are sympathetic to our Control Room
Operators, we are unable to fulfil your request to award the medals.
Whilst we wholeheartedly appreciate the important work our Control Room
Operators carry out, the criteria does not allow us to award the medals. We cannot
step outside of the eligibility criteria issued in line with the Royal Warrant. This does
not mean however that we do not value the work our Control Room Operators do in
handling emergency calls. The eligibility criteria that is widely publicised reads
“Frontline emergency services personnel that have been in paid service, retained or
in a voluntary capacity, dealing with emergencies as part of their conditions of
service, and have completed five full calendar years of service on 6 February 2022.”
The additional guidance sent to us by the Home Office states the following definition.
“Dealing with emergencies. Defined as being called to the scene of 999 response
calls and personnel who are potentially placing themselves in danger.” Unfortunately,
this excludes our Control Room Operators.
We do recognise the important role that our Control Operators play in call taking,
mobilising Fire Appliances, and providing lifesaving advice to people in distress, and
they deserve all of the praise we can give them.
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The issuing of medals by other Fire and Rescue Services is not in line with the
National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) position. However, I would like to assure you
that the Chief Fire Officer shared his views on the matter in a joint letter from the
National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) in March 2021 in order to influence a change to
the Royal Warrant, however this was unsuccessful. Should anything change as a
result of this and other lobbying, and we are able to order and issue the medals, this
will be done so with the utmost urgency.
We respect your views on this matter and would like to again offer our thanks to the
great work done across all the fire and rescue service.
Question 3:
Today a paper is provided on the reduced crewing levels for on call appliances. The
FBU have been clear in its opposition to this policy from its inception. Three people
on a fire engine is not a safe working system. It is noted that Derbyshire worked with
the FBU in order to reduce the risk that our members are exposed to and limit the
calls that they could respond to but this does not eliminate the risk that in our view
clearly outweighs the benefit. The policy is masking the real issues. Lack of
recruitment, inability to retain and the inherent issues that the fire service face with
the on call system. Would you do what they do for 50 pence per hour?
The statistics have been published through a rose tint. The fact is that it only takes
one incident where it isn't quite what the caller stated and firefighters are compelled
to act. This is when accidents and worse could happen.
Given the real facts that it endangers the lives of firefighters, will this authority stop
this dangerous policy and ensure safe and recognised systems of work are always
used within Derbyshire?
Response:
Working together to achieve a positive outcome, the trial had the support of the
Strategic Leadership Team and the Fire Authority. A trail was approved by the Fire
Authority in 2019 and has had the overwhelming support of On Call personnel who
have been mobilised as the nearest and quickest appliance to an additional 113
incidents over the trial period whilst still operating within a safe system of work.
The Reduced Crewing arrangements trial (Riding 3) has identified significant benefits
to both the On Call stations and the communities of Derbyshire by providing
increased appliance availability, greater potential to provide important response
interventions across the County, as well as a decrease in incident response
times. It must be noted that throughout the trial the Safety and Risk Management
Department have reported that there have been no instances of any near hits or any
other serious safety concerns. As a Fire Authority we will continue to support the
Service in adapting and responding to the evolving needs of our communities.
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5/22
APOLOGIES
5.1

Cllrs Potter, Gourlay, Skelton.

6/22
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
6.1

None.

7/22
TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY MEETING
HELD ON 24 MARCH 2022
7.1

Members confirmed the minutes as a correct record.
Recorded votes:

Unanimous
Cllr Ainsworth proposed, Cllr Gillott seconded

8/22
TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE MEETING
HELD ON 24 MARCH 2022
8.1

Members confirmed the minutes as a correct record.
Recorded votes:

Unanimous
Cllr Bull proposed, Cllr Ashton seconded

9/22
TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE INCLUSION & EQUALITY FORUM
MEETING HELD ON 26 APRIL 2022
9.1

Members confirmed the minutes as a correct record.
Recorded votes:

Unanimous
Cllr Woolley proposed, Cllr Taylor seconded

10/22
TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE GOVERNANCE & PERFORMANCE
WORKING GROUP MEETING HELD ON 23 MAY 2022
10.1

Cllr Williams wished to note on record the frustrations held by Members of the
Governance & Performance Working Group in respect of the audit delays.

10.2

Members confirmed the minutes as a correct record.
Recorded votes:

Unanimous
Cllr Williams proposed, Cllr Gillott seconded
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11/22
TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE MEETING
HELD ON 9 JUNE 2022
11.1

Members confirmed the minutes as a correct record.
Recorded votes:

Unanimous
Cllr Taylor proposed, Cllr Ashton seconded

12/22
APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, GROUPS, PANELS, FORUMS, THE LOCAL
PENSION BOARD AND THE FIRE COMMISSION 2022/23
12.1

The Monitoring Officer presented the report for the appointment of Members
to the Standards Committee, Groups and Forums for Derbyshire Fire and
Rescue Authority and to certain other bodies for 2022/23.

12.2

The Monitoring Officer had received nominations prior to the meeting.

Resolved:
12.3

Members confirmed the powers delegated to the Standards Committee for
2022/23.

12.4

Members confirmed appointments to the following groups for 2022/23:

Standards Committee
Composition: 5 Members (to include at least 1 Derby City Member)
Conservative 3; Labour 1; Liberal Democrat 1
Councillors: Bull, Potter, Taylor, Innes, Skelton
Budget Development Working Group
Composition: 5 Members (to include at least 1 Derby City Member)
Conservative 3; Labour 1; Liberal Democrat 1
Councillors: Potter, Ashton, Iliffe, Gillott, Skelton
Governance & Performance Working Group
Composition: 5 Members (to include at least 1 Derby City Member)
Conservative 3; Labour 1; Liberal Democrat 1
Councillors: Potter, Gourlay, Woolley, Gillott, Burfoot
Inclusion & Equality Forum
Composition: 5 Members (to include at least 1 Derby City Member)
Conservative 3; Labour 1; Liberal Democrat 1
Councillors: Woolley, Williams, Taylor, Ramsey, Burfoot
Pensions Board
Composition: 2 Members
Councillors: Gourlay, Gillott
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Brigade Managers’ Pay Review Panel
Composition: 5 Members (to include at least 1 Derby City Member)
Conservative 5; Labour 2; Liberal Democrat 1
Councillors: Ainsworth, Williams, Gourlay, Swann, Iliffe, Innes, Peatfield, Skelton
Brigade Managers’ Discipline/Grievance and Associated Appeals
Composition: 8 Members (to include at least 1 Derby City Member)
Conservative 5; Labour 2; Liberal Democrat 1
Councillors: Ainsworth, Potter, Major, Swann, Iliffe, Innes, Peatfield, Skelton
Brigade Managers’ Appointments Panel
Composition: 5 Members (to include at least 1 Derby City Member)
Conservative 3; Labour 1; Liberal Democrat 1
Councillors: Ainsworth, Williams, Swann, Peatfield, Skelton

13/22
APPROVAL OF STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2020/21
13.1

The Director of Finance presented a report to update Members on the position
of the final Statement of Accounts for 2020/21 and receive the External
Auditors Audit Results report.

13.2

The auditors have issued their draft Audit Results report and indicated they
expect to issue an unqualified opinion on the Statement of Accounts.
However, a number of issues require finalising which are included within the
report.

13.3

Hayley Clark, Associate Partner of Ernst & Young LLP addressed Members to
confirm the unqualified opinion and thanked the DFRS staff involved in
assisting with the audit. Simon Allsop also extended his thanks to the team
who had worked really hard in difficult circumstances to produce the accounts.

Resolved:
13.4

Members noted the draft Audit Results Report 2020/21 from Ernst Young,
External Auditors to the Authority as at Appendix 1 of the report.

13.5

Members noted the intention to receive the final set of accounts for 2020/21
after finalisation in July 2022.
Recorded votes:

Unanimous
Cllr Ainsworth proposed, Cllr Williams seconded

14/22
INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22
14.1

This item will be deferred to the Fire Authority meeting in July.
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15/22
DRAFT REVENUE BUDGET OUTTURN 2021/22
15.1

The Director of Finance presented Members with the draft 2021/22 Revenue
Budget Outturn, to outline progress on the IRMP ‘Our Plan’ target savings and
to report on the level of Closing Reserves as at 31 March 2022.

15.2

Members noted that the outturn position reported is consistent with £0.5m
reported to Members at the March Fire Authority meeting. The principal
reason for this position remains the significant refund of NNDR that has been
achieved during this year. Other key variances were noted which related to
communications and computing, interest payments and minimum revenue
provision, rates, equipment, furniture and materials and direct transport.

15.3

Members noted that these variances are continually challenged by the
Strategic Leadership Team.

15.4

Members noted an overspend of £472,923 in operational pay after applying
Protection Grant funding for additional temporary posts and Covid-19 Grant.
The resulting net position highlights the vacancy factor applied to operational
pay and increased recruitment. The Protection Grant funding figures for
2022/23 have recently been released.

15.5

The Director of Finance highlighted the increased pressure seen through
emerging inflation and cost increases which widens the forecast budget gap
to £2.2m by 2025/26. To address this shortfall the Service will continue to
review the capital programme and its revenue implications, undertake base
budget reviews of targeted service areas and identify areas for savings
through the Productivity and Efficiency Group. Members noted that an
updated Capital report will be submitted to the Fire Authority for approval in
July.

15.6

A Labour Member expressed concern over the uncertainties described within
the report and highlighted the importance of ensuring the Service is fully
funded and not reliant upon the taxpayer.

Resolved:
15.7

Members noted the favourable draft Revenue Budget Outturn for 2021/22
being an underspend of £516,747. A contribution of £203,160 from the
Council Tax Support Reserve was required to balance the Updated Revenue
Budget 2021/22. The position report, which is illustrated in Appendix 1 of the
report, does not currently account for the final NNDR (business rates) closing
position, which is still expected from billing authorities.

15.8

Members approved Carry Forward requests totalling £349,000 as outlined in
paragraphs 3.31 and 3.32 to arrive at the underspend position in paragraph
2.1.
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15.9

Members approved the transfer of the year end underspend to the Capital
Development Reserve. This will be held to ensure that additional funding is
available to respond to the continuing increase in capital costs and to reduce
the need to borrow considering the forecast increases in interest rates.

15.10 Members approved all other transfers to and from Earmarked Reserves and
specifically note the draft Closing Balance of £15.1m as illustrated in
Appendix 2 of the report.
Recorded votes:

Unanimous
Cllr Ainsworth proposed, Cllr Ashton seconded

16/22
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2021/22
16.1

The Director of Corporate Services presented Members with the Annual
Governance Statement (AGS) for 2021/22, a revised Local Code of Corporate
Governance, an Annual Statement of Assurance for 2021/22 and the Annual
Report ‘Our Year’ for 2021/22.

16.2

Members noted that the Annual Governance Statement has been developed
in accordance with the principles outlined from the CIPFA/SOLACE
‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework 2016’. The
guidance requires the Annual Governance Statement to be signed off by the
Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive and the Chair of the Fire and Rescue
Authority and will be audited by External Audit. The Statement remains a live
document until the audit opinion is issued and will be amended to reflect any
feedback from the External Auditors.

16.3

Members expressed thanks to the team who lead on producing these
documents each year and appreciated the amount of detail that is captured.

Resolved:
16.4

Members approved the Annual Governance Statement, Local Code of
Corporate Governance and Statement of Assurance for 2021/22.
Recorded votes:

Unanimous
Cllr Ainsworth proposed, Cllr Williams seconded

17/22
REVISED CODE OF CONDUCT FOR MEMBERS AND APPOINTMENT OF
INDEPENDENT PERSONS
17.1

The Monitoring Officer presented a report recommending the adoption of a
revised Code of Conduct for Members of Derbyshire Fire & Rescue Authority
and for noting the appointment of two independent persons.

17.2

From 1 July 2012 the Fire Authority has been responsible for ensuring that it
has its own code of conduct based on the seven principles of public life (the
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Nolan principles) and that provision has been made for the registration and
disclosure of pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests by Members and their
spouses.
17.3

The Standards Committee has met several times this year to consider the
Local Government Association’s revised Model Councillor Code of Conduct
2021 and other Codes used by local authorities.

17.4

Members noted that in accordance with the requirements set out in the
Localism Act 2011, the Fire Authority needs to appoint at least one
independent person and a public recruitment exercise took place in March
2022.

17.5

A Conservative Member confirmed that Fire Standards and Code of Ethics
have been embedded within the revised Code.

17.6

The Monitoring Officer was asked to circulate a copy of the Code highlighting
which areas have been changed.

Resolved:
17.7

Members approved to adopt the revised Code of Conduct for Members as at
Appendix 1 of the report.

17.8

Members accepted the Standards Committee’s recommendation that all
Members of the Fire Authority undertake training on the revised Code of
Conduct for Members, standards and scrutiny in 2022/23.

17.9

Members approved the appointment of two independent persons.
Recorded votes:

Unanimous
Cllr Bull proposed, Cllr Taylor seconded

REPORTS FOR INFORMATION
18/22
UPDATE FROM CHIEF FIRE OFFICER/CHIEF EXECUTIVE
18.1

The Chief Fire Officer provided Members with an overview of incidents of note
that have taken place since the last Fire Authority meeting and included
updates on the White Paper ‘reforming our fire and rescue service’ which has
been launched by Government. The consultation for the White Paper closes
on 26 July.

18.2

Members noted the introduction of The Fire Safety (England) Regulations
2022 which will implement the majority of the recommendations made by the
Grenfell Tower Inquiry in its Phase 1 report.

18.3

Members also noted the activities across the Service to celebrate the
Platinum Jubilee which included the planting of 8 commemorative trees
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across the estates and attendance by the Chief Fire Officer at the Jubilee
Service at St Paul’s Cathedral.
18.4

The Chief Fire Officer confirmed that the Service is in week 5 of 6 of the
HMICFRS inspections and a hot debrief from the inspectors will be delivered
at the end of July.

19/22
REVIEW OF CREWING ARRANGEMENTS FOR ON-CALL APPLIANCES
19.1

Members noted the contents of the report.

20/22
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER 2021-22
20.1

Members noted the contents of the report.

21/22
YEAR END PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 2021/22
21.1

Members noted the contents of the report.
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ITEM 5
OPEN

DECISION

DERBYSHIRE FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY
28 JULY 2022
REPORT OF CHIEF FIRE OFFICER/CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE / TREASURER
CAPITAL AND PRUDENTIAL OUTTURN 2021/22 AND
REVISED CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2022/23

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1 To note the capital outturn position as at 31 March 2022.
1.2 To provide information on the borrowing and lending position as at 31 March
2022 and report on the prudential indicators as required under the CIPFA
Prudential Code of Practice.
1.3 To provide information on revisions to the 2022/23 and future Capital
Programme following updates since the March 2022 report and to take account
of the 2021/22 outturn position.
1.4 To provide an update on the 2021/22 Revenue Outturn following receipt of
NNDR information from billing authorities.
2.

Recommendations
2021/22 Outturn

2.1 To note the outturn position and the funding of the 2021/22 Capital Programme
(sections 3.1 to 3.16).
2.2 To note the updated 2021/22 Revenue Outturn position following receipt of
National Non Domestic Rating information from billing authorities. (section 5).
2022/23 Capital Programme
2.3 To approve the addition of £0.821m slippage to the 2022/23 Programme
(sections 3.3 to 3.19).
2.4 To note the Joint Training Centre Breathing Apparatus House scheme,
approved under the delegated powers of the Chief Fire Officer and Director of
Finance / Treasurer (paragraph 3.29).
2.5 To approve a £0.800m increase the new Glossop Fire Station scheme and a
£0.400m increase to the new Matlock Fire Station scheme (paragraph 3.31).
2.6 To approve a £0.010m increase to the Medium Van scheme (paragraph 3.30).
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2.7 To approve the deferral the replacement of New Mills after considering
affordability at this current time (paragraph 3.5).
2.8 To approve the re-profiling of schemes. This moves £4.283m from the 2022/23
programme to the 2023/24 programme (section 3.33) with the resulting 2022/23
Capital Programme and funding set out in section 3.34.
2.9 To delegate to the CFO and Director of Finance authority to accept the most
economically advantageous tender received for the new Glossop Fire Station,
subject to it falling within the agreed budget.
Treasury Management & Prudential Indicators
2.10 To note the Treasury Management & Prudential Indicator update and change to
the Capital Financing Requirement (sections 3.20 to 3.27).
3.

Information and Analysis
Capital Monitoring

3.1 The 2021/22 capital outturn position is shown in Appendix 1. It shows total
expenditure for the year of £2.350m which represents 74% of the total year
budget of £3.176m.
3.2 Despite the best efforts of officers to fully deliver the capital programme
£0.821m requires slipping into 2022/23
Property
3.3 The £3.1m scheme (original estimate) to build a new Fire Station at Glossop
continued during 2021/22. The scheme is at the tendering stage and
construction works are expected to commence on site in November 2022.
Slippage of £0.106m into 2022/23 is required.
3.4 The £3.2m scheme (original estimate) to build a new Fire Station at Matlock
began in 2021/22. The scheme is at the design & planning stage and
construction works is expected to commence on site in early 2023. Slippage of
£0.083m into 2022/23 is required.
3.5 The original proposals to build 3 new stations at Matlock, Glossop and New
Mills were approved with a total budget of £8.8m with associated revenue costs
of £0.4m per annum to repay borrowing. Due to the increase in building costs
the total estimated costs to complete all 3 stations has now increased by over
50% to £12.9m, (Matlock £5m, Glossop £4.9m and New Mills £3.4m).
Combined with the forecast continued increase in interest rates the annual
revenue costs to fund the required borrowing has increased to £0.85m, again
by over 50%. Due to these significant increases, the Service has taken the
decision to defer the New Mills scheme. Works to address the condition of the
station will be prioritised and undertaken in due course.
3.6 The Authority has been able to increase levels of reserves as reported in the
revenue outturn report and these balances have been used to further reduce
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future borrowing costs in line with the capital financing strategy. However, all
future investment and borrowing will need to be closely reviewed considering
the growing pressures being identified in the financial planning work currently
underway.
3.7 The over-arching £0.720m scheme to provide Separate Male & Female
Locker/Changing Facilities at On-Call Fire Stations finished, and works were
completed at Clay Cross and Heanor Fire Stations. The scheme was achieved
with a small £0.008m overspend.
3.8 The £0.090m Smoke House Equipment scheme is at the design & planning
stage and will be completed during the year. Slippage of £0.090m into 2022/23
is required.
3.9

The £0.300m Derbyshire Constabulary Co-location Programme scheme at
Ascot Drive Fire Station was completed in 2021/22 with a slight overspend
against budget of £0.006m. The scheme links the Fire Station with the newly
completed Police Station, built on adjacent land.
Transport

3.10

During the year eight appliances were purchased outright on the expiry of their
lease. The purchase of seven appliances was planned, however a favourable
deal was achieved to purchase all eight leased appliances and save £0.025m
against the original budget.

3.11

31 replacement officer cars were delivered during the year. Eight of these are
being fitted with blue lights and cameras in early 2022/23, hence slippage of
£0.014m is requested.

3.12

The two remaining 4x4 vehicles and the medium van were delivered in 2022.
These vehicles are currently being fitted out and will be brought into service in
early 2022/23. Slippage of £0.029m is required for these vehicles.

3.13

The £0.598m scheme to replace Fire Fighter Breathing Apparatus, including
Telemetry, was completed in 2021/22, following manufacturing and supply
chain delays. A saving of £0.015m was achieved.
ICT

3.14

The scheme to provide ICT Hardware for Mobile Devices on Appliances was
successfully undertaken and implemented, achieving a saving against budget
of £0.006m.

3.15

Development of the Human Resources replacement system continued during
2020/21, with £0.001m of accelerated expenditure brought forward from the
2022/23 programme.

3.16

Trials are being undertaken with different suppliers for the body worn cameras
scheme. Slippage of £0.090m into 2022/23 is requested.
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3.17

Further Home Office delays to The Emergency Services Network (ESN)
scheme mean that slippage of £0.018m into 2022/23 is required.

3.18

Systel completed £0.050m software licence upgrades to address weaknesses
and operating issues to their mobilising system during 2021/22. The Tri Control
project contains expenditure which relates to the element of the project
attributable to Nottinghamshire and Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Authorities.
It is included in the Partnership column for information as DFRS are the
Accountable Body for the project.

3.19

Slippage totalling £0.389m is also requested for on-going schemes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Back Up Restore Capabilities
Virtual Desktop Infrastructure Hardware & Configuration
WAN Upgrades
Replacement Occupational Health System
Cloud Based Infrastructure
Desktop PC Replacement Programme
ICT Strategy Fund

Funding of the 2021/22 Capital Programme
Funding of the programme will be as follows:
Financing of the
Capital Programme

2021/22

Reserves

DFRS Partnership

Total

£’000
106

£’000

£’000
106

0

33

33

Revenue (Tri Service partners’
share of expenditure)

38

38

0

0

2,173

2,173

Leasing

0

0

Borrowing

0

0

Capital Grant
Capital Contribution
Capital Receipts

Total

2,317

33

2,350

Treasury Management Annual report & Prudential Code Update
3.20 The Authority is required to receive a report on the year end position of the
Authority’s investments and any updates against the strategy.
3.21 Total investments stood at £10m on 31 March 2022. Details of the investments
are shown in the table below.
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Counterparty
Barclays
Investment Account
Local Authorities
Total

Amount
£’000
4,000

Interest Rate Term

6,000
10,000

0.05% 1 month
0.09% 3 months

3.22 Total interest for the year on investments was £0.009m compared to £0.011m
in 2020/21 due to interest rate decreases. The average rate of interest for
investments held during 2021/22 was 0.07% (0.21%, in 2020/21). The advice
from the Authority’s treasury advisors (Link Group) has been to continue not
making unsecured investments with banking institutions and invest with other
authorities which offer a higher level of security but low interest rates. An effort
has been made to lengthen the duration of these investments in order to
attempt to maintain interest rates. All investments are placed in line with the
Treasury Management Strategy approved by Fire Authority.
3.23 The Authority takes part in Link Group’s investment reporting. The year-end
analysis is attached at Appendix 3. It shows that our current investment
portfolio is not exposed to a ‘bail in’ risk and that the risk rating is in the lowest
rated category. The balances in the DFRS accounts with Barclays Bank are all
instant access accounts. The second chart in Appendix 3 reflects the
comparatively lower returns achieved from the investment portfolio, as a result
of the approach taken by DFRS, outlined in section 3.19.
3.24 Outstanding borrowing at the end of March 2022 stands at £7.294m from loans.
Leasing will continue to be considered as a source of funding for specialist
vehicles in future years subject to a review to ensure that this option offers the
authority value for money over the life of the vehicle. No new loans or finance
leases were entered into during 2021/22. The Service complied with all its
approved Prudential Indicators and borrowing limits.
3.25 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) as at 31 March 2022 stood at
£7.864m (£8.267m 31 March 2021). This is the amount of overall borrowing
still to be financed to fund historic capital expenditure. The reduction is due to
the services making annual provision for the outstanding amount. This is in line
with the CFR reported in the February Capital Monitoring and Prudential Code
report.
3.26 The current forecast for 2022/23 indicates that the operational boundary
requires approval to decrease from £10.380m to £10.200m, due to the
reduction in borrowing for 2022/23 (section 3.6 above). The boundary
fluctuates annually due to the amount and timing of new borrowing being
undertaken for the capital programme and the continuing repayment of existing
borrowing.
3.27 The current forecast for 2022/23 indicates that the authorised limit requires
approval to decrease from £10.980m to £10.800m, due to the reduction in
borrowing for 2022/23 (section 3.6 above). Again, the authorised limit
fluctuates correspondingly with the operational boundary. The authorised limit
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is calculated to allow for new loans increasing the authority’s debt prior to the
timing of existing loan repayments during each year.
2022/23 Capital Programme
3.28 The revised 2022/23 Capital Programme totalling £6.450m is attached at
Appendix 2. The programme includes £0.821m slippage from 2021/22 (see
paragraphs 3.3 to 3.16) and the re-profiling of schemes, totalling £4.283m, from
the 2022/23 programme to the 2023/24 programme (paragraph 3.33).
3.29 A new £0.065m Joint Training Centre Breathing Apparatus House scheme was
approved by a Delegated Powers of The Chief Fire Officer Report in April. The
works will maintain the unit’s operational function, strengthen the structure and
extend its operational life. The cost will be funded from the maintenance
reserve.
3.30 Approval is requested for a £0.010m increase to the Medium Van scheme to
provide a mobile fleet maintenance resource, complete with secure tools and
spares stowage. The cost will be funded from a revenue contribution from the
fleet maintenance budget.
3.31 Construction costs alone have been increased by 3% since the last estimate
was reported to FRA and approval for a £0.800m increase the new Glossop
Fire Station scheme and a £0.400m increase to the new Matlock Fire Station
scheme is requested, funded by increasing the borrowing. Both schemes are
progressing and work on site is anticipated to commence this financial year.
The schemes also include provision for temporary accommodation and
structures which will ultimately be borne from revenue budgets and reserves
and reduce the capital cost of the schemes.
3.32 To ensure there are no delays within the tendering process it is requested that
approval to accept the most economically advantageous tender is delegated to
the CFO and Director of Finance. This will reduce the risk of delays and further
cost increases. Further updates will be reported to FRA following the tendering
process.
3.33 The 2022/23 programme has been reviewed and re-profiling of £4.273m is
required to align budgets with external factors and internal resource priorities
influencing scheme delivery.
•
•

•
•

Cab and chassis manufacturer lead times are currently around eighteen
months and necessitate re-profiling the two schemes to provide six new fire
appliances, (totalling £1.62m) into 2023/24.
Construction work is expected to commence on the new fire station
schemes at Glossop and Matlock this year, however issues with material
and labour availability will affect the delivery of the schemes. Re-profiling
£2.189m into 2023/4 is more realistic currently.
The ICT capital programme requires £0.474m re-profiling into 2023/24 to
reflect the commitment to completing existing projects.
In addition, emerging service priorities require the revision of the £0.055m
scheme to provide five light vehicles to the purchase of two light vehicles
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and a technician’s support vehicle for appliance ladder maintenance and
distribution.
3.34 The 2022/23 programme is funded as follows:
Financing of 2022/23 Capital Programme

£’000

Reserves

1,338

Revenue

612

Capital Grant

1,232

Capital Contribution

0

Capital Receipts

768

Operational Leasing (revenue)

0

Borrowing

2,500

Total

6,450

3.35 Individual capital investment streams and strategies are currently being
reviewed and changes to the 3 year programme will be reported at the
September Fire Authority Meeting.
4.

Financial Considerations

4.1 Future year capital programmes and financing decisions will continue to be
updated as more information becomes available and will be presented to Fire
Authority. The Authority continues to fund its capital programme in line with its
agreed Medium Term Financial Strategy and will consider the funding options
available to it to meet the proposed capital construction programme for
2022/2025.
4.2 During 2021/22 the sale of the old Littleover HQ site and the remaining,
available to market, former fire houses on the Glossop and Matlock sites were
completed. The capital receipts meant that the authority didn’t need to borrow
to fund the capital programme.
5.

Revenue Outturn Update

5.1 Since the 2021/22 Revenue Outturn was reported to Fire Authority the service
has received final NNDR information from the billing authorities. The
information has indicated a collection fund deficit as at 31 March of £617,000.
Due to the statutory accounting regulations for the collection fund the service
will recognise this deficit in 2022/23 and 2023/24.
5.2 Much of the deficit is related to the increased reliefs that were granted by
central government in response the pressures felt by business during the lock
down periods. Additional S31 grant has been allocated by the government to
compensate authorities for the loss in income. The service has now recognised
an additional debtor for £558,000 for grant receivable. These grant funds have
been transferred to the S31 reserve and will be used to offset the impact of the
deficit when it is recognised.
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6.

Other Considerations

6.1 None.
This report has been consulted upon and approved by the following officers:
Strategic Leadership Team
Contact Officer: Simon Allsop

Contact No: 01773 305410

Background Papers:
•

2021/22 – 2023/24 Capital Programme, Prudential Code Report and Treasury
Management Strategy, February 2021

•

Capital and Prudential Outturn 2020/21, 23 July 2021

•

Capital Monitoring and Prudential Update 2021/2022, 23 September 2021

•

Capital Monitoring and Prudential Update 2021/2022, 2 December 2021

•

2021/22 Capital Monitoring, 2022/23 - 2024/25 Capital Programme, Prudential
Code Report & Treasury Management Strategy, 10 February 2022

•

Capital Monitoring 2021/2022, 24 March 2022

•

Prudential Code (amended in 2012)

•

CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition
(the CIPFA Code) and associated guidance issued by CLG

•

Local Government Act 2003
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Appendix 1

Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service
Capital Programme 2021/22
Expenditure

Total Scheme
Budget
£
ICT Strategy
ICT Strategy fund
Cloud Based Infrastructure
Replacement Occupational Health System

2021/22
Approved
Budget March
2022 FRA
2021/22 Outturn
£
£

Variance to
Budget
£

Slippage to
2022/23
£

Expenditure
brought
forward from
2022/23
£

Under /
(Overspend)
£

500,000
50,000
34,000

176,000
50,000
34,000

0
0
13,341.00

176,000
50,000
20,659

176,000
50,000
20,659

35,000

35,000

0

35,000

35,000

282,500
50,000
300,000
30,000
250,000
55,070
200,000
152,685
190,000
90,000

62,106
25,961
6,000
0
0
0
0
92,229
0
90,000

41,520.64
0
7,000.00
0
0
0
0
31,755.00
0
0

20,585
25,961

Emergency Services Network (ESN)
ICT Hardware for Mobile Devices on Appliances

1,384,100
142,000

40,000
5,641

21,622.98
0

20,585
25,961
(1,000)
0
0
0
0
60,474
0
90,000
0
0
18,377
5,641

Tri Control Project

5,400,000

51,000

49,712

1,288

1,288

3,100,000
3,200,000
720,000

94,312.96
16,876.75
186,583
257.33
0

105,687
83,123
(7,893)
(257)
90,000

105,687
83,123

90,000

200,000
100,000
178,690
0
90,000

Derbyshire Constabulary Co-location Programme
Ascot Drive Fire Station Co-location scheme (Fire scheme only)

300,000

220,726

226,701.98

Vehicles
4 red fleet 4x4 vehicles
Replacement Welfare vehicle
1 x Medium Van
31 x Officer Cars
3 x Fire Appliances
7 x Fire Appliances purchase on lease expiry
2 x Red Fleet Vehicles

120,000
150,000
22,000
902,290
810,000
105,000
22,000

66,763
0
22,000
902,290
0
80,000
0

39,157
0
20,336
888,177
0
80,000
0

(5,976)
0
0
0
27,606
0
1,664
14,113
0
0
0

Breathing Apparatus including Telemetry

598,000

647,501

632,386.10

15,115

3,175,907

2,349,740

826,167

820,538

(1,257)

6,887

Reserves

420,686

105,617

315,069

310,428

(1,000)

5,641

Revenue

34,000

33,141

859

859

(257)

(13,869)

Desktop PC replacement programme
Virtual Desktop Infrastructure Hardware & Configuration
Back Up Restore Capabilities
Human Resources replacement system
Business Intelligence Tool
Telephony
SharePoint Upgrade / Move to Cloud
Networking
WAN Upgrades
Corporate Wi-Fi
Body Worn Cameras

Property Programme
New Glossop Fire Station
New Matlock Fire Station
Separate Male & Female Locker/Changing Facilities On-Call F.S.
Ashbourne FS 4x4 Garage Scheme
Smoke House Equipment

(1,000)
0
0
0
0
60,474
0
90,000

18,377
5,641

(7,893)
(257)
90,000

(5,976)

27,606
1,664
14,113

15,115

Funding

Operational Lease

0

0

0

57,000
0

38,194
0

18,806
0

18,806

Capital Receipts

1,160,541

2,172,788

(1,012,247)

272,364

Borrowing
Total

1,503,680

0

1,503,680

218,081

3,175,907

2,349,740

826,167

820,538

Capital Grant Unapplied Reserve
Capital Contribution

15,115

(1,257)

6,887
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Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service
Capital Programme 2022/23
Expenditure

Total Scheme
Budget
£
ICT Strategy
ICT Strategy fund
Cloud Based Infrastructure
Replacement Occupational Health System
VDI Hardware (Ascot Drive)
Secondary Data Centre (Ascot Drive)
Desktop PC replacement programme
Human Resources replacement system
Virtual Desktop Infrastructure Hardware & Configuration
Back Up Restore Capabilities
EIS replacement
Business Intelligence Tool
Telephony
SharePoint Upgrade / Move to Cloud
Networking
WAN Upgrades
Corporate Wi-Fi
Body Worn Cameras

Slippage to
2022/23 as at
02/12/21 FRA
£

Slippage to
2022/23 for
Feb 2022 FRA
£

2022/23
Additions
£

500,000
50,000
34,000
250,000
200,000

250,000
200,000

35,000

35,000

300,000
282,500
50,000
180,000
30,000
250,000
55,070
200,000
152,685
190,000
90,000

Funding

Slippage to
2022/23 for
Mar 2022 FRA
£

0
50,000

2021/22
Outturn
Budget reSlippage to
profiling for
2022/23 for
July 2022 FRA
Jun 2022 FRA
approval
£
£

176,000
50,000
20,659
(100,000)
(100,000)

176,000
100,000
20,659
150,000
100,000

Reserves
£

35,000

70,000

0
62,000
20,585
0
0
0
55,070
104,948
60,474
116,000
90,000

90,000

Emergency Services Network (ESN)

1,384,100

1,250,799

18,377

1,269,176

290,799

Tri Control Project

5,400,000

902,968

1,288

904,256

821

Property Programme
New Glossop Fire Station
New Matlock Fire Station
Ashbourne FS 4x4 Garage Scheme
Smoke House Equipment
Joint Training Centre Breathing Apparatus House

5,000,000
4,500,000
22,000
90,000
65,000

22,000

105,687
83,123
(257)
90,000
65,000

60,000
120,000
22,000
55,000
22,000
372,290
810,000
810,000

2 x Replacement Welfare Vehicles

150,000

(180,000)
(30,000)
(64,030)
55,070

104,948
60,474
116,000

148,087
100,000

2,351,913
1,900,000

(605,687)
(1,583,123)

60,000
27,606
1,664

10,000

55,000
22,000
372,290
610,000

(264,290)
200,000

14,113
(810,000)
(810,000)

810,000
150,000

1,353,065

172,000

6,024,203

2,289,547

884,281

(4,272,840)

Capital Grant
Unapplied
Capital
Reserve
Contribution Capital Receipts
£
£
£

28,710
0
20,659

(1,000)
20,585
25,961

180,000
30,000
64,030

Operational
Lease
£

Revenue
£

62,000
20,585
25,961
0
0
0
55,070
104,948
60,474
116,000
90,000

Vehicles
3 x Water rescue boats
4 red fleet 4x4 vehicles
1 x Medium Van
2 x Light Fleet Vehicles and Technician's Support Vehicle
2 x Light Fleet Vehicles
6 x Officer Cars
3 x Fire Appliances
3 x Fire Appliances

63,000

Revised
2022/23
Budget
£

2,000,000
500,000
21,743
90,000
65,000

16,743
90,000
65,000

60,000
27,606
11,664
55,000
22,000
122,113
0
0

60,000
27,606
1,664
55,000
22,000
0
0
0

150,000

150,000

6,450,256

1,338,080

Borrowing
£

Total
£

147,290
100,000
150,000
100,000

176,000
100,000
20,659
150,000
100,000

70,000

70,000
62,000
20,585
25,961
0
0
0
55,070
104,948
60,474
116,000
90,000

25,961
0

930,617
602,288

47,760

904,256

0
0
5,000

10,000
0
0

0

122,113
0
0

0

612,288

1,269,176

301,147

0

1,231,764

0

768,124

2,000,000
500,000
0

2,000,000
500,000
21,743
90,000
65,000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

60,000
27,606
11,664
55,000
22,000
122,113
0
0

0

150,000

2,500,000

6,450,256

Capital Programme 2023/24
Expenditure

Total Scheme
Budget
£
ICT Strategy
ICT Strategy fund
Cloud Based Infrastructure
Primary Data Centre (Ripley)
VDI Hardware (Ripley)
VDI Hardware (Ascot Drive)
Secondary Data Centre (Ascot Drive)
Desktop PC replacement programme

Slippage to
2023/24 as at
02/12/21 FRA
£

2023/24
Additions
£

500,000
50,000
225,000
225,000
250,000
200,000

0
50,000
225,000
225,000

35,000

35,000

Funding
Budget reprofiling for
July 2022 FRA
approval
£

Reserves
£
0
50,000
225,000
225,000

100,000
100,000

0
50,000
225,000
225,000
100,000
100,000
35,000

180,000
30,000
64,030

180,000
30,000
64,030

1,405,687
1,983,123

2,903,774
3,983,123

810,000
810,000

171,700
48,000
810,000
810,000

171,700
48,000
0
0

0
36,000

21,000

9,771,627

860,167

EIS replacement
Business Intelligence Tool
Telephony

180,000
30,000
250,000

Property Programme
New Glossop Fire Station
New Matlock Fire Station

5,000,000
4,500,000

1,498,087
2,000,000

Vehicles
5 x Light Fleet Vehicles
2 x Medium Vans
3 x Fire Appliances
3 x Fire Appliances

171,700
48,000
810,000
810,000

171,700
48,000

3 x Fire Appliances
Equipment for Major Rescue Units Replacements

810,000
36,000

810,000
36,000

(810,000)

5,098,787

4,672,840

0

Revised
2023/24
Budget
£

Operational
Lease
£

Revenue
£

Capital Grant
Unapplied
Capital
Reserve
Contribution Capital Receipts
£
£
£

Borrowing
£

Total
£

0
0
0
0
100,000
100,000

0

25,437

9,563

0

0
30,000
64,030

180,000

2,903,774
3,983,123

0
0

0
0
810,000
810,000

171,700
48,000
810,000
810,000

15,000

0
0

0
36,000

404,563

8,506,897

9,771,627

0
0

0

0

0

0

35,000
180,000
30,000
64,030

2,903,774
3,983,123

0

0

0
50,000
225,000
225,000
100,000
100,000

Capital Programme 2024/25
Expenditure
Indicative Total Slippage to
Scheme
2024/25 as at
Budget
02/12/21 FRA
£
£
ICT Strategy
ICT Strategy fund
Desktop PC replacement programme

2024/25
Additions
£

500,000
35,000

500,000
35,000

171,700
810,000

171,700

Funding
Budget reprofiling for
July 2022 FRA
approval
£

Revised
Indicative
2024/25
Budget
£

Reserves
£

500,000
35,000

490,000
35,000

171,700
810,000

171,700

810,000
810,000

1,516,700

696,700

Operational
Lease
£

Revenue
£

Capital Grant
Unapplied
Capital
Reserve
Contribution Capital Receipts
£
£
£

10,000
0

Borrowing
£

Total
£

0
0

500,000
35,000

0
810,000

171,700
810,000

810,000

1,516,700

Property Programme
Further investment in stations will be prioritised in accordance with the
imminent service delivery risk review and the condition survey.

Vehicles
5 x Light Fleet Vehicles
3 x Fire Appliances

0

706,700

0

0

0

0

10,000
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ITEM 6
OPEN

DECISION

DERBYSHIRE FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY
28 JULY 2022
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF FINANCE/TREASURER
APPROVAL OF STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2021/2022
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1 To update Members on the position of the final Statement of Accounts for
2021/22.
2.

Recommendations

2.1 That Members receive the Statement of Accounts for 2021/22 as at Appendix 1
to the Joint Director of Finance following receipt of the Audit Results report from
Ernst and Young (EY) at the June Fire Authority meeting
2.2 That Members delegate the signing of the Authority’s financial statements and
Management Representations Letter to the Chief Fire Officer, Director of Finance
and Chair of the Authority.
3.

Information and Analysis
Background

3.1 The Authority will normally publish the accounts by 31 July in any financial year.
Due to the potential impact of Covid 19 on available resources within public
sector bodies and external auditors the government issued the Accounts and
Audit (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations which deferred the deadline until
30 November.
3.2 Final accounts audits of this nature are normally completed by the external audit
team being on site for a number of weeks but restrictions have meant this has
not been possible. Instead, the audit has been completed remotely via use of
virtual meetings and communication and the use of the EY portal for evidence
requirements.
3.3 The papers issued to Members include a final draft set of accounts which
includes all amendments as agreed so far with the auditors. The Narrative
Statement reflects the Outturn report that the Authority received in June 2022.
3.4 The auditors have indicated they expect to issue an unqualified opinion on the
Statement of Accounts.
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Reporting Requirements
3.5 The External Auditors (Ernst & Young) are required to report to Members on the
outcome of the audit through their ‘Report to those Charged with Governance’.
This report sets out the areas assessed by the Auditors in forming their opinion
on both the accounts and the arrangements in place to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its Use of Resources. It also highlights any
unadjusted items arising from the audit.
3.6 The Authority also has to sign a Management Representation Letter which the to
demonstrate that appropriate action has been taken in meeting the required
accounting and auditing standards. This builds on the assurances contained
within the accounts and the Annual Governance Statement. Once the accounts
have been approved and the representations agreed, the External Auditors can
issue their audit opinion and certificate for inclusion in the final statement of
accounts.
4.

Legal Considerations

4.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 as amended by the Accounts and
Audit (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 require that the Authority
approves the formal Statement of Accounts prior to publication on 30th
November 2020.
5.

Other Considerations

5.1 None.
This report has been consulted upon and approved by the following officers:
Strategic Leadership Team
Contact Officer: Simon Allsop

Contact No: 01773 305410
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2021-22
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS
FOR THE DERBYSHIRE FIRE &
RESCUE AUTHORITY
AND
THE DFRS & DPFP LLP GROUP

1
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Narrative Report
1.

Introduction

The purpose of the narrative report is to provide a summary of the most significant matters reported in the Financial
Statements. It explains the purpose of the Financial Statements that follow, provides a summary of the Authority’s
financial activities during 2021/22, and its financial position as at 31st March 2022. It also looks to the future and
considers the challenges faced by the Authority.
2.

Background

Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority (DFRA) is responsible for the finances of Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service
(DFRS), with a net budget of £39.5m being approved by Fire Authority Members for 2021/22 (£39.9m for 2020/21).
The Authority is responsible for providing fire and rescue services to a population of more than a million people in
the City of Derby and the County of Derbyshire. In 2021/22 our Joint Control received in the region of 39,000 calls
and the Authority responded to around 6,800 incidents. The Authority manages its affairs to ensure the economic,
efficient and effective use of resources and to safeguard its assets. This remains vital if the Authority is to continue
to deliver a high-quality service to its communities. This responsibility is shared by all Members and Officers of the
Authority under the leadership of the Fire Authority and the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive. The Joint Director
of Finance / Treasurer for Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service and Derbyshire Constabulary plays a pivotal role in
ensuring financial stewardship.
The Authority continues to face significant financial uncertainty, economic challenge, and financial unpredictability
as the devastating economic impact of Covid-19 on public finances continues to play out, alongside the more recent
impact of inflationary and cost pressures. The favourable 2021/22 outturn position reflects the Authority’s
comprehensive and timely approach to securing efficiencies. The Authority has been proactive in its approach to
financial challenges, having secured savings of around £13m over the period 2011/12 to 2021/22. In 2021/22
savings of £1.5m were achieved through the Integrated Risk Management Plan, ‘Our Plan (IRMP)’ 2020-23.
Performance against budget is monitored closely by the Authority and also by the Strategic Leadership Team,
which consists of the Authority’s senior officers.
3.

The Financial Statements

This document contains the Authority's accounts for 2021/22 which have been prepared in accordance with the
Accounts and Audit Regulations (2015) and in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22 (‘the Code’) and the CIPFA Service Reporting Code of Practice 2021/22
(SeRCOP). The accounts present a true and fair view of the financial position and transactions of the Authority.
Appropriate accounting policies have been applied consistently and prudent judgements and estimates have been
made in compliance with the Code. The Authority keeps proper, up-to-date financial records, maintains effective
internal control, risk management systems, and takes all reasonable steps to ensure the prevention and detection
of fraud and other irregularities.
The following sections provide the reader with:
•
•
•

An explanation of the accounting statements which follow;
A review of the Authority’s financial performance in 2021/22; and
The Authority’s financial position as at 31st March 2022.

A glossary of terms is provided on pages 91-94 of these accounts to assist the reader.
4.

The 2021/22 Statements of Accounts

The main statements and their purpose within the accounts are the:
•
•
•

Statement of Responsibilities – this sets out the responsibilities of the Authority and the Director of
Finance/Treasurer for preparing the accounts;
Annual Governance Statement – this sets out the framework within which financial control is managed
and reviewed, and the main components of the system;
Movement in Reserves Statement – this statement shows the movement in the year of the different
reserves held by the Authority, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e., those that can be applied to fund
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’ (i.e. those reserves which are not
backed by true cash and hold accounting adjustments only). The ‘(Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of
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•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Services’ line shows the true cost of providing the Authority’s services, more details of which are shown
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. These are different from the statutory amounts
required to be charged to the General Fund balance for council tax setting. The ‘Net (Increase) / Decrease
before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves’ line shows the statutory General Fund balance before any
discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the Authority;
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this statement shows the accounting cost in the
year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the
amount to be funded from taxation;
Balance Sheet - this summarises the financial position of the Authority as at 31 st March 2022;
Cash Flow Statement - this summarises the total external cash movements during the year for revenue
and capital purposes;
Statement of Accounting Policies – this explains the basis for recognition, measurement and disclosure
of transactions and other events in the accounts;
Notes to the Core Financial Statements - this set of notes covers all the core financial statements and
provides more information on particular items within the core financial statements;
Pension Fund - Derbyshire County Council administers the Local Government Pension Fund. The
Firefighters’ Pension Schemes are administered by West Yorkshire Pension Fund. The Firefighters’
Pension Schemes became funded schemes on 1st April 2006 whereby any surplus or deficit on the fund
is ‘topped up’ by the government;
Auditor’s Report to the Authority – this is the report of the independent Auditor on the Statement of
Accounts.

In December 2014 Members of Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority approved the creation of a Limited Liability
Partnership (LLP) between the Fire and Rescue Service, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for
Derbyshire (OPCC), and Derbyshire Constabulary to oversee the construction and management of the Joint Police
and Fire Headquarters and Joint Training Centre. This enabled the interests of both partners and their Management
Board Members to be protected within a formal partnership agreement with equal voting rights. The Management
Board of DPFP LLP comprises of eight Members in total; four from Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service, one from
Derbyshire Constabulary, and three from the OPCC. The Chair of Derbyshire Fire Authority and the Police and
Crime Commissioner (PCC) (Elected Officials) alternate in sharing the roles of Chair and Vice Chair of the Board.
Group Accounts have been drawn up for DFRS and Derbyshire Police and Fire Partnership Limited Liability
Partnership (DPFP LLP) to reflect the Joint Venture nature of the partnership, since both parties have contractually
agreed to share control, with decisions requiring unanimous consent. Both have rights to the net assets of the
arrangements. The group accounts have been drawn up using the equity method in line with the Code of Practice.
The Group Accounts consist of a Balance Sheet, Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, and a
Movement in Reserves Statement with associated notes. Where statements and notes have not been shown for
the Group it is because they are not materially different to the Single Entity Statement.
5.

Spending and Funding

DFRA is a precepting Authority. This means a substantial part of the funds required to operate are generated from
a direct charge on the council taxpayer, and through non-domestic rates (NDR, business rates), the remainder
coming from government grants and income generated by the Authority.
The Settlement Funding Assessment (provided by the government) for 2021/22 was £13.2m, the same level as the
2020/21 allocation. The Fire Authority approved a net budget of £39.5m for 2021/22 (£39.9m in 2020/21). This was
subsequently set at £38.8m under the Delegated Powers of the Sct 151 Officer, upon receipt of outstanding
information specific to NDR and Section 31 funding.
The Authority issued a precept on the City, District and Borough Councils amounting to £25.5m and recovered nondomestic rates (NDR) income of £9.6m, which includes Section 31 Government Grant. All amounts received are
disclosed in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The Authority were part of the Derbyshire
Business Rates Pool in 2021/22. The Authority also received pension grant funding of £2.0m in year.
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Revenue Expenditure 2021/22
Revenue expenditure consists of the day-to-day running costs of the Authority, such as employee costs, premises
and transport related costs, as well as any income generated. The 2021/22 outturn position is summarised below,
being revenue expenditure of £43.4m against a budget of £42.9m, and income of £43.9m against a budget of
£42.9m. Actual income and expenditure for the 2021/22 financial year is shown against the Authority’s Approved
Budget below. The underspend against the budget is £0.5m. The planned underspend reflects the Authority’s longterm approach to challenging our efficiency, to enable us to plan effectively to protect staff and services. This is in
accordance with the Authority’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. A favourable level of closing reserves remains
essential in supporting the Authority’s commitment to longer term planning, future development of the Service, and
the continued protection of our communities.
Budget Management Statement
Actual
2020/21*
£'000
31,107

Direct Employee Expenses (Note 1)

Approved
Updated
Budget
2021/22

Actual
April 2021
- March
2022

Variance
against
Approved
Budget

£’000

£'000

£'000

31,034

32,114

1,080

1,310

Indirect Employee Expenses (Note 2)

1,331

1,535

204

3,672

Premises Related (Note 3)

3,721

3,265

(456)

1,460

Transport Related (Note 4)

1,454

1,507

53

4,092

Supplies & Services (Note 5)

4,882

4,191

(691)

370

Capital Financing Costs (Note 6)

413

340

(73)

403

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)(also Note 6)

512

403

(109)

779

Revenue Contributions to Capital (Note 7)

0

106

106

(378)

(395)

(17)

(92)

323

415

42,877

43,389

512

(25,480)

(25,480)

0

Revenue Support Grant

(4,263)

(4,263)

0

Non-Domestic Rates (Note 9)

(9,014)

(9,572)

(558)

Other Income (Note 10)

(4,120)

(4,591)

(471)

(42,877)

(43,906)

(1,029)

0

(517)

(517)

(390)

Trading Company Dividend

1,828

Contribution to/from Earmarked Reserve (Note 8)

44,631
(25,100)
(4,239)
(11,183)
(5,314)
(45,836)
(1,205)

Subtotal Expenditure
Precept

Total Financing
Overall Total

*Restated for final offsetting NDR and Precept adjustments

The main variations are considered below:
Note 1 - Direct Employee Expenses – an overspend of £1,080,647 represents 3.48% of the overall staffing
budget. The position comprises of Admin, Professional, Technical and Clerical pay £166,884 (underspend),
Operational Employees £931,378 (overspend), Control Staff pay £108,709 and On Call £207,444 (overspends). A
net overspend of £205,414 arises after the application of grant and reserve funding. Covid-19 Grant funding of
£123,337, Protection Grant funding of £183,771, Secondment Income of £219,105, and Operational Pay Award
reserve funding of £349,020 have been applied at outturn.
Provision for the Firefighter, Control, and On Call staff pay award was made within the 2021/22 original budget but
was held in a separate provision until the award was confirmed. The provision of £349,020 has been transferred
to cover the cost.
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The budget is constructed to include a vacancy factor for anticipated turnover. The outturn position reported is after
allowing for this.
Note 2 - Indirect Employee Expenses – Operational Training budget overspends of £140,469 reflect our ongoing
investment in the safety of our crews, with enhanced activity being concentrated in the areas of Protection and
Water Rescue in particular, during 2021/22. Training has been funded from the Protection Grant Reserve
(£40,650) and from the Water Rescue Training Reserve (£40,000). Pensions – the net effect of DFRS Ill Health
and Injury Allowance pension costs, which are not funded through Home Office grant, results in an adverse budget
variance of £71,018 at outturn.
Note 3 – Premises Related - Rates – significant underspends of £418,018 reflect that, working with the Joint
Property Team, during 2021/22 FHP Property Consultants submitted appeals for all DFRS sites which fall below a
1500m2 floor area threshold. This has resulted in refunds of circa £373,800 for years 2017 to 2022, with further
reductions of £104,500 being due in year 2022/23. FHP have acted for DFRS for a number of years undertaking
rates challenges on our behalf, with the fee being based on 15% of any savings made. As such their fees for
undertaking the appeals work in 2021/22 is £56,074.
Further underspends of circa £36,300 are related to the sale of DFRS properties, of which £31,300 is due to the
sale of the Old Hall, Littleover in September 2021.
An Electricity Budget underspend of £37,463 reflects a significant reimbursement to Staveley Fire Station (circa
£117,000) during 2021/22. This was due to an amended bill being issued by British Gas when charging errors were
identified by the Property Team. This is a one-off and the Service is aware of the considerable pressures on future
energy budgets.
Note 4 - Direct Transport Costs – overspends of £105,121 include Fleet Maintenance £77,099, arising through
gearbox, engine and turret defects which have required that fire appliances, ALPs and a Unimog be repaired by
third party specialists.
Public Transport and Car Allowances – underspends of £32,271 arise predominantly from reduced travel in the
earlier part of the financial year, prior to lockdown restrictions being lifted.
Note 5 - Supplies and Services – Equipment, Furniture and Materials - Smoke Alarms - recent activity in this
area is close to reaching pre pandemic levels and remains a priority for the Service. However, due to reduced
activity in the early months of the financial year, arising through government restrictions, this area has underspent
by £137,828. A carry forward request for £50,000 has been accounted for in the outturn position reported to
Members for approval.
Hydrant Maintenance – an underspend of £36,646 is due to delays around the inspection and sign off on works
completed on the part of Severn Trent. As a result, this backlog related pressure will fall in the 2022/23 financial
year. It is anticipated that these additional costs can be met from existing budget levels, and no further carry forward
is requested.
Other budget underspends include Operational Equipment Purchase £36,617, with the purchase of Drager Parat
smoke hoods for £19,000 being funded through Grenfell Infrastructure Grant, Maintenance and Servicing of
Portable Misting Systems £16,843, Fire Hose and Couplings £13,881, Community Safety Youth Programme
Costs £13,797 (for which there are offsetting overspends on Community Safety Delivery Consumables, for an
increase in Prevention related activity comprising of signage, livery, Firestoppers, and other work with partners),
and General Equipment £14,224.
Clothing, Uniforms and Laundry – an overspend of £76,575 is associated primarily with the kitting out of new
recruits in year and unbudgeted spend for undress uniform. This is partially offset by an underspend of £34,780
on Uniform and Protective Clothing Repairs, which directly correlates with our recent investment in replacement
structural Personal Protective Equipment.
The Clothing, Uniforms and Laundry outturn position reflects that the purchase of flash hoods, grip gloves, fire
gloves and moorland day boots will fall in the 2022/23 financial year. Changes to working rig, and the timing of this
project, could mean that funding may need to be accelerated or additional funds may need to be identified. For this
reason, no funding from the Joint PPE Reserve has been applied in 2021/22, with the reserve remaining in place
to bridge future costs.
Printing, Stationery and General Office Expenses – includes Printing, Copy Charges and Stationery Budget,
underspends of £52,469 arise at outturn. Budget underspends of circa £60,000 at outturn 2020/21 reflected the
necessity of home working arrangements over a prolonged period.
Services – an underspend of £67,001 overall includes a Professional Fees budget underspend of £39,277, arising
primarily through savings made on Fire Pension Scheme charges and administration costs payable to West
Yorkshire Pension Fund (previously administered by Leicestershire County Council).

6

Communications, Computing and Licensing – the Computer Software Maintenance Contracts budget has
underspent by £294,628. This has been achieved by reviewing the systems and solutions used and by working
closely with our suppliers. In addition, due to resourcing and supplier issues, projects to implement the replacement
Occupational Health System, Fire Hydrant Management System (3TC) solutions and Body Worn Video Cameras
have been delayed. Two key roles within the Systems and Information Team have unexpectedly changed which
has impacted the planning of certain ICT infrastructure/system projects (such as PC refresh, Virtual Desktop
Infrastructure, Cloud solutions, Back-up and Wide Area Network).
Miscellaneous Expenses – an underspend of £58,625 includes Police / Fire Joint Activities £49,425 which is
due to staffing vacancies, and Members Expenses £20,107.
Note 6 - Interest Payments and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) – underspends of £182,457 are directly as
a result of capital financing changes. Slippage of the capital programme results in expected borrowing and interest
costs not being incurred.
Note 7 - Revenue Contributions to Capital – an offsetting variance of £105,617 also reflects the financing of the
capital programme.
Note 8 - Contribution to / from Earmarked Reserve – a variance of £414,579 comprises primarily of the following:
• Transfer from Reserves – a variance of £349,020 provides for the cost of the 2021/22 operational staff pay
award over and above budgeted levels, with an earmarked reserve having been established as part of the
budget setting process.
• Transfer from Reserves – a variance of £246,820 provides that the (balance of) the Grenfell Infrastructure
Grant £77,910, the (balance of) the Building Risk Grant £56,010, and Protection Uplift Grant of £112,901
have been transferred to meet revenue expenditure. The balance remaining at year end is £83,891.
• Transfer from Reserves – income of £133,645 provides for the use of Covid-19 Emergency Grant. The
balance remaining at year end is £0.2m.
• Transfer to Reserves – additional Section 31 Grant funding of £557,815 will be used to bridge estimated
business rates income shortfalls in 2022/23.
• Transfer to Reserves – a transfer of £349,000 to the Strategic Risk Reserve provides for carry forward
requests following Member approval.
• Transfer to Reserves – a transfer of £71,608 reflects further NHS Covid-19 Grant, for the purpose of
funding outstanding covid related costs incurred, with Ministerial agreement that any balance be put
towards improving efficiency or productivity.
• Transfer to Reserves – Pensions Admin Grant (government funding) in the amounts of £54,929 and
£54,306 have been transferred to the Pension Risk Reserve to meet future pension admin cost
commitments, specific to the McCloud / Sargeant Pension Remedy.
Note 9 – Non-Domestic Rates – a variance of £557,815 represents Section 31 Grant funding due to the Service
in 2021/22, which will be applied in 2022/23 and has been taken to reserves accordingly.
Note 10 - Other Government Grants and Other Income – a variance of £71,608 reflects unbudgeted government
grant income in relation to the NHS Covid Grant, and a further £109,235 Pension Admin Grant funding.
Secondment Income – a favourable variance of £175,605 reflects income over and above budgeted levels, which
are due to contract extensions for Control and support staff.
Other smaller income budget variances include Insurance Income £37,454 and Recovered Costs £22,076.
Variances Year on Year
Direct Employee Expenses – increased year on year costs primarily reflect increased staffing numbers, which are
due to our investment in Protection activities, and continued activity due to the Covid-19 pandemic. This includes
the stoic efforts of DFRS staff in supporting our local communities, which includes volunteering to assist at vaccine
centres across Derbyshire. A 2% pay award also applies.
Indirect Employee Expenses – Operational Training budget overspends in 2021/22 reflect our investment in the
safety of DFRS crews, the cost of which has been met by reserve funding in part.
Premises Related – reduced expenditure in 2021/22 is primarily in the budget area of Rates, which is largely due
to our success upon appeal, and the sale of the Old Hall, Littleover.
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Transport Related – significant Fuel budget underspends of circa £113,000 were experienced in 2020/21 due to
the escalation of the pandemic and associated restrictions. In addition, the 2021/22 capital programme provided
for the replacement of two red fleet vehicles, three appliances, and seven existing appliances on the expiry of their
lease agreements. This generated revenue budget savings in year. Year on year inflationary increases apply.
Supplies & Services – increased year on year ICT Budget underspends, of £298,706 in 2021/22 and £128,651
in 2020/21, serve to mask escalated spend in this area, against an increased budget level. ICT expenditure
amounted to £1.984m in 2021/22 and £1.899m in 2020/21. Other variances include Smoke Alarm budget
underspends of £137,828 (£56,046 2020/21), increased Breathing Apparatus expenditure (2021/22 £110,329,
2020/21 £54,292), and a Clothing and Uniforms budget overspend. Year on year expenditure levels otherwise
broadly reflect inflationary increases and are in accordance with Service priorities.
Revenue Contribution to Capital - variations reflect a greater use of capital receipts to finance the programme.
Contributions to / from Earmarked Reserves – transfers to reserves in 2021/22 include funding received in
respect of Section 31 Grant £557,815, Pension Admin Grant £109,235, and NHS Covid-19 Grant £71,608.
Offsetting entries include the application of grant funding to match related expenditure, being Protection Grant
funding in the main.
Significant contributions to reserves in 2020/21 included the transfer of Section 31 Grant £1.2m, Covid-19
Emergency Funding of £789,155 and £123,456, and Protection Grant funding of £214,734. In addition, two new
earmarked reserves were established, being the Water Rescue Equipment Reserve for £350,000 and the Water
Rescue Operational Training Reserve for £40,000. A transfer of £500,000 was made to the Capital
Development Reserve.
Reserve funding of the capital programme amounted to £105,617 in 2021/22, a significant reduction from £719,415
in 2020/21, reflecting enhanced use of capital receipts to fund the 2021/22 capital programme.
Precept – reflects a 1.98% increase approved by Members in February 2021, alongside a larger estimated
Collection Fund deficit in 2021/22 as compared to the 2020/21 estimate.
Non-Domestic Rates – changes relate to a 2021/22 NDR Collection Fund estimated deficit of £1.2m, alongside a
reduced level of Section 31 Grant due to the Service, which is awarded to bridge income shortfalls associated with
the expansion of rate reliefs (£0.6m 2021/22, £1.2m 2020/21).
Other Income – the Service received significant income in 2020/21, which included Police contributions of
£722,600 towards capital works undertaken at a number of fire stations for co-location purposes.
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Capital Expenditure 2021/22
Capital expenditure in the year amounted to £2.3m. This is a variance of £0.8m against the revised budget of £3.1m,
comprising of building programme slippage of £0.3m, and technology projects slippage of £0.5m. The capital
programme was funded as follows: £0.1m from revenue and reserves, £2.2m from capital receipts and £0.04m
from capital grants.
Capital expenditure and financing is summarised in the table below:
2020/21

Capital Expenditure

£'000

£'000

527

Building Projects

317

Technology Projects

597

Equipment

1,733

Total

2,317

1,441

2020/21

Financing of Capital Expenditure

£'000
(719)
0
(663)
(59)

525
59

2021/22
£'000

Revenue and Reserves
Capital Grant
Capital Receipts

(106)
(38)
(2,173)

Capital Contributions

0

0

Borrowing

0

0

Finance Leases

0

(1,441)

6.

2021/22

Total Financing

(2,317)

Borrowing

Total debt outstanding at 31st March 2022 was £7.3m, relating to borrowing that is owed to the Public Works Loan
Board (PWLB) at fixed rates of interest. No new PWLB borrowing has been undertaken in the last nine years, and
the Authority did not enter into any new finance leases in 2021/22.
7.

Short Term Investments and Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Fire Authority holds £6.0m short term investments which represent short fixed-term deposits held with other
local authorities as covered by the Treasury Management Strategy. Total interest for the year on investments was
£0.009m. The average rate of interest for investments held during 2021/22 was 0.07% which is a decrease from
0.21% for 2020/21, however the risk rating is in the lowest rated category. The comparatively lower return reflects
the policy of keeping investments short term to allow the Authority to fund capital schemes without the need to
increase borrowing.
8.

Reserves and Balances

At 31st March 2022 the Authority had uncommitted General Reserves of £1.9m (£1.9m as at 31st March 2021), a
Capital Development Reserve of £2.9m (£1.7m as at 31st March 2021), Revenue Earmarked Reserves of £3.4m
(£4.1m as at 31st March 2021), a Tri Control and Emergency Services Network Reserve of £1.3m (£1.3m as at
31st March 2021), a Strategic Risk Reserve of £2.5m (£2.1m as at 31st March 2021), and an Invest to Save
Reserve of £0.4m (£0.4m as at 31st March 2021). The Authority also had Capital Grants Unapplied of £1.2m and
a Capital Receipts Reserve of £2.1m. The total reserves balance at the end of the year stands at £15.7m of which
£13.8m is committed. The reserves position is subject to regular comprehensive review. A full review of reserves
was undertaken as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 to 2025/26 which was approved by the
Fire Authority in September 2021, the Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/23 to 2025/26, and the budget setting
process.
The Capital Development Reserve supports our capital programme, the closing balance is £2.9m. Future capital
grant awards and transformation funding opportunities remain uncertain. The reserve remains essential in
supporting the Authority’s commitment to longer term planning, and the future development of the Service. The
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closing position takes account of the transfer of revenue budget underspends of £0.5m to the Capital Development
Reserve to support the accelerated cost of capital expenditure associated with supplier issues and rising inflation,
and a transfer of £0.1m from the reserve to support the 2021/22 capital programme. The reserve also benefits
from a transfer of £492,233 from the Covid-19 Emergency Funding Reserve, as the main threat of the pandemic
eases and the Service no longer needs to maintain such a high balance.
The Tri Control and Emergency Services Network (ESN) Reserve provides for uncertainty around the Tri Control
and Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme (ESMCP), and emerging requirements. It builds
capacity to support alternative mobilising systems if required, the replacement for Airwave (being ESN), and to
meet other national resilience proposals.
Capital Grants Unapplied provide for the balance of the Resilience and Efficiency Grant, towards the Tri Control
Project costs, and (the balance of) Home Office funding for the ESN project.
The Strategic Risk Reserve is set aside to support unplanned expenditure arising from a wide range of corporate
risk and business continuity matters, encompassing items such as staffing (including resilience cover), major
incidents (including environmental and large-scale mobilisation), legal challenge, technology, security and asset
management. The Strategic Risk Reserve will be used to bridge any future funding shortfall, subject to the
realisation of our latest IRMP ‘Our Plan (IRMP)’ 2020 - 2023 targeted savings.
The Invest to Save Reserve provides funding to deliver structural change and pump prime projects which require
investment to deliver savings, and service delivery improvements, in the longer term.
The following are included within Revenue Earmarked Reserves:
Covid-19 Emergency Funding Reserve – the Service has maintained the Covid 19 reserve to hold government
funding until realised. Over the period of the pandemic the grant was used to fund ICT equipment, maintain
operational readiness, and to support community activities undertaken by DFRS such as pharmaceutical deliveries,
ambulance driving and vaccination support. A contingency balance of £0.2m will be held for unforeseen costs with
the remaining balance transferred to the Capital Development Reserve at outturn.
Section 31 Grant Reserve – government grant funding of £1.2m was taken to reserves to bridge the effect of the
substantial reduction in business rates income due to the Service, arising directly from business rate concessions
awarded during the pandemic. Reserve funding of £0.9m has been applied in 2021/22 to this end, alongside Tax
Income Guarantee funding of £0.1m. Further grant funding of £0.6m has been awarded in year. The balance of
Section 31 grant, being £0.9m, remains in place to bridge estimated 2022/23 business rates income shortfalls. The
use of these grants is matched to the statutory period in which the deficits must be recognised.
Funding of £0.2m from the Council Tax Support Grant Reserve was used to bridge the updated 2021/22 budget
deficit. The remaining balance has been transferred to the Local Funding Risk Reserve, with the closing balance
of this reserve being £0.5m
Pension Admin Grant of £0.1m awarded by the government during 2021/22, will be used to fund future
commitments specific to the McCloud/ Sergeant Pension Remedy. The Workforce Planning – Upskilling Reserve
of £0.35m will protect the Service from retirements and the associated skill loss arising as a result of the Remedy.
The Pension Risk Reserve of £0.4m also remains in place to provide the Service with additional resilience.
As part of the closedown process 2020/21 a new reserve for £0.35m, the Water Rescue Equipment Reserve was
established. This significant investment in water rescue PPE, boats and associated equipment over a number of
years will ensure that firefighters have the appropriate equipment to undertake this specialist role in a safe and
controlled manner. The reserve remains in place to fund future commitments.
The Joint PPE Reserve of £0.2m was carried to 2021/22. Despite Clothing, Uniforms and PPE budget
overspends, no reserve funding has been applied in year. This is to enhance future budgetary resilience in light of
significant upcoming pressures.
A balance of £0.1m on the Protecting the Most Vulnerable Reserve remains in place to enable our continuing
support to the most vulnerable members of our community.
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An appropriate level of reserves remains essential in meeting the Authority’s future financial challenges and will
support the Authority’s plans to deliver its services more efficiently to reflect the changing needs and demography
of our community. This reflects the Authority’s commitment to longer-term planning and is consistent with the current
review of the Authority’s capital programme. The pandemic continues to affect the level of financial uncertainty for
the Service, particularly as the resultant economic shock and its impact on public finances plays out. The Service
has experienced significant collection fund deficits at year end and will work to closely monitor the future impact
and, in particular, any adverse effect on the level of reserves held. This is considered alongside the rising cost of
inflation.
9. Pension Fund (IAS 19)
An independent actuary has assessed the liabilities for pension schemes in which the Authority participates, namely
the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes and the Local Government Pension Scheme. The Balance Sheet includes a
pension liability of £554.9m (£559.6m in 2020/21), of which £536.5m (£536.1m in 2020/21) relates to the unfunded
Firefighters’ Pension Scheme. The inclusion of this amount is an indication that the Authority has not paid into a
fund, nor set aside amounts to fully discharge expected future pension costs at current valuations. The accounts
include the full pension liability, which is actually incurred over many years. It does not affect the Authority’s ability
to continue as a going concern as it refers to future liabilities which will be met by future contributions. A more
detailed analysis of the Authority’s pension liability can be found in Note 35.
10. Our Service Achievements

Service Key Achievements during 2021/22
During 2021/22, the Service is proud to say it delivered numerous key projects. They have been achieved through
the dedication and hard work of personnel within the Service.
Below are just a few of our successes:
•
•

•

supporting the wellbeing of our personnel and our communities throughout all stages of the Covid-19
pandemic (as endorsed by HMICFRS);
continuing to provide enhanced support to our communities & our partners through additional activities
during the pandemic, to include driving ambulances, providing DFRS personnel to drive patient transport
vehicles to convey patients to and from hospitals, delivering pharmaceuticals and critical supplies to
hospitals, GPs and vulnerable members of the community who were shielding, and more recently, our
ongoing support with the vaccine roll out across Derbyshire;
continuing to bolster our protection resource, aligned with the Grenfell Report and HMICFRS findings;
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•
•
•
•

the Service carried out a Cultural Survey of our employees (undertaken by an external organisation),
which received an outstanding 87% engagement score across the organisation, with improvements
being seen in a number of key areas;
significant investment in our ICT systems infrastructure, to include tender specification for the HR
System replacement, which has been successfully procured and is in the implementation phase;
also completed, the move to a new Fleet Management System procured and operated in collaboration
with Derbyshire Police;
continuation of other joint working specific to property, fleet, and prevention and inclusion activities;

Our Performance
The Service monitors performance against its Key Performance Measures (KPM). These are reported to
Members quarterly and align with our Integrated Risk Management Plan. Performance monitoring is captured
through the service performance dashboards which provide ‘live’ data where possible, allowing Principal Officers,
Strategic Leadership Team, Authority Members and Service Managers to make truly informed decisions.
Examples are shown below.
Non-Domestic Property Fires
A good news story here with the year end figure being below the KPM. Derbyshire recorded the fewest nondomestic fires per 1,000 properties in 2021/22 when comparing against the rest of the family group (which is
where we benchmark our performance against other Fire and Rescue Services of a similar size, risk,
demographic and population).

Emergency Calls
The time it takes for us to handle our calls and our response times can both make a significant difference to the
outcome of an emergency incident. In quarter 4, our average call handling time was 6 seconds quicker than the
89 second performance measure, and for the year it was the best annual call handling average recorded by Joint
Control, who welcomed 6 new starters to the team during the year.
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11. Future Outlook

The Authority has set a balanced budget for 2022/23 and our Integrated Risk Management Plan ‘Our Plan (IRMP)’
2020 - 2023 sets out the Service’s priorities for the coming years. In updating its Medium-Term Financial Strategy,
the Authority continues to monitor and assess the sensitivities and impact of proposed changes in funding
mechanisms, national and regional projects, and opportunities for partnership working. The Authority continues to
plan for challenges presented through the substantial economic impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, inflationary and
cost increase implications, local government reform, other local and national initiatives, business rates reform, the
localisation of council tax, the implications of the Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme,
changes in pension related legislation, leaving the European Union (EU), uncertainty over future capital funding,
sources of funding, and funding formulas for the Fire and Rescue Service.
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS)
In June 2019 DFRS welcomed its first inspection conducted by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate. The focus was on the
service provided to the public and the way in which our resources are used according to risk. There are three ‘pillars’
to the inspection – namely ‘effectiveness, efficiency and people’. The inspection considered the manner and means
by which the Service delivers its activities across a range of activities targeting prevention, protection, and its
response to fire and other emergencies. It also assessed how well the people who work for the Service are
supported and trained.

Fire Authority Members gave approval for the Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive to develop an Action Plan to
ensure the continuing progress of the Service toward the next HMICFRS inspection and noted the positive
findings following the HMICFRS inspection of the Service in summer 2019.
In August 2020, HMICFRS were commissioned by the Home Secretary to inspect how DFRS were responding to
the Covid-19 pandemic. The report positively outlined additional support given to the community of Derbyshire
during the first phase of the pandemic. This support included driving ambulances and delivering food. Firefighters
also helped deliver pharmaceuticals to hospitals, GP surgeries and people who were shielding. The report
observed that resources were well managed, with the Service’s financial position being largely unaffected,
communications with staff throughout were comprehensive, including on issues relating to staff wellbeing, and
that the Service is continuing to use our on-call workforce more effectively to provide community-focused activity,
such as support to the ambulance service.
DFRS will now determine how it will adopt, for the longer term, the new and innovative ways of working
introduced during the pandemic, to secure lasting improvements.
The Service has recently undergone a further inspection and are awaiting the final HMICFRS report, which will be
a public facing document, in December 2022.
Collaboration
The Policing and Crime Act 2017 places a duty to collaborate on the Police, Fire and Ambulance Services.
Collaboration should improve public safety, efficiency and effectiveness, providing better outcomes for
communities.
We work in collaboration with a range of partners, most notably Derbyshire Constabulary with whom we now
share a modern headquarters building and a state-of-the-art joint training centre. We also of share operational
buildings across Derbyshire, all of which are managed by a Joint Head of Strategic Assets and Property Team.
We also share a Joint Director of Finance / Treasurer and the joint work of the Police and Fire Prevention Team
further enhances our ability to improve community safety.
DFRA, in conjunction with Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority, approved the provision of a Joint Control
function in December 2018, under Section 16 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act. As a result of this decision,
NFRS control staff were TUPE’d over to DFRS during 2019/20, prior to restructure. This collaborative project has
secured annual savings, with circa £0.8m being recovered from NFRS towards the cost of the Joint Control function
in 2021/22.
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The Authority remains committed to support joint and collaborative workings with colleagues across the region and
has played a prominent part in the Tri Service Control Programme, as well as other regional initiatives to include
cross-border workings and the dog unit.
We are committed to further explore collaboration and partnership opportunities throughout the life of ‘Our Plan
(IRMP)’ 2020-2023 and beyond.
Covid-19
The Service was awarded government grant funding of £1.07m in total, years 2019/20 through 2021/22,
alongside an NHS Covid-19 Grant of £71,608 which was received in 2021/22. The funding has been managed
through a discreet Earmarked Reserve throughout. The Service applied funding of £0.45m towards costs incurred
years 2020/21 through 2021/22. The amount of £133,645 was applied in the 2021/22 financial year. The balance
on the Covid-19 Emergency Funding Reserve, after taking account of a £0.5m transfer to the Capital
Development Reserve, is £0.2m which is being maintained to safeguard the Service against future costs arising.
In Summary
The Authority anticipates a budget shortfall of around £2.2m over the period 2022/23 through to 2025/26, as set
out in more detail in our Medium Term Financial Plan and in an update to Members at the 30 June 2022 Fire
Authority meeting. This is kept under continual review. Significant savings successfully delivered so far demonstrate
the Service’s determined efforts to address the challenge of greater uncertainty and, more recently, the heightened
financial risk associated with inflationary and cost increases, alongside continuing financial restraint and reform. A
summary of savings achieved to date and the savings target is shown in the following graph.

*Updated position to Fire Authority 30 June 2022
The economic recovery from the Covid-19 outbreak will likely be a drawn out affair, the effect of which will in all
probability scar the UK economy for years to come.
In parallel, the economic position continues to be extremely volatile and uncertain due to the continuing war in
Ukraine and the impact this has on worldwide supplies. Increased inflationary pressures on pay awards, utility
costs, fuel costs, and interest rates have a potential annual impact of approximately £1m for DFRS, resulting in a
potential deficit of £1m in the 2022/23 financial year. This increased pressure widens the forecast budget gap to
£2.2m by 2025/26. To address this shortfall the Service will continue to review the capital programme and its
revenue implications and identify areas for savings through the Productivity and Efficiency Group, with a focus on
fleet, equipment and maintenance, vacancies, ways of working and productivity, apprenticeships and training, the
use of our estate, and our use of technology.
The Authority will continue to assess and monitor the impact of this, and other financial challenges, and take
necessary steps to continue to protect the communities of Derbyshire and its most highly vulnerable residents.
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Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service continues to be diligent in its alignment of operational delivery, strategic
financial planning, and financial governance in order to best serve the needs of our changing communities.

Signed:
Simon Allsop
Director of Finance/Treasurer to Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority
Date 29 July 2022
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Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts
The Authority's Responsibilities
The Authority is required to:
•

make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers
has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.

The Authority has determined that the Director of Finance/Treasurer is the officer that:
•

manages its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguards its assets;

•

approves the Statement of Accounts.

The Director of Finance/Treasurer's Responsibilities
The Director of Finance/Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority's Statement of Accounts in
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting
in the United Kingdom. The Statement is required to present fairly, the financial position of the Authority at the
accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31st March 2022.
In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Director of Finance/Treasurer has:
•
•
•

selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;
made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and
complied with the Code of Practice.

The Director of Finance/Treasurer has also:
•
•

kept proper accounting records which are up-to-date; and
taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial position of Derbyshire Fire and
Rescue Authority at 31st March 2022 and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31st March 2022.

Signed:
Simon Allsop
Director of Finance/Treasurer to Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority
Date: 29 July 2022
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DERBYSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2021-2022
Scope of Responsibility
Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority (the Authority) is responsible for ensuring
that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards,
and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used
economically, efficiently, and effectively. The Authority also has a duty under the
Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a
combination of economy, efficiency, and effectiveness.
In discharging this overall responsibility, the Authority is responsible for putting in
place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs facilitating the
effective exercise of its functions, and which includes arrangements for the
management of risk.
The Authority has approved and adopted an updated Code of Corporate
Governance, which is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE
Framework.
“Delivering Good Governance in Local Government.”
(A copy of the code, setting out the core and supporting principles, what the
Authority commits itself to do and how it will do this can be found on our website
at: https://www.derbys-fire.gov.uk/about-us/governance
This statement explains how the Authority has complied with the code and also
meets the requirements of regulation 6(2) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations
2015 in relation to the publication of a statement on internal control.
The Purpose of the Governance Framework
The Governance Framework primarily includes systems and processes and
culture and values by which the Authority directs and controls its activities and
engages with the community. It enables the Authority to monitor the achievement
of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led to
the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services.
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure
to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal
control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the
risks to the achievement of the Authority’s policies, aims and objectives, to
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they
be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively, and economically.
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The Governance Framework has been in place at the Authority for the year ended
31 March 2022 and up to the date of approval of the 2021/22 Statement of
Accounts.
The Governance Framework
The key elements of the Authority’s Governance Framework include:
a)

The Members’ Handbook includes key documents such as the Standing Orders,
Scheme of Delegation, Code of Corporate Governance, and the Members’ Code
of Conduct which form part of the Authority’s Constitution sets out the Authority’s
powers, services, and the procedures to be followed to ensure decisions made
by the Authority are transparent and properly accounted for.

b)

The Authority operates a Working Group structure as per the diagram below,
aligned to strategic objectives, with agreed Terms of Reference (ToR):

c)

The Governance and Performance Working Group (GPWG), as well as the
Authority itself, received regular reports on the Service’s performance
arrangements. Annual Performance and engaging easy to read Quarterly
Performance Reports are published on our website and shared through social
media channels.

d)

An approved Corporate Risk Register is reviewed at GPWG, which monitors risk
and makes recommendations to the Authority when necessary.

e)

An approved ‘Local Code of Corporate Governance’ in accordance with the
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework for Corporate Governance.
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f)

The designation of the Chief Fire Officer as Chief Executive responsible to the
Authority for all Fire and Rescue matters.

g)

The designation of the Deputy Chief Fire Officer (DCFO) responsible on behalf
of the Chief Fire Officer/Chief Executive for ensuring that Health and Safety is
adopted within the strategic management and decision making processes of the
Service.

h)

The designation of the Solicitor and Monitoring Officer with the requirement to
report to the full Authority if it is considered that any proposal, decision, or
omission would give rise to unlawfulness or maladministration.

i)

The designation of the Joint Director of Finance and Business Services
responsible for ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making.
The joint role and financial management arrangements align with requirements
set out in CIPFAs Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local
Government including the provision of an effective internal audit service and
system on internal control.

j)

The designation of the Director of Corporate Services responsible for ensuring
future resilience of decision making, assurance and day to day running of the
Service in the event of a major incident.

k)

A clear management structure within the Service. The Strategic Leadership
Team (SLT) is responsible for determining policy, monitoring performance, and
developing service plans in line with the Authority’s overall strategic objectives
and is assisted in this process by the Service Management Team (SMT).

l)

Financial Planning process which includes the Medium-Term Financial Strategy
and Plan.
Compliance with data transparency requirements, including
publication of all key documents, meeting agendas and minutes, the Pay Policy
Statement, and a publication scheme on the internet.

m)

In accordance with the Service Planning Cycle, ‘Our Plan’ (also known as
Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) and formally Integrated Risk
Management Plan (IRMP)) for 2020/23 is a three-year plan linked to financial
planning.

n)

Our Plan 2020/23 takes account of the requirements of the 2018 Fire and Rescue
National Framework for England, providing an assessment of the risks facing our
communities and personnel, and the measures taken to mitigate those risks. ‘ Our
Plan’ describes our aims, priorities, equality objectives and values, setting out our
ambitions and how we will deliver them in the medium term. The current plan
covering 2020-2023 can be found on our website at: https://www.derbysfire.gov.uk/about-us/corporate-plans

o)

The Annual Action Plan details the work to be carried out to deliver the strategy
set out in ‘Our Plan’. The current plan covering 2022/23 was approved this year
and can be found on our website at: https://www.derbys-fire.gov.uk/aboutus/corporate-plans
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p)

Staff are informed of the Whistleblowing Policy which is available on the internal
intranet and also published on the external website together with well-publicised
arrangements for dealing with complaints. There were no whistleblowing
complaints received in this reporting period, but the Service recorded four public
complaints from members of the public for this reporting period. The majority of
complaints resulted in corrective action and information sharing between
departments for service improvement.

q)

A Joint Police and Collaboration Board is a primary forum for consideration of
collaboration opportunities and any strategic issues in relation to the Derbyshire
Emergency Services Collaboration (DESC) between the Police and Crime
Commissioner for Derbyshire, the Chief Constable and the Derbyshire Fire and
Rescue Authority.

r)

Staff at all levels within the Service have been actively engaged and consulted
with during 2021/22 in the form of WebEx sessions with the DCFO and DoCS, a
Virtual Engagement Forum with CFO and SLT. SLT Station and Department
meetings have taken place both virtually and in person according to government
guidelines relating to COVID-19. The outcomes have been considered and areas
included in portfolio action plans to ensure areas raised by staff are included in
the future development of the Service.

s)

Member Development Days during 2021/22 included updates and plans on the
following topics:
•
•
•
•
•

Finance / Budget Update
Assets Strategy Update
Workforce Plan
CRMP and Year 3 Action Plan
Prevention & Protection

t)

As part of the workforce planning, investment has been made in the training and
development of our senior leaders. Chief Fire Officer Tomlinson has completed
the National Leadership Centre Programme which brings together a selection of
the UK’s most senior leaders from across the spectrum of the public services for
a 12 month development programme. The Deputy Chief Fire Officer Robert
Taylor, Solicitor and Monitoring Officer, Louise Taylor and Area Manager, Clive
Stanbrook all completed their Executive Leadership Programme.

u)

Through a Member ‘Buddy’ system each Authority Member and the Police and
Crime Commissioner (PCC) is partnered with a member of the Strategic
Leadership Team (SLT) for knowledge sharing and informal discussion on the
work of the Service.

v)

The DCFO chairs the Health and Safety Committee and ensures the Service has
robust internal controls, including appropriate targets to measure its performance
and systems for review and learning, which in turn sets a positive safety culture.

w)

An approved Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators.

x)

An approved Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority Performance and Risk
Framework supported by the Performance and Risk Framework Policy.
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y)

A Protective Marking Scheme (based upon the Her Majesty’s Government
Security Policy Framework 2018).

z)

Awards received by DFRS and Employees:
•
•
•
•
•

Top 50 Inclusive Employers Index
People Insights Outstanding Workplace Award 2021
Gold Standard enei TIDEmark
Reaccredited as a Disability Confident Leader
Beacon of Hope award

aa) A joint Property department for Derbyshire Police (DP) is in place. A restructure
has taken place, delayed due to the impact of the Covid pandemic. The industry
is suffering from a lack of intakes and engineers are very difficult to recruit. As a
fallback Consultant Engineers are being utilised until full capacity can resume.
bb) In line with legislative requirements, the Service published its Gender Pay Gap
Report by 31 March 2022. It has also published against the Public Sector
Equality Duty (PSED).
cc)

A comprehensive suite of strategies and policies are in place and are regularly
reviewed.

dd)

The Service’s Programme Board provides oversight across service wide projects

and corporate programmes of work chaired by the DCFO.
ee) A Communication Strategy and Consultation Strategy are in place for employees
and stakeholders.
ff)

A Statement of Assurance and Annual Report (Our Year) set out the Authority’s
priorities and show how the Authority spent money on achieving these during the
last financial year.

Review of Effectiveness
The Authority has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the
effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal
control. Each year the Monitoring Officer produces an annual report to the
Authority commenting on aspects of governance and assurance on decisionmaking and legal and ethical issues. The review of effectiveness is informed by
the work of the GPWG within the Authority who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the governance environment, the Internal
Auditors annual report, and also comments made by the External Auditors and
other review agencies and inspectorates.
In maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the Authority’s governance
arrangements, the following have been considered:
•

Community Risk Management Plan named Our Plan 2020-2023.
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•

A revised Annual Service Plan has been agreed for 2022/23, providing clarity, on
our Service priorities set out in ‘Our Plan’, and sets out the projects and actions
that will be delivered, developed, or reviewed during the coming year against
each of our priorities. This is supported by Portfolio Delivery Plans and area and
local performance groups to ensure performance targets are met.

•

A comprehensive service review process is in place, comprising external views
in the form of HMICFRS inspection recommendations, Operational Assurance
review, external audit reviews, internal audit reviews and internal reviews
undertaken by our own staff.

o

The Standards Committee has met on three occasions since the last Annual
General Meeting. It has considered the proposals for the future safeguarding of
conduct for the elected members with training and/or updates being provided to
Members at each meeting. The Standards Committee has reviewed the
Members’ Code of Conduct but there have been no complaints against Members
and the Standards Committee has not had to consider any complaints of
breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct.

o

In 2021/22 one case was successfully prosecuted with costs awarded. As a result
of fire investigations and routine Fire Safety Audits there are currently two cases
being prosecuted and several cases are being considered for prosecution under
the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.

o

A Risk Management Strategy and performance framework ensures that risks to
the Service’s objectives are identified and appropriately managed.

o

Comprehensive Business Continuity arrangements are in place and tested on a
regular basis.

o

An Operational Assurance Team undertake a programme of Service wide station
assurance visits to identify areas for improvement. These are tracked through to
completion with improvements being publicised through a regular bulletin, thus
enhancing operational preparedness, operational response, and operational
learning.

o

An Agile Working Framework now in place. The Service reflected on the learning
from the Pandemic which created a dynamic situation that the Service quickly
responded to. As a result, the Service now has a framework in place to support
a more sustainable way of working for its office based employees.

o

Key Performance Measures are reviewed annually.
The monitoring of
performance indicators and performance standards is one measure by which the
Secretary of State can assess the economy, efficiency, and effectiveness of an
authority.
The role of Internal Audit
•

Central Midlands Audit Partnership are the appointed Internal Auditor. The
following audits took place during 2021/22:
o On-Call Payments
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o
o
o
o
o
•

Procurement 2021-22
Risk Management
Joint Working Arrangements
Workforce Planning
IT Business Continuity

Reviews to be carried forward to 2022-23:
IT-Security Awareness
IT – Homeworking Key Controls
Collaborative Agreements
Transparency
,
Internal Audit provides the Governance & Performance Working Group and
senior management with objective assurance on the organisation’s overall
control environment, comprising the systems of governance, risk management,
and internal control and highlights control weaknesses together with
recommendations for improvement. This helps senior management
demonstrate that they are managing the organisation effectively. Internal Audit's
work contributes to the organisation's statutory Annual Governance Statement
(AGS).
o
o
o
o

•

•

At the time of preparing the Annual Governance Statement, an internal audit
opinion cannot be formally provided for 2021-22 as there have been delays in
providing audit evidence, which has delayed completion of key audits. As soon
as these audits are substantially complete, an opinion will be provided. The
findings identified through internal audit will be fully incorporated into
improvement action plans for 22/23.

•

The internal Audit Plan for 2022/23 was noted and agreed by GPWG at their
meeting held on 28 February 2022 which set out the proposed plan of audit
work for the Authority as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Data Analytics – General Ledger
Cultural Change
Anti-Fraud & Corruption
Fleet Management
FireWatch
IT Application/Infrastructure

The role of External Audit
•
External audit is undertaken by Ernst & Young (EY) LLP, a limited liability
partnership appointed by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Limited for
this purpose. The Annual Audit Letter gives independent assurance of the
Authority’s financial control and Value for Money arrangements (including
financial resilience and the overall efficiency and effectiveness of the Authority’s
arrangements).
•

EY have challenges in staffing and as such we await an audit opinion for the
period 2020/21 and 2021/22. EY’s external Audit Plan summarises their initial
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assessment of the key risks driving the development of an effective audit for the
Authority and outlines their planned audit strategy in response to those risks.
•

EY have indicated that the charge for undertaking the audit on the 2020/21
Statement of Accounts is likely to significantly increase from that originally set
out in the contract. This is due to increasing audit regulation, introduction of a
new Code of Audit Practice, increased scrutiny relating to the McCloud pension
age discrimination case and a general shortage of public sector qualified staff.
The situation is common across the whole public sector and negotiations remain
ongoing between the Authority, EY and PSAA.

Covid-19 Impact on the Authority Governance
From March 2020 until May 2021 the Authority made the decision to conduct
committee meetings virtually further to a change in legislation to allow for this.
From May 2021 committee meetings returned to the pre-Covid 19
arrangements of being face to face as the regulations for remote meetings
expired.
Finance
The Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) outlines the assumptions, including
pay and inflation increases, growth and savings, contained within budget
estimates. In previous years the plan has been affected by the uncertainty
introduced by the Covid pandemic and potential impact of government funding.
Although the most direct impact of the pandemic is now behind us new
pressures are emerging as a result of the ongoing conflict in eastern Europe
and relations with foreign countries supplying energy and food.
Inflationary increases to fuel, energy, building cost and interest rate rises are all
growing in significance for the services MTFP. The service continues to model
different scenarios, investment plans and funding options to enable a balanced
and sustainable financial strategy.
The audit of the 2020/21 DFRS Statement of Accounts has not been completed
at the time of writing. The Draft accounts were published by the service in line
with statutory timeframes, but commencement of the audit was delayed due to
resourcing shortages within our external auditors and the national wider audit
sector. This has resulted in the Final accounts not being published by the
statutory deadline. The service is not alone in this position as many public
sector bodies have suffered similar delays.
The delayed audit has resulted in conflicting resource demands as audit
preparation took place alongside budget planning and has continued into
2021/22 closedown. As a result, the preparation for 2021/22 year end is
complicated by the previous year remaining open and balances still unaudited.
Financial Code
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) published
The Financial Management Code (FM Code) in October 2019. The FM Code
provides guidance for good and sustainable financial management in public
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sector organisations, giving assurance that authorities are managing resources
effectively.
The FM Code requires organisations to demonstrate that the processes they
have in place satisfy the principles of good financial management, which is an
essential part of ensuring that public sector finances are sustainable. It
identifies risks to financial sustainability and introduces a framework of
assurance. The framework builds on elements of other CIPFA codes, such as
The Prudential Code for Capital Finance, the Treasury Management in the
Public Sector Code of Practice, and the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom.
A previous review of the processes against the FM code principles resulted in
the services scoring well and the majority of elements identified as ‘Green’.
Some areas were identified as requiring improvement which the service is now
progressing.
HMICFRS
Preparations are well underway for our upcoming round two HMICFRS
inspection, scheduled to start 30th May 2022. This process includes a gap
analysis against the HMICFRS judgment criteria and the new approved Fire
Standards. This is monitored through the SLT and SMT.
Corporate Risk
The Corporate Risk Register was updated for new risks and the status of
existing risks was re-assessed to ensure they more accurately reflected the
current risk environment. The Register considers the Authority’s tolerance for
risk and any mitigating actions that can reduce the likelihood/severity of the
perceived risk. Risk management continued to be an integral part of the project
management process and was a fundamental aspect of the business of the
Authority. A departmental risk register was also introduced and a process for
consideration of all risks and how to escalate them accordingly.
Pension Remedy implications
With regard to the Transitional Protections Pensions Claims and ‘Immediate
Detriment’ claims, the FRA approved re-adopting a national framework and
FBU/LGA Memorandum of Understanding to resolve all Active FPS member
retrospective immediate detriment cases. Whilst risks remain in adopting the
MoU due to awaiting clarity of primary legislation due in October 2023, the risk
of further legal challenge by failing to remedy cases swiftly made it necessary
for the FRA to make this decision. The Service is currently progressing all
Active FPS member cases in priority order based on notified retirement dates.
Fire Reform White Paper
In March 2021 the Home Secretary announced that the Government was to
issue a Fire Reform White Paper to respond to the recommendations from the
Grenfell Tower Inquiry, the Kerslake Review and to build on the findings from
Sir Thomas Windsor’s State of Fire and Rescue reports. The White Paper is
expected to cover three key areas: people; professionalism; and governance.
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Significant Governance Issues and Risks
The CIPFA guidance suggests that the following criteria should be applied
when judging what may constitute a significant control issue:
•
•
•
•
•

The issue has seriously prejudiced or prevented achievement of a
principal objective.
The issue has resulted in a need to seek additional funding to allow it
to be resolved or has resulted in significant diversion of resources
from another aspect of the business.
The issue has led to a material impact on the accounts.
The issue, or its impact, has attracted significant public interest or has
seriously damaged the reputation of the organisation.
The issue has resulted in formal action being taken by the Chief
Financial Officer and/or the Monitoring Officer.

No significant Governance issues and risk have been identified.
Conclusion
Based on the review of the sources of assurance set out in this statement, we are
satisfied that Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority and Derbyshire Fire and Rescue
Service has in place a satisfactory system of internal control which facilitates the
effective exercise of its functions, and which includes arrangements for the
management of risk.
The Annual Governance Statement is therefore recommended to the Authority for
approval.
Signed:

Councillor Trevor Ainsworth - Chair of Derbyshire Fire & Rescue Authority
Signed:

Gavin Tomlinson – Chief Fire Officer / Chief Executive of Derbyshire Fire &
Rescue Service
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The Single Entity Financial Statements
DFRS Single Entity Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted
accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. The Authority raises taxation to cover
expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is
shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
2020/21

2021/22

Gross
Expenditure

Gross
Income

Net
Expenditure

Gross
Expenditure

Gross
Income

Net
Expenditure

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

38,830
3,673
1,460
4,014
2,786

50,763

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies and Services
Other
Income

41,903
3,265
1,507
4,095
3,107

(3,819)

38,830
3,673
1,460
4,014
2,786
(3,819)

(3,819)

46,944

Cost of Services

53,877

(79)
11,419
(47,391)
10,893
57,689
(802)

Other operating
expenditure (Note 11)
Financing and investment
income (Note 12)
Taxation and non-specific grant incomes
(Note 13)
(Surplus)/Deficit on provision of services
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit
liability / (asset)
(Surplus) or deficit on
revaluation of PP&E

(2,994)

41,903
3,265
1,507
4,095
3,107
(2,994)

(2,994)

50,883
(130)
11,514
(52,217)
10,050
(14,183)
(3,361)

56,887

Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure

(17,544)

67,780

Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure

(7,494)
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DFRS Single Entity Movement in Reserves Statement

Total Usable
Reserves
£000

Unusable
Reserves
£000

Total Authority
Reserves
£000

497,602
0
(17,542)

483,742
10,050
(17,542)

10,050

0

0

0

10,050

(17,542)

(7,492)

(10,890)

0

(992)

38

(11,844)

11,844

0

(840)

0

(992)

38

(1,794)

(5,698)

(7,492)

840
0
(1,900)

(840)
(840)
(10,428)

0
(992)
(2,094)

0
0
(1,232)

0
(1,794)
(15,654)

0
(5,698)
491,904

0
(2,682)
476,250

Total Authority
Reserves
£000

Capital Grants
Unapplied
£000

(13,860)
10,050
0

Unusable
Reserves
£000

Capital
Receipts
Reserve
£000

(1,270)
0
0

Total Usable
Reserves
£000

Earmarked
General
Reserves
£000

(1,102)
0
0

Capital Grants
Unapplied
£000

Balance as at 31 March 2020 brought
forward
(Surplus) or Deficit on provision of services
Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Adjustments between accounting basis &
funding basis under regulations (Note 9)
Net (Increase)/Decrease before Transfers to
Earmarked Reserves
Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves (Note
10)
(Increase)/Decrease in Year
Balance as at 31 March 2021 carried
forward

(9,588)
0
0

(1,900)
10,893

(6,553)
0

(337)
0

(1,269)
0

(10,062)
10,893

426,027
0

415,965
10,893

0

0

0

0

0

56,887

56,887

10,893

0

0

0

10,893

56,887

67,780

(13,926)

0

(765)

0

(14,691)

14,691

0

(3,033)

0

(765)

0

(3,798)

71,578

67,780

3,033
0

(3,033)
(3,033)

0
(765)

0
0

0
(3,798)

0
71,577

0
67,780

(1,900)

(9,588)

(1,102)

(1,270)

(13,860)

497,602

483,742
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Capital
Receipts
Reserve
£000

Movement in Reserves during 2020/21

(1,900)
10,050
0

Earmarked
General
Reserves
£000

Balance as at 31 March 2021 brought forward
(Surplus) or Deficit on provision of services
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Adjustments between accounting basis &
funding basis under regulations (Note 9)
Net (Increase)/Decrease before Transfers to
Earmarked Reserves
Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves (Note
10)
(Increase)/Decrease in Year
Balance as at 31 March 2022 carried forward

General Fund
Balance
£000

Movement in Reserves during 2021/22

General Fund
Balance
£000

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Authority, analysed into
‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves.
The (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services shows the true economic cost of providing the Authority’s
services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. These are
different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for council tax setting
purposes. The Net (Increase)/ Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves shows the statutory General
Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the Authority.

DFRS Single Entity Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the
Authority. The net assets of the Authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Authority.
Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of reserves are usable reserves i.e. those reserves that
the Authority may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any
statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital
expenditure or repay debt). The second category of reserves is those that the Authority is not able to use to provide
services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the
Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and
reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’.
31st March
2021
£000
56,465
801

Note

31st March
2022
£000

Property, Plant and Equipment

14

58,734

Intangible Assets

15

513
57
12,605

Long Term Debtors

18

12,605

Investment in Joint Venture
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69,970

Non- Current Assets

10,000

Short Term Investments

16

Assets Held for Sale

20

0

Inventories

17

575

Short Term Debtors

18

9,226

Cash & Cash Equivalents

19

4,844

99

2,350
567
6,925
480
20,322

(679)
(5,975)
(523)
(7,177)

71,852

Current Assets

6,000

20,645

Short Term Borrowing

16

(679)

Short Term Creditors

21

(6,098)

Short Term Provisions

23

Current Liabilities

(499)
(7,276)

0

Long Term Provisions

23

0

(7,294)

Long Term Borrowing

16

(6,615)

(559,563)

Net Pension Fund Liability

24

(554,913)

(566,857)

Non- Current Liabilities

(561,528)

(483,742)

Net Assets

(476,250)

Usable Reserves

10

15,654

(497,602)

Unusable Reserves

24

(491,904)

(483,742)

Total Reserves

13,860

(476,250)

Date 29th July 2022
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DFRS Single Entity Cash Flow Statement
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Authority during the reporting
period. The statement shows how the Authority generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash
flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities
is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Authority are funded by way of taxation and grant
income or from the recipients of services provided by the Authority. Investing activities represent the extent to which
cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the Authority’s future service
delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers
of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Authority. The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared using the indirect method.
2020/21
£000
10,893
(18,567)
1,817
(5,857)

6,124

2021/22
£000
(Surplus)/Deficit on provision of services
Adjustments to net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash
movements
Adjustments for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of
services that are investing and financing activities
Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities (Note 25)

Investing Activities (Note 26)
Financing Activities (Note 27)

946

Net (increase) or decrease in cash and cash equivalents

480

(13,409)
3,560
201

(5,244)

679

1,426

10,050

679

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period (Note 19)
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(4,364)
480
4,844

The DFRS & DPFP LLP Group Financial Statements
The Group Accounts incorporate the activities of the DPFP LLP which is a joint venture with Derbyshire Police
used to provide both organisations with a joint headquarters and joint training centre. DFRS currently has a
42.84% share of the net assets of the DPFP LLP (42.84% in 2020/21). The Group Accounts are limited to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, Balance Sheet and Movement in Reserves Statement. The
Group Accounts have been produced using the equity method to reflect the nature of the partnership.
DFRS & DPFP LLP Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
This statement shows the Group position in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices.
2020/21

2021/22

Gross
Expenditure

Gross
Income

Net
Expenditure

Gross
Expenditure

Gross
Income

Net
Expenditure

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

38,830
3,673
1,460
4,014
2,786

50,763

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies and Services
Other
Income

41,900
3,255
1,507
4,100
3,107

(3,819)

38,830
3,673
1,460
4,014
2,786
(3,819)

(3,819)

46,944

Cost of Services

53,882

(79)
11,419
(47,391)
10,893
57,689
(802)

Other operating
expenditure (Note 11)
Financing and investment
income (Note 12)
Taxation and non-specific grant incomes
(Note 13)
(Surplus)/Deficit on provision of services
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit
liability / (asset)
(Surplus) or deficit on
revaluation of PP&E

(2,994)

41,900
3,255
1,507
4,100
3,107
(2,994)

(2,994)

50,888
(130)
11,514
(52,217)
10,055
(14,183)
(5,182)

56,887

Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure

(19,365)

67,780

Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure

(9,309)
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DFRS & DPFP LLP Group Movement in Reserves Statement

Unusable
Reserves
£000

Total Authority
Reserves
£000

(13,897)
10,050
0

498,164
0
(19,357)

484,267
10,050
(19,356)

10,050

0

0

0

10,050

(19,357)

(9,306)

(10,885)

0

(992)

38

(11,839)

11,839

0

(835)

0

(992)

38

(1,789)

(7,518)

(9,306)

840
5
(1,932)

(840)
(840)
(10,427)

0
(992)
(2,094)

0
0
(1,232)

0
(1,789)
(15,686)

0
(7,518)
490,646

0
(9,306)
474,960

Capital
Receipts
Reserve
£000

Total Authority
Reserves
£000

Total Usable
Reserves
£000

(1,270)
0
0

Unusable
Reserves
£000

Capital Grants
Unapplied
£000

(1,102)
0
0

Total Usable
Reserves
£000

Capital
Receipts
Reserve
£000

(9,588)
0
0

Capital Grants
Unapplied
£000

Balance as at 31 March 2020 brought forward
(Surplus) or Deficit on provision of services
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Adjustments between accounting basis &
funding basis under regulations (Note 9)
Net (Increase)/Decrease before Transfers to
Earmarked Reserves
Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves (Note
10)
(Increase)/Decrease in Year
Balance as at 31 March 2021 carried forward

Earmarked
General
Reserves
£000

Movement in Reserves during 2020/21

(1,937)
10,050
0

Earmarked
General
Reserves
£000

Balance as at 31 March 2021 brought forward
(Surplus) or Deficit on provision of services
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Adjustments between accounting basis &
funding basis under regulations (Note 9)
Net (Increase)/Decrease before Transfers to
Earmarked Reserves
Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves (Note
10)
(Increase)/Decrease in Year
Balance as at 31 March 2022 carried forward

General Fund
Balance
£000

Movement in Reserves during 2021/22

General Fund
Balance
£000

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the DFRS & DPFP LLP Group,
analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and
other reserves. The (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services shows the true economic cost of providing the
Group’s services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
These are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for council tax
setting purposes. The Net (Increase)/ Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves shows the statutory
General Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the Group.

(1,937)
10,893
0

(6,555)
0
0

(337)
0
0

(1,270)
0
0

(10,099)
10,893
0

426,589
0
56,887

416,490
10,893
56,887

10,893

0

0

0

10,893

56,887

67,780

(13,926)

0

(765)

0

(14,691)

14,691

0

(3,033)

0

(765)

0

(3,798)

71,578

67,780

3,033
0
(1,937)

(3,033)
(3,033)
(9,588)

0
(765)
(1,102)

0
0
(1,270)

0
(3,798)
(13,897)

0
71,578
498,164

0
67,780
484,267

33

DFRS & DPFP LLP Group Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the
Group. The net assets of the Group (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Group.
Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those reserves
that the Group may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any
statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital
expenditure or repay debt). The second category of reserves is those that the Group is not able to use to provide
services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the
Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and
reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’.
31st March
2021
£000

Note

31st March
2022
£000

Property, Plant and Equipment

14

58,734

Intangible Assets

15

513

Long Term Debtors

18

57

12,080

Investment in Joint Venture
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13,895

69,445

Non- Current Assets

10,000

Short Term Investments

16

6,000

Assets Held for Sale

20

0

Inventories

17

575

Short Term Debtors

18

9,226

Cash & Cash Equivalents

19

4,844

56,465
801
99

2,350
567
6,925
480
20,322
(679)
(5,975)
(523)
(7,177)
0

73,199

Current Assets

20,645

Short Term Borrowing

16

(679)

Short Term Creditors

21

(6,098)

Short Term Provisions

23

Current Liabilities
Long Term Provisions

23

(6,615)
(554,913)

Long Term Borrowing

16

(559,563)

Net Pension Fund Liability

24

(566,857)

Non- Current Liabilities

(484,267)

Net Assets

(7,294)

(499)
(7,276)
0

(561,528)
(474,960)

Usable Reserves

10

15,686

(498,164)

Unusable Reserves

24

(490,646)

(484,267)

Total Reserves

13,897

(474,960)

Date 29 July 2022

34

Notes to the Accounts
1. Expenditure and Funding Analysis
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources
(government grants, rents, council tax and business rates) by local authorities in comparison with those resources
consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how
this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Authority’s portfolios. Income and
expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
DFRS Single Entity Expenditure and Funding Analysis
2020/21
Net
Expenditure
Chargeable
to the
General
Fund
Balance
£000

2021/22

Adjustment
between
Funding &
Accounting
Basis

Net Expenditure
in the
Comprehensive
Income &
Expenditure
Statement

Net
Expenditure
Chargeable
to the
General
Fund
Balance

Adjustment
between
Funding &
Accounting
Basis

Net Expenditure
in the
Comprehensive
Income &
Expenditure
Statement

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

39,157

(327)

38,830

43,577

(1,674)

41,903

3,673

0

3,673

Premises

3,265

0

3,265

1,460

0

1,460

1,507

0

1,507

4,014

0

4,014

Transport
Supplies &
Services

4,095

0

4,095

79

2,708

2,787

Other

99

3,008

3,107

(3,820)

0

(3,820)

Income

(2,994)

0

(2,994)

44,563

2,381

46,944

Net Cost of
Services

49,549

1,334

50,883

(79)

Other
Operating
Expenditure

0

(130)

(130)

0

(79)

Employees

1,541

9,878

11,419

(49,137)

1,746

(47,391)

Financing &
Investment
Income
Taxation &
Non-Specific
Grants

(47,596)

11,545

(36,051)

Other Income
& Expenditure

(3,033)

13,926

10,893

(8,455)

(3,033)
(11,488)

(Surplus) /
Deficit
Opening
General Fund
Balance
(Plus)/less
(surplus)/deficit
on GF
Closing
General Fund
Balance

35

839

10,675

11,514

(51,225)

(992)

(52,217)

(50,386)

9,553

(40,833)

(837)

10,887

10,050

(11,488)

(837)
(12,325)

2021/22
Adjustments
for Capital
Purposes
(note 1)

Net change
for Pensions
Adjustments
(note 2)

£000

£000

£000

£000

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies and Services
Other
Income

0
0
0
0
3,008
0

(1,652)
0
0
0
0
0

(22)
0
0
0
0
0

(1,674)

Net Cost of Services

4,457

(1,652)

(22)

1,334

Other operating expenditure (Note 11)
Financing and investment income (Note 12)
Taxation and non-specific grant income (Note
13)

(130)
(509)

0
11,184

0
0

(130)
10,675

0

0

(992)

(992)

Other income and expenditure

(639)

11,184

(992)

9,553

(Surplus) or Deficit

2,369

9,532

(1,014)

10,887

Adjustments from the General Fund to arrive
at the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement amounts

Other
Differences

Total
Adjustments

(note 3)

0
0
3,008
0

2020/21
Adjustments from the General Fund to arrive
at the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement amounts

Adjustments
for Capital
Purposes
(note 1)

Net change
for Pensions
Adjustments
(note 2)

Other
Differences

Total
Adjustments

(note 3)

£000

£000

£000

£000

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies and Services
Other
Income

0
0
0
0
2,708
0

(372)
0
0
0
0
0

45
0
0
0
0
0

(327)
0
0
2,708
0

Net Cost of Services

2,708

(372)

45

2,381

Other operating expenditure (Note 11)
Financing and investment income (Note 12)
Taxation and non-specific grant income (Note
13)

(79)
(1,182)

0
11,060

0
0

(79)
9,878

0

0

1,746

1,746

Other income and expenditure

(1,261)

11,060

1,746

11,545

1,447

10,688

1,791

13,926

(Surplus) or Deficit
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Adjustments for Capital Purposes
1) Adjustment for capital purposes – this column adds in depreciation and impairment and revaluation gains and
losses in the services line, and for:
•

Other operating expenditure – adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income on disposal of
assets and the amounts written off for those assets.

•

Financing and investment income and expenditure – the statutory charges for capital financing i.e.
Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue contributions are deducted from other income and
expenditure as these are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices.

•

Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure – capital grants are adjusted for income not
chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. Revenue grants are adjusted from those
receivable in the year to those receivable without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied
throughout the year. The taxation and non specific grant income and expenditure line is credited with
capital grants receivable in the year without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the year.

Net Change for the Pensions Adjustments
2) Net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS 19 Employee Benefits pension
related expenditure and income:
•

For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the Authority
as allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs and past service costs.

•

For financing and investment income and expenditure –- the net interest on the defined benefit liability
is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Other Differences
3) Other differences between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
and amounts payable/receivable to be recognised under statute:
•

The charge under taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure represents the difference
between what is chargeable under statutory regulations for council tax and NDR that was projected to
be received at the start of the year and the income recognised under generally accepted accounting
practices in the Code. This is a timing difference as any difference will be brought forward in future
Surpluses or Deficits on the collection fund.
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2. Accounting Policies
These accounting policies were approved by the Governance and Performance Working Group on 28th February
2022.
A) General Principles
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Authority’s transactions for the 2021/22 financial year and its financial
position at the year-end of 31st March 2022. The Authority is required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts
by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which those Regulations require to be prepared in accordance with
proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise of the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by the
revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments.
All figures in the Statement have been rounded to the nearest £1,000, which may result in some rounding errors.
B) Accruals of Income and Expenditure
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In
particular:
•

revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of goods, is
recognised when (or as) the goods or services are transferred to the service recipient in accordance with
the performance obligations in the contract;

•

supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed - where there is a gap between the date
supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet;

•

expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as
expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are made. An exception is now
made to this for the payment of overtime and payments made in arrears to on-call staff. These payments
are now recognised in the years they are paid rather than the year the work was carried out;

•

interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively as income
and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than
the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract;

•

where goods or services are supplied to or by the Fire Authority in the financial year, but payment does
not occur until a later financial year, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance
Sheet. Where debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to
revenue for the income that might not be collected.

C) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of
not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in three months or less from
the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change
in value.
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s cash management.
D) Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material error.
Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by
the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices, or where the change
provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the
Authority’s financial position or financial performance. Where a material change is made, it is applied
retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior
period as if the new policy had always been applied.
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Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances and
comparative amounts for the prior period.
E) Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding
non-current assets during the year:
•

depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service;

•

revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no accumulated gains
in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off;

•

revaluation gains reversing previous losses charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement;

•

amortisation of intangible non-current assets attributable to the service.

The Authority is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or
amortisations. However, it is required to make an annual Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) contribution from
revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an amount calculated on a prudent
basis determined by the Authority in accordance with statutory guidance. This charge is calculated as follows:
•

Capital expenditure financed by borrowing before 2008, MRP will be recognised on a straight line over
15 years;

•

Capital expenditure incurred after 1st April 2008 financed by unsupported borrowing, excluding finance
leases, the MRP policy will use the Asset Life Method i.e. MRP will be an annual charge based on the
estimated life of the assets. The provision is set aside in the year following the capital expenditure;

•

For any finance leases, the MRP will be the equal to the element of the actual finance lease repayment
that reduces the ongoing balance sheet liability i.e. the principal element of the charge or repayment, in
line with government guidance.

Depreciation, revaluation losses, impairment losses and amortisations are therefore replaced by the MRP
contribution in the General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account
in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.
Where debtor balances for the above are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event
that payments due under the statutory arrangements will not be made, the asset is written down and a charge
made to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement (CIES). The impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the revised
future cash flows.
F) Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates (NDR)
Billing authorities act as agents, collecting council tax and non-domestic rates (NDR) on behalf of the major
preceptors (including government for NDR) and, as principals, collecting council tax and NDR for themselves.
Billing authorities are required by statute to maintain a separate fund (i.e. the collection fund) for the collection and
distribution of amounts due in respect of council tax and NDR. Under the legislative framework for the collection
fund, billing authorities, major preceptors and central government share proportionately the risks and rewards that
the amount of council tax and NDR collected could be less or more than predicted.
Accounting for Council Tax and NDR
The council tax and NDR income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the
Authority’s share of accrued income for the year. However, regulations determine the amount of council tax and
NDR that must be included in the Authority’s General Fund. Therefore, the difference between the income included
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the amount required by regulation to be credited to
the General Fund is taken to the collection fund adjustment account and included as a reconciling item in the
Movement in Reserves Statement.
The Balance Sheet includes the Authority’s share of the end of year balances in respect of council tax and NDR
relating to arrears, impairment allowances for doubtful debts, overpayments, prepayments and appeals.
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Where debtor balances for the above are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event
that payments due under the statutory arrangements will not be made, the asset is written down and a charge
made to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement. The impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the revised future
cash flows.
G) Employee Benefits
Benefits Payable during Employment
Short term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year end. They include such
benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave, paid sick leave and non-monetary benefits (e.g. cars) for current
employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the
Authority.
An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by
employees but not taken before the year end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The
accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being the period in which
the employee takes the benefit. The accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then
reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the
financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.
Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority to terminate an employee’s
employment before the normal retirement date, or an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy, and
are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service segment or, where applicable, to a corporate service
segment at the earlier of when the Authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Authority
recognises costs for a restructuring.
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the General Fund
Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the Pension Fund or pensioner in the year, not
the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement,
appropriations are required to and from the pensions reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension
enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the Pension Fund and
pensioners, and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year end.
Post-Employment Benefits
Employees of the Authority are members of four separate pension schemes with defined benefits related to pay
and service. The schemes are as follows:
Uniformed Firefighters – Original 1992 Scheme
On 1st April 2006 the Firefighters' Pension Scheme was changed to a scheme funded by central government
(currently the Home Office). The pension costs charged to the Authority's accounts in respect of scheme members
are equal to the contributions paid to the Pension Fund for these employees. The 1992 scheme was only open to
those firefighters currently in the scheme as at 31 st March 2006 and the employers contribution was higher than
for the new Firefighters Pension Scheme. All contributions are made into a Pension Fund and equally the payments
to pensioners are paid out of the same fund. This is then balanced by a contribution to or from the fund by the
government each year.
Uniformed Firefighters – 2006 Scheme
On 1st April 2006 a new Firefighters' Pension Scheme was established for new firefighters, on-call firefighters and
for uniformed employees carrying out operational duties in the old pension scheme who wished to transfer to the
new scheme. This scheme is also funded by central government and operates in exactly the same way as the old
scheme except for the reduced level of contribution from employees and employers which reflects the different
conditions and benefits of the new scheme. The Firefighters Pension Scheme (England) (Amendment) Order 2014
introduced a new modified version of the 2006 Scheme which was available to individuals who were employed as
on-call firefighters during the period 1st July 2000 to 5th April 2006. The modified version of the scheme has different
benefits to the main 2006 scheme.
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Uniformed Firefighters – 2015 Scheme
The Firefighters Pension Scheme 2015 came into effect on 1st April 2015. As part of central government pension
reform across the public sector, the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (2015) was created which extended the normal
pension age to 60 and changed from a “final salary” to a “career average” scheme as part of a suite of initiatives to
make fire pensions more financially sustainable. To support those closer to retirement and, therefore less able to
alter their financial retirement planning, firefighters within 10-14 years of their normal pension age were wholly or
partially protected from transferring to the 2015 scheme.
Other Employees
Other employees, subject to certain qualifying criteria, are eligible to join the Local Government Pension Scheme,
administered by Derbyshire County Council. The pension costs that are charged to the Authority's accounts in
respect of these employees are equal to the contributions paid to the funded pension scheme for these employees.
Further costs arise in respect of certain pensions paid to retired employees on an unfunded basis. This scheme is,
however, funded.
Pension costs are included in the accounts to meet the requirements of IAS 19 (Employee Benefits) which requires
the Authority to see beyond its commitment to pay contributions to the Pension Fund and to determine the full
longer term effect that the award of retirement benefits in any year has had on the Authority's financial position.
H) The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
The Local Government Pension Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme:
•

the liabilities of the Derbyshire Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance
Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method - i.e. an assessment of the future
payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on
assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc., and projections of future earnings for
current employees;

•

liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, based on a discount rate that reflects the time
value of money and the characteristics of the liability, determined by the Scheme Actuary each year end;

•

the assets of Derbyshire Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance Sheet at
their fair value:

•

▪

quoted securities - current bid price;

▪

unquoted securities - professional estimate;

▪

unitised securities - current bid price;

▪

property - market value.

The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:
▪

Service cost comprising:
o

current service cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned
this year - allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the
services for which the employees worked;

o

past service cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or
curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years - debited to
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement;

o

net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), i.e. net interest expense for the
Authority - the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that
arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement - this is
calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) at
the beginning of the period – taking into account any changes in the net defined
benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contribution and benefit
payments.
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▪

Re-measurements comprising:
o the return on plan assets - excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset) - charged to the pensions reserve as other
comprehensive income and expenditure;
o actuarial gains and losses - changes in the net pensions liability that arise because
events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or
because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to the pensions
reserve as other comprehensive income and expenditure.

▪

Contributions paid to the Derbyshire Pension Fund - cash paid as employer’s contributions to the
Pension Fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the
amount payable by the Authority to the Pension Fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated
according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there are
appropriations to and from the pensions reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits
and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the Pension Fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable
but unpaid at the year end. The negative balance that arises on the pensions reserve thereby measures the
beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows
rather than as benefits are earned by employees.
Discretionary Benefits
The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of early
retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year
of the decision to make the award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local
Government Pension Scheme.
I) Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the
end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. Two types of
events can be identified:
•

Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period - the Statement
of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events;

•

Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period - the Statement of Accounts
are not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a material effect,
disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts.
J) Financial Instruments
Financial Liabilities (including Creditors and Borrowing Costs).
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to the
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for
the instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over
the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.
This means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued
interest), and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable
for the year according to the loan agreement.
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited to the Financing and
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year of
repurchase or settlement where applicable. However, where repurchase has taken place as part of a restructuring
of the loan portfolio that involves the modification or exchange of existing instruments, the premium or discount is
respectively deducted from or added to the amortised cost of the new modified loan and the write-down to the
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan by an adjustment to the
effective interest rate.
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement,
regulations allow the impact on the General Fund Balance to be spread over future years. The Authority has a
policy of spreading the gain or loss over the term that was remaining on the loan against which the premium was
payable or discount receivable when it was repaid. The reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement to the net charge required against the General Fund Balance is managed by
a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustments Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
Financial Assets (including Debtors).
These are assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not quoted in an active market.
Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost.
Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the
effective rate of interest for the instrument. This means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the
outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest), and interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement.
Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event that payments due under
the contract will not be made, the asset is written down and a charge made to the relevant service or Financing
and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the revised
future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.
Any gains and losses that arise on the de-recognition of an asset are credited or debited to the Financing and
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. It is policy to
charge 12 months interest to each financial year. Outstanding interest is not accrued to the total of the loan.
K) Government Grants and Contributions
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions and
donations are recognised immediately in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as due to the
Authority when there is reasonable assurance that:
•

the Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and;

•

the grants or contributions will be received.

Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contributions have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations
that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired using the grant
or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service
potential must be returned to the transferor.
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied, are carried in the
Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant
service line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or taxation and non-specific grant income (non-ring
fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed
out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied
Reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants
Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital
expenditure.
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L) Intangible Assets
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are controlled by the Authority as a
result of past events (e.g. software licences) is capitalised when it is expected that future economic benefits or
service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Authority.
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost and carried at amortised cost. The depreciable amount of an
intangible asset is amortised over its useful life to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement. An asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset might be
impaired – any losses recognised are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.
Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes, amortisation and
impairment losses are not permitted to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are
therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the
Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve.
M) Interest in Companies and Other Entities
The Authority has material interests in a joint venture which requires it to prepare group accounts. The joint venture
is with Derbyshire Police and Crime Commissioner, Derbyshire Police and Fire Partnership Limited Liability
Partnership. In the Authority’s own single-entity accounts, the interest in the joint venture is recorded as a financial
asset at cost less any provision for impairment.
N) Inventories and Long Term Contracts
Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Long term contracts are accounted for on the basis of charging the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services
with the consideration allocated to the performance obligations satisfied based on goods or services transferred to
the service recipient during the financial year.
O) Investment Property
Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. The definition
is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods or is held
for sale.
Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, based on the amount at which
the asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable parties at arm’s-length. Properties are not depreciated but
are revalued annually according to market conditions at the year end. Gains and losses on revaluation are posted
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement. The same treatment is applied to gains and losses on disposal. Investment properties were revalued
during the year by a suitably qualified Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Chartered Surveyor.
Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment Income line and
result in a gain for the General Fund Balance. However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted
by statutory arrangements to have an impact on the General Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore
reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital
Adjustment Account and the Capital Receipts Reserve.
P) Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.
Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately for
classification.
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return for payment
are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets.
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The Authority as Lessee
Finance Leases
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the commencement
of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments,
if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the
Authority are added to the carrying amount of the asset. Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing
down the lease liability. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
Lease payments are apportioned between:
•

A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment - applied to write down the
lease liability;

•

A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

Property, plant and equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies applied
generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is shorter than the asset’s
estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the Authority at the end of the lease period).
The Authority is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and impairment losses arising
on leased assets. Instead, a prudent annual contribution is made from revenue funds towards the deemed capital
investment in accordance with statutory requirements. Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are
therefore substituted by a revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance, by way of an adjusting transaction
with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two.
Operating Leases
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as an
expense of the services benefiting from use of the leased property, plant or equipment. Charges are made on a
straight-line basis over the life of the lease even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a rentfree period at the commencement of the lease).
The Authority as Lessor
Operating Leases
Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the asset is retained
on the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement. Credits are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this
does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a premium paid at the commencement of the lease). Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset
and charged as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Q) Overheads and Support Services
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance with the Authority’s
arrangements for accountability and financial performance.
R) Property, Plant and Equipment
Non-current assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during more than one
financial year are classified as property, plant and equipment.
Recognition
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised on an
accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with
the item will flow to the Authority and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The Authority has a deminimus level for capital spend of £10,000, so expenditure below this level will not automatically be recorded as
capital spend. Where, through good procurement, the service acquires items that are clearly of a capital nature,
e.g., vehicles, for less than the de-minimus level, these will continue to be recognised as capital.
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Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits or service
potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is incurred.
The Authority does not own any Heritage Assets.
Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:
•

the purchase price;

•

any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.

The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction.
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the acquisition does not
have commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a variation in the cash flows of the Authority). In the latter case,
where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given
up by the Authority.
Donated assets are measured initially at fair value. The difference between fair value and any consideration paid
is credited to the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement, unless the donation has been made conditionally. Until conditions are satisfied, the gain is
held in the Donated Assets Account. Where gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement
in Reserves Statement.
Assets are carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:
•

investment properties and assets surplus to requirements - fair value;

•

infrastructure, community assets, specialist operational properties and assets under construction depreciated historical cost;

•

all other assets - current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing
use (existing use value - EUV).

Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of an asset, Depreciated
Replacement Cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of current value.
Where non-property assets have short useful lives or low values (or both), the depreciated historical cost basis is
used as a proxy for fair value.
Assets included on the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their
carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the year end, but as a minimum every five
years. Land and building values used in the Accounts are based on a valuation carried out by a suitably qualified
RICS Chartered Surveyor on a rolling programme. The most significant properties, by value, are valued on a rolling
two year programme. Lower valued properties are valued on a 5 year rolling programme. Valuations are in
accordance with guidance from the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and from the Chartered Institute of
Public Finance and Accountancy.
Asset values are included in the Asset Register at their component levels. The Authority has a de-minimus
threshold for componentisation, which is a net book value (current valuation less depreciation) of £200,000. Below
this amount individual assets will be disregarded for componentisation purposes. An example of componentisation
might be that a fire station could be listed as land, station building, training block, breathing apparatus training
buildings etc. Components could also take the form of the roof, fixtures and fittings, lift or windows should their
value exceed the de-minimus level.
Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the revaluation reserve to recognise unrealised gains. Where
decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for:
•

where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying amount
of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains);
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•

where there is no balance in the revaluation reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the
asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.

The revaluation reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 st April 2007 only, the date of its formal
implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.
Impairment
Assets are assessed at each year end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where
indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the
shortfall.
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for:
•

where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying amount
of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains);

•

where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of
the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line(s) in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation
that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised.
Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all property, plant and equipment assets by the systematic allocation of their
depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful
life (i.e. freehold land and certain community assets) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under
construction).
Deprecation is calculated on the following bases:
•

dwellings and other buildings - straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by
the valuer;

•

vehicles - straight-line allocation over the estimated life of the vehicle;

•

plant and equipment (for capitalised finance leases) - over the life of the finance lease;

•

IT equipment - straight-line over 5 years;

•

furniture - straight-line over 10 years;

•

infrastructure - straight-line allocation dependent upon asset life.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment has major components whose cost is significant in relation to the
total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately.
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value depreciation
charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being
transferred each year from the revaluation reserve to the capital adjustment account.
It is the Authority’s policy not to charge depreciation in the year of acquisition but a full year’s charge is made in
the final year.
S) Disposals and Non-current Assets Held for Sale
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. The asset is revalued
immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell.
Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating

47

Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only
up to the amount of any losses previously recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services. Depreciation
is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back to noncurrent assets and valued at the lower of their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell, and their
carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations
that would have been recognised had they not been classified as held for sale.
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether
property, plant and equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written-off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals
(if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the
gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). Any
revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment
Account. Amounts received for a disposal are categorised as capital receipts.
Receipts are credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used for new capital investment or set
aside to reduce the Authority’s underlying need to borrow (the capital financing requirement). Receipts are
appropriated to the reserve from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully
provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital
Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
T) Provisions
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a legal or constructive obligation that
probably will require settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. For instance, the Authority may be involved in a court case that could
eventually result in the making of a settlement or payment of compensation.
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement in the year that the Authority becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the
best estimate at the Balance Sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account
relevant risks and uncertainties.
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet with any
excess balance adjusted in the appropriate service line. Furthermore, estimated outstanding settlements are
reviewed annually at the end of each financial year and the provision may then be either increased or decreased
based upon the most current information with the appropriate adjusting entry processed back to the relevant
service.
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from another party
(e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant service if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received if the Authority settles the obligation.
U) Contingent Liabilities
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a possible obligation whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Authority. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be
made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot
be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the
accounts.
V) Contingent Assets
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a possible asset whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Authority.
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is
probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential.
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W) Reserves
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies.
Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance. When expenditure to be financed
from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to be charged against the Surplus or
Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then
appropriated back into the General Fund Balance so that there is no net charge against council tax for the
expenditure.
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments,
retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the Authority - these reserves are
explained in the relevant policies.
X) VAT
VAT paid is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s Revenue and
Customs. VAT received is excluded from income.
Y) Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but that does not result in
the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement in the year. Where the Authority has determined to meet the cost of this
expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement
from the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that
there is no impact on the level of council tax.
Z) Fair Value Measurement
The Authority measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets and investment properties and
some of its financial instruments such as equity shareholdings [other financial instruments as applicable] at fair
value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
a) in the principal market for the asset or liability; or
b) in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The Authority measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the Authority takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Authority uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is
available, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the Authority’s financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as follows:
Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Authority can access
at the measurement date;
Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly;
Level 3 - unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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3. Accounting Standards Issued but not Yet Adopted
The Code of Practice requires the disclosure of the impact of an accounting change arising from a new accounting
standard which has been issued but not adopted by the Code of Practice for the relevant financial year.
This applies to the adoption of the following new or amended standards which are anticipated to be listed within
the 2021/22 Code:
•
•
•

Definition of a Business: Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS
16.

None of these changes would impact significantly on the Authority's accounts for 2021/22.
4. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 2, the Authority has had to make certain judgements about
complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. There is a high degree of uncertainty about
future levels of funding for local government. However, the Authority has determined that this uncertainty is not
sufficient to provide an indication that the assets of the Authority might be impaired as a result of a need to reduce
levels of service provision.
5. Material Differences Between Restated 2020/21 Accounts and those Published in the 2021/22 Financial
Statements
There are no material restatements contained within the accounts.
6. Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the Authority
about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical experience,
current trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty,
actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates.
The items in the Authority’s Balance Sheet at 31st March 2022 for which there is a significant risk of material
adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows:
Item

Description of uncertainty

Property,
Plant and
Equipment

Assets are depreciated over useful lives that are
dependent on assumptions about the level of
repairs and maintenance that will be incurred in
relation to individual assets. The current
economic climate makes it uncertain that the
Authority will be able to sustain its current
spending on repairs and maintenance, bringing
into doubt the useful lives assigned to assets.
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions
depends on a number of complex judgements
relating to the discount rate used, the rate at
which salaries are projected to increase,
changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and
expected returns on Pension Fund assets. A firm
of consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the
Authority with expert advice about the
assumptions to be applied.
The debtors figure included in the accounts for
council tax and NDR includes an estimation for
bad debts. The bad debt calculation is
completed by each billing authority (7 Districts, 1
Borough plus the City Council) and returned to
DFRS.

Pension
Liability

Impairment
of Debtors

50

Effect if actual results differ from
assumptions
If the useful life of assets is reduced,
depreciation increases and the carrying
amount of the assets falls.
It is estimated that the annual depreciation
charge for buildings would increase by
£0.5m for every year that useful lives had
to be reduced.
The effects on the net pension liability of
changes in individual assumptions can be
measured. A sensitivity analysis showing
the impacts of changes in the discount
rates used is included in note 36.

A bad debt provision of £1.5m is included
in the 2021/22 year end balance. Variation
in actual recovery would affect the final
collection fund surplus/deficit position. This
in turn would impact on future year’s
budgets when recognised in line with
statutory requirements.

7. Events After the Reporting Period
The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Director of Finance / Treasurer on 29th July 2022.
Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements or notes. Where events taking place
before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31 st March 2022, the figures in the financial
statements and notes have been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this information.
8a. Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature

The Authority’s expenditure and income is analysed as follows
Expenditure
Employee benefits expenses
Other services expenses
Depreciation, amortisation, impairment
Interest payments
Precepts and levies
(Gain)/Loss on the disposal of assets
Total expenditure
Income
Fees, charges and other service income
Interest and investment income
Income from council tax, non-domestic rates, district rate income
Government grants and contributions
Total income
(Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

38,830
18,842
4,150
370
0
(79)
62,113

41,903
18,699
4,459
340
0
(130)
65,270

(2,329)
(11)
(34,536)
(14,345)
(51,221)

(2,084)
(9)
(36,043)
(17,084)
(55,220)

10,893

10,050

8b. Revenue from Contracts with Service Recipients
Amounts included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for contracts with service recipients:
2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

(1,888)
0

Revenue from contracts with service recipients
Impairment of receivables or contract assets

(1,641)
0

(1,888)

Total Included in Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

(1,641)

Amounts included in the Balance Sheet for contracts with service recipients:
31st March 2021
£000
(263)

31st March 2022
£000
Receivables which are included in debtors
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(535)

9. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance with proper accounting
practice to arrive at the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Authority to meet future capital and revenue expenditure.
2020/21
General

Capital

2021/22
Capital

General

Capital

Capital

Fund

Receipts

Grants

Fund

Receipts

Grants

Balance

Reserve

unapplied

Balance

Reserve

unapplied

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

(3,745)

0

0

(4,110)

0

0

0

0

0

0

Adjustments primarily involving the CAA
Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement
Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets
Revaluation losses on property, plant & equipment

1,477

Movements in fair value of investment properties
Amortisation of intangible assets

1,449

0

0

(440)

(347)

Capital grants and contributions applied
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute
Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on
disposal to the I&E

(1,348)

Subtotal

(4,056)

(3,035)
0

0

(6,043)

Insertion of items not debited or credited to I&E
Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment

403

Capital expenditure charged against general fund balances

403

779

Subtotal

1,182

52

106
0

0

509

Adjustments primarily involving the capital grants unapplied account
Capital grants and contributions unapplied credited to I&E

0

0

Application of grants to capital financing transferred to CAA

0

0

Subtotal

0

0

1,427

(1,427)

0

0

0

3,165

(3,165)

0

Adjustments primarily involving the capital receipts reserve
Transfer of cash sale proceeds credited as part of gain / loss on disposal of asset to I&E
Use of the capital receipts reserve to finance new capital expenditure

662

Subtotal
Adjustments primarily involving the financial instruments adjustment account
Adjustments primarily involving the pensions reserve
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits Dr or Cr to I&E
Employers contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in year
Subtotal

2,173

1,427

(765)

0

3,165

(992)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(992)

0

(25,737)

(28,228)

15,049

18,696

(10,688)

0

0

(9,532)

Adjustments primarily involving the collection fund adjustment account
Amount by which council tax and NDR income credited to the I&E is different from council tax
and NDR income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory requirements

(1,746)

992

Adjustments primarily involving the accumulated absences account
accumulated absences - reverse last year's balance

252

accumulated absences - new year
Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the I&E on an accruals basis is different
from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements
Total adjustments
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296

(296)
(44)

0

0

(274)
22

(13,925)

(765)

0

(10,887)

10. Movements in Earmarked Reserves
This note sets out the amounts set aside in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans
and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to fund expenditure in 2021/22.
Balance
at
31st
March
2020
£000

Transfers
Out
2020/21

Transfers
In
2020/21

£000

£000

Balance
at
31st
March
2021
£000

Transfers
Out
2021/22

Transfers
In
2021/22

£000

£000

Balance
at
31st
March
2022
£000

Earmarked Reserves*
Invest To Save Reserve
Strategic Risk Reserve
TriControl and ESN
Reserve
Total Earmarked
Reserves

3,267
356
1,642
1,290

(1,061)
0
(876)
0

3,567
40
1,363
0

5,773
396
2,129
1,290

(2,115)
0
0
0

2,606
0
349
0

6,264
396
2,478
1,290

6,555

(1,937)

4,970

9,588

(2,115)

2,955

10,427

Capital Grants Unapplied
Capital Receipts Reserve
General Fund
Total Useable Reserves

1,270
337
1,900
10,062

0
(662)
0
(2,599)

0
1,427
0
6,397

1,270
1,102
1,900
13,860

(38)
(2,173)
0
(4,326)

0
3,165
0
6,120

1,232
2,094
1,900
15,654

Group Useable
Reserves

10,099

13,897

15,686

*Included in earmarked reserves is £0.9m Section 31 Government Grant, being compensation for Covid-19 related
extended business rate concessions. Due to the effect of the pandemic on Council Tax and NDR receipts the
Authority has a significant collection fund deficit (£0.5m) as at March 2022, which due to statutory collection fund
accounting will be recognised in future years. These amounts are committed for use in 2022/23 to partially offset
the recognition of the collection fund deficit.
The capital receipts reserve may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt.

2020/21

2021/22

£000

£000
337

Balance at start of the year

1,102

1,370

Cash sale proceeds on the disposal of premises assets

3,141

57

Cash sale proceeds on the disposal of vehicular assets

(662)

Use of capital receipts to fund capital programme expenditure

1,102

Balance at the end of the year

23
(2,069)
2,196

11. Other Operating Expenditure
2020/21
£000
1,348
(1,427)
(79)

2021/22
£000
Carrying amount of non-current assets
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets
(Gains)/losses on the disposal of non-current assets
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3,035
(3,165)
(130)

12. Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
2020/21
£000
370
11,060
(11)
11,419

Interest payable and similar charges
Pensions interest cost and expected return on pensions assets
Interest receivable and similar income
Total

2021/22
£000
339
11,184
(9)
11,514

13. Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Incomes
2020/21
£000
(24,728)
(9,808)
(6,114)
(6,741)
(47,391)

Council tax income
Non-domestic rates
Non ring-fenced government grants
Pension top-up grant

2021/22
£000
(25,060)
(10,982)
(6,247)
(9,928)

Total

(52,217)
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment
Movements on Balances

Cost or Valuation
At 1st April 2021
In year correction
Additions
Revaluation increases / (decreases) recognised in the
Revaluation Reserve
Revaluation increases / (decreases) recognised in the
Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of Services
De-recognition – disposals
De-recognition – other
Re classification – (tfr to/from Inv Props, AUC and
Surplus)
Assets reclassified – from Assets Under Construction
Other movements in cost or valuation
At 31st March 2022
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
At 1st April 2021
In year correction
Depreciation charge
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve
Depreciation written out to the Surplus / Deficit on the
Provision of Services
Impairment losses recognised in the Surplus / Deficit
on the Provision of Services
De-recognition – disposals
De-recognition – other
At 31st March 2022

Net Book Value
At 31st March 2021
At 31st March 2022

48,244

26,483

413

1,462

(50)
(122)

Total Property, Plant and
Equipment
£000

Assets Under Construction
£000

Surplus Assets
£000
3,690

161

78,578

382

2,257

(2)

(750)
(124)

(156)

0

(700)

156
27,771

2,990

385

(3,408)

(18,705)

0

0

(2,599)

(1,465)

(46)

(4,110)

50
122
(19,998)

15

65
122

(31)

0

7,778
7,777

3,690
2,959

161
385

44,836
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Vehicles, Plant, Furniture &
Equipment
£000

Other Land and Buildings
£000

Movements in 2021/22

(22,113)

56,465

Movements on Balances

Cost or Valuation
At 1st April 2020
In year correction
Additions
Revaluation increases / (decreases) recognised in the
Revaluation Reserve
Revaluations increases / (decreases) recognised in the
Surplus / Deficit on the Provision of Services
De-recognition – disposals
Re classification – (tfr to/from Inv Props, AUC and
Surplus)
Assets reclassified – from Assets Under Construction
Other movements in cost or valuation
At 31st March 2021
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
At 1st April 2020
In year correction
Depreciation charge
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve
Depreciation written out to the Surplus / Deficit on the
Provision of Services
Impairment losses recognised in the Surplus / Deficit
on the Provision of Services
De-recognition – disposals
At 31st March 2021

49,102
(720)
429

25,932

4,325

596

646

Total Property, Plant and
Equipment
£000

Assets Under Construction
£000

Surplus Assets
£000

Vehicles, Plant, Furniture &
Equipment
£000

Other Land and Buildings
£000

Movements in 2020/2021

154
99
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79,513
(720)
1,124
701

1,545

1,545
(45)

(690)

(735)
0

92
(2,851)
48,244

(4,769)
652
(2,141)
2,851

(92)
26,483

3,690

161

(17,204)

(57)
57
(57)
43

0

(1,547)

0

0
(2,851)
78,577

(22,030)
709
(3,745)
2,894
0
0

Net Book Value
At 31st March 2020
At 31st March 2021

.

57

(3,408)

46
(18,705)

13
0

0

59
(22,113)

44,333
44,836

8,728
7,778

4,268
3,690

154
161

57,483
56,465

Capital Commitments
As at 31st March 2022, the Authority has entered into a number of contracts for the purchase, construction or
enhancement of property, plant and equipment in 2021/22 and future years, budgeted to cost £0.245m. Similar
commitments at 31 March 2021 were £0.884m.
The largest elements being £0.080m for the construction of the new Fire Station at Glossop, £0.139m for the
construction of the new Fire Station at Matlock and £0.019m for the Emergency Services Network (ESN) project.
Revaluations
The DFRS portfolio has been reassessed and the cycle of valuations has been adjusted from the previous 5 year
rolling program. The larger fire stations (predominantly wholetime, day crewing and wholetime/on-call) will be
valued on a 2 year rolling program and the smaller (on-call and day staffing) fire stations will be valued on a 4
year rolling cycle. This will ensure that no valuation is more than 3 years old and approximately 45% by value of
the PPE operational property portfolio is valued every year.
Fair Value valuations are required under the Code of Practice for investment properties, assets held for sale and
surplus properties; these were undertaken as at 31 st March 2022.
All valuations are carried out by Carolyn Lucas MRICS, a chartered surveyor working on behalf of Ad Rem Property.
Valuations of land and buildings were carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation
set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. The outbreak of Covid-19 has
affected all financial markets and created an unprecedented set of circumstances. In the current situation less
weight can be placed on previous market evidence for comparison purposes. The valuations included in this
statement therefore carry a higher degree of uncertainty than would normally be the case.
15. Intangible Assets
The Authority accounts for its software as intangible assets, to the extent that the software is not an integral part of
a particular IT system and accounted for as part of the hardware item of property, plant and equipment. The
intangible assets include only purchased licenses.
All software is given a finite useful life, based on assessments of the period that the software is expected to be of
use to the Authority. The useful life assigned to the software suites used by the Authority is five years.
The carrying amount of intangible assets is amortised on a straight-line basis. It is not possible to quantify exactly
how much of the amortisation is attributable to each service heading; therefore the amortisation of £347,432
charged to revenue in 2021/22 was absorbed as an overhead across all the service headings in the Cost of
Services.
The movement on intangible asset balances during the year is as follows:
2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

3,583

3,900

(2,659)

(3,099)

924

801

317

59

0

0

(440)

(347)

801

513

3,900

3,959

(3,099)

(3,446)

801

513

Balance at start of year:
- Gross carrying amounts
- Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount at start of year
Additions:
- Purchases
Impairment losses recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of
Services
Amortisation for the period
Net carrying amount at end of year (Note 1)
Comprising:
Gross carrying amounts
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount at end of year
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Note 1
£0.115m of the net carrying amount relates to the Emergency Services Network (ESN) project.
£0.238m of the net carrying amount relates to the Human Resources replacement system which will be
completed next year.
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16. Financial Instruments
Categories of Financial Instruments
The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet:
Long-Term
31st March
31stMarch
2021
2022
£000
£000

Short-Term
31st March 31st March
2021
2022
£000
£000

Investments
Loans and receivables
Total Investments

0
0

0
0

10,000
10,000

6,000
6,000

Cash
Cash and cash equivalents
Total included in Debtors

0
0

0
0

480
480

4,844
4,844

Debtors
Financial assets carried at contract amounts
Total included in Debtors

0
0

0

2,269
2,269

1,757
1,757

(7,294)
(7,294)

(6,615)
(6,615)

(679)
(679)

(679)
(679)

0
0

0
0

(2,336)
(2,336)

(3,178)
(3,178)

Borrowings
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Total included in borrowings
Creditors
Financial liabilities carried at contract amounts
Total creditors

The only gains and losses linked to financial instruments are income receivable from short term investments and
interest payable on Public Work Loan Board (PWLB) loans. Quantitative disclosures have been included on the
face of the Income and Expenditure Statement. The analysis of financial instruments above includes amounts
relating to non-statutory debtor and creditor balances due in less than one year.
Income, Expense, Gains and Losses

Total
£000

Financial Liabilities:
measured at amortised
cost
£000

Financial Assets: Loans
and receivables
£000

Total
£000

2021/22

Interest expense
Total expense in Surplus or
(Deficit) on the Provision of
Services
Interest income
Total income in (Surplus) or
Deficit on the Provision of
Services

370
370

0
0

370
370

340
370

0
0

340
370

0

(11)

(11)

0

(9)

(9)

Net gain/(loss) for the year

370

(11)

359

340

(9)

331

Financial Liabilities:
measured at amortised
cost
£000

Financial Assets: Loans
and receivables
£000

2020/21
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Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities
Financial liabilities, financial assets represented by loans and receivables and long-term debtors and creditors are
carried in the Balance Sheet at amortised cost. Their fair value can be assessed by calculating the present value
of the cash flows that will take place over the remaining term of the instruments.
The fair values of loans, provided by the Public Works Loans Board, are as follows:
31st March 2021
Carrying
amount £000
Financial liabilities

31st March 2022

Fair value £000

(7,973)

(8,452)

Carrying
amount £000

Fair value £000

(7,294)

(8,341)

Short term debtors and creditors and cash is carried at cost as this is a fair approximation of their value.
17. Inventories
31st March 2021

31st March 2022

£000

£000
287

Balance outstanding at start of year

567

519

Purchases

286

(239)
0
567

Recognised as an expense in year
Written off balances

(278)
0

Balance outstanding at end of year

575

18. Debtors

31st March 2021
£'000
1,890
3,113
40
1,882

31st March 2022
£'000
4,364
3,366
0
1,496

Short Term Debtors
Central Government
Other Local Authorities
NHS
Other Entities and Individuals

6,925

99

9,226

Long Term Debtors
Other Entities and Individuals

57
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19. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The balance of cash and cash equivalents is made up of the following elements:
31st March 2021
£000
1
479
480

31st March 2021
2£000
Cash held by the Authority
Bank current accounts
Total

1
4,843
4,844

20. Assets Held For Sale
2020/21

2021/22

£000

£000
3,021

Balance at start of the year

2,350

0
0
(671)
2,350

Net gains/losses from fair value adjustments
Assets reclassified as held for sale (from Land & Buildings)
Assets sold in year
Balance at the end of the year

0
0
(2,350)
0

The one asset held for sale was the former headquarters site in Littleover, Derby. The site had been re-marketed
and the sale was completed in September 2021.
Assets in this category are revalued immediately before reclassification and are carried at the lower of this amount
and fair value, less disposal costs. Fair value is the open market value including alternative uses.
The profit or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying
amount and is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as a gain or loss on disposal.
Where a non-current asset is sold the amount is credited to income and then transferred to usable capital receipts
in the Balance Sheet where it is available to fund new capital expenditure.
Depreciation is not charged on assets held for sale.

21. Creditors

31st March 2021
£'000
(885)
(3,792)
(9)
(1,289)
(5,975)

31st March 2022
£'000
(1,000)
(3,089)
(13)
(1,996)
(6,098)

Central Government
Other Local Authorities
NHS
Other Entities and Individuals
Total

22. Contingent Liabilities
No significant contingent liabilities have been identified at the Balance Sheet date.
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23. Provisions

Balance at

1st April

External Audit
‘Scale Fee
Variations’

Business
Rates Appeals

Total

£000

£000

£000

2021

(57)

Additional provisions made in 2021/22
Provision reduced in 2021/22
Balance at

31st

(466)

(523)

(17)

March 2022

(17)

0

41

41

(74)

(425)

(499)

Provision for External Audit ‘Scale Fee Variations’
This was established in 2020/21 to provide for external audit disputed fee increases, specific to the 2019/20 and
2020/21 financial year. Further provision has been made for the 2021/22 financial year, after adjusting for the
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) findings for year 2019/20.
Provision for Business Rates Appeals
This was established during 2013/14 at the introduction of the Business Rate Retention Scheme. The provision
covers potential successful appeals against rateable values as advised each year billing authorities.
24. Unusable Reserves
31st March 2021
£000
(13,220)
(50,575)
559,563
1,540
295
497,603
562

31st March 2022
£000
Revaluation reserve
Capital adjustment account
Pensions reserve
Collection fund adjustment account
Accumulated absences account
Total unusable reserves
LLP revaluation reserve

(15,631)
(48,198)
554,913
547
274
491,904
(1,258)

Revaluation Reserve
The revaluation reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from increases in the value of its property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets. The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are:
▪
▪
▪

revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost;
used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation; or
disposed of and the gains are realised.

The reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 st April 2007, the date that the reserve was created.
Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the capital adjustment account.
2020/21
£000
(13,272)
(57)
(745)
595
259
(13,220)

562

Balance at 1st April
In year correction to opening balances
Downward (Upward) revaluation of assets
Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost depreciation
Accumulated gains on assets sold
Balance at 31st March

LLP revaluation reserve

(group accounts)
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2021/22
£000
(13,220)
0
0
0
0
(13,220)

(1,258)

Capital Adjustment Account
The capital adjustment account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for
accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or
enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. The account is debited with the cost of acquisition,
construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from the revaluation reserve to
convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis). The account is credited with the amounts set aside by the
Authority as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction, and enhancement.
The account contains accumulated gains and losses on investment properties and gains recognised on donated
assets that have yet to be consumed by the Authority.
The account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on property, plant, and equipment before 1st April 2007,
the date that the revaluation reserve was created to hold such gains.

Capital Adjustment Account
2020/21
£000
(51,933)

2021/22
£000
Balance at 1st April

(50,575)

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:
68
3,745
(1,545)
440

In year correction to opening balances
Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets
Revaluation losses / (gains) on property, plant, and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

0
3,744
(1,545)
440

1,348

Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the
gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

1,331

3,988

Subtotal

3,971

(595)

Adjusting amounts written out of the revaluation reserve

(596)

(259)

Accumulated gains on assets sold written out of the revaluation reserve

(259)

3,134

Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets consumed in the
year

3,164

Capital financing applied in the year:
(662)
0
(403)
(779)
(1,844)
(50,575)

Use of the capital receipts reserve to finance new capital expenditure
Capital grants and contributions credited to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement that have been applied to capital financing
Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged against the
General Fund (MRP)
Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund
Subtotal
Balance at

(662)
0
(403)
(779)
(1,844)

31st

March

(50,594)
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Pensions Reserve
The pensions reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for
post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions. The Authority accounts
for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned
by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing
assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory
arrangements require that benefits earned are to be financed as the Authority makes employer’s contributions to
Pension Funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible. The debit balance on the
Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current employees
and the resources the Authority has set aside to meet them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding
will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid.
Pension Reserve
2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

491,187
57,688
25,737

Balance at 1st April
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability/(asset)
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement
Employers pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners
payable in the year
Balance at 31st March

(15,049)
559,563

559,563
(14,183)
28,228

(18,695)
554,913

Collection Fund Adjustment Account
The collection fund adjustment account manages the differences arising from the recognition of council tax and
non-domestic rates income (NDR) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from
council tax payers and business rates payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts
to the General Fund from the Collection Fund. DFRS was part of the Derbyshire Business Rates Pool in 2021/22.
The collection fund adjustment account includes both council tax and NDR adjustments.
2020/21
£000
(206)
1,746
1,540

Balance at 1st April
Amount by which council tax and non-domestic rates income credited to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is different from council tax and
non-domestic rates income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory
requirements
Balance at 31st March

2021/22
£000
1,540
(993)
547

Accumulated Absences Account
The accumulated absences account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the General Fund
Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave entitlement
carried forward at 31st March. Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is
neutralised by transfers to or from the account.
2020/21
£000
251
45
295

Balance at 1st April
Amount by which remuneration charged to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis is different from remuneration
chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements
Balance at 31st March
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2021/22
£000
295
(21)
274

25. Cash Flow Statement - Operating Activities

The cash flows for operating activities includes the following items:
2020/21
£000
(11)
370
359

2020/21
£000
(3,745)
1,477
(440)
(1,064)
(2,948)
280
(10,688)
(91)
(1,348)
(18,567)

2021/22
£000
Interest Received
Interest Paid

(9)
340
331

Depreciation
Impairment and revaluations
Amortisation
(Increase)/decrease in creditors
Increase/(decrease) in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in inventories
Movement in pension liability
Contributions (to)/from provisions
Carrying amount of non-current assets and non-current assets held for sale, sold or
de-recognised

2021/22
£000
(4,110)
1,449
(347)
(123)
2,257
8
(9,532)
24
(3,035)
(13,409)

The Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services has been adjusted for the following items that are investing and
financing activities:
2020/21
£000

390
1,427

2021/22
£000
Proceeds from short-term (not considered to be cash equivalents) and long-term
investments (includes investments in associates, joint ventures and subsidiaries)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant, and equipment

1,817

395
3,165
3,560

26. Cash Flow Statement - Investing Activities
2020/21
£000
1,441
55,000
(1,427)
(48,500)
(390)
6,124

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets
Purchase of short term and long term investments
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from short term and long term investments
Other receipts from investing activities
Net cash flows from investing activities
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2021/22
£000
2,316
15,000
(3,165)
(19,000)
(395)
(5,244)

27. Cash Flow Statement - Financing Activities
2020/21
£000
0
679
679

Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding liabilities relating to finance leases
Repayments of short and long term borrowing
Net cash flows from financing activities

2021/22
£000
0
679
679

28. Members’ Allowances
The Authority paid the following amounts to Members of the Authority during the year. Details of Members’
allowances are published in accordance with requirements, on the Authority’s website.
2020/21
£000
82
0
82

2021/22
£000
Allowances
Expenses
Total

74
2
76

29. Officers’ Remuneration
The Authority’s employees receiving more than £50,000 remuneration for the year (excluding employer’s pension
contributions) were paid the following amounts (bands with no employees in either year have been excluded):
Remuneration
Band
£
50,000 – 54,999
55,000 – 59,999
60,000 – 64,999
65,000 – 69,999
70,000 – 74,999
75,000 – 79,999
80,000 – 84,999
85,000 – 89,999
90,000 – 94,999
105,000 – 109,999
115,000 – 119,999
130,000 – 134,999
140,000 – 144,999
155,000 – 159,999

2020/21
Number of Employees
15
25
6
7
2
0
2
2
0
0
0
1
0
1
61

2021/22
Number of Employees
22
24
6
6
2
1
0
1
1
0
1
0
0
1
65

This table includes the senior employees listed in the tables that follow.
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Disclosure of Remuneration for Senior Employees
The following table provides details on senior officers’ emoluments greater than £50,000 in 2021/22.
Salary,
Fees and
Allowances
£

Expense
Allowances
£

Pension
contributions
£

Total
including
Pension
£

159,277

236

45,872

205,385

Deputy Chief Fire Officer (Note 1)

116,964

236

33,686

150,886

Deputy Chief Fire Officer (Note 2)

44,772
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16,700

61,541

Director of Corporate Services
Area Manager – Community Safety & Central
Policy

85,597

5,539

12,155

103,291

81,465

5,593

23,462

110,520

Area Manager – Service Delivery Support (Note 3)

73,216

236

20,693

94,145

Area Manager – Service Delivery Support (Note 4)

53,301

164

15,351

68,816

Area Manager – Service Delivery (Note 5)

76,603

237

28,573

105,413

Solicitor/Monitoring Officer

64,611

4,697

9,175

78,483

Post holder information (Post title)
Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive - Gavin
Tomlinson

Note 1 - the post holder became Deputy Chief Fire Officer from 1st August 2021, prior to this the post holder
was Area Manager – Service Delivery from 1st April 2021 until 31st July 2021.
Note 2 - the previous post holder retired on 29th July 2021.
Note 3 - the post holder became Area Manager – Service Delivery Support from 27th November 2021, prior
this the post holder was not a member of SLT.
Note 4 - the previous post holder retired on 26th November 2021.
Note 5 - the post holder became Area Manager – Service Delivery from 1st August 2021, prior to this the post
holder was not a member of SLT.
The following table provides details on senior officers’ emoluments greater than £50,000 in 2020/21.

Post holder information (Post title)
Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive - Gavin
Tomlinson
Deputy Chief Fire Officer

Salary,
Fees and
Allowances
£

Expense
Allowances
£

Pension
contributions
£

Total
including
Pension
£

157,111

231

45,248

202,590

133,664

231

49,675

183,570

Director of Corporate Services (Note 1)
Area Manager – Community Safety & Central
Policy (Note 2)
Area Manager – Service Delivery Support (Note
3)

83,998

5,534

11,928

101,460

80,165

5,081

22,746

107,992

80,165

3,299

22,746

106,210

Area Manager – Service Delivery (Note 4)

80,165

231

22,746

103,142

Solicitor/Monitoring Officer

63,579

5,374

9,028

77,981
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Note 1 - the post holder became Director of Corporate Services from 6th April 2020, prior to this the post holder
was Area Manager – People & Organisational Development from 1st April 2020 until 5th April 2020.
Note 2 - the post holder became Area Manager – Community Safety & Central Policy from 1st February 2021,
prior to this the post holder was Area Manager – Community Safety from 1st November 2020 to 31st January
2021 and prior to this the post holder was Area Manager – Operational Training, Policy & Assurance
from 1st April 2020 to 31st October 2020.
Note 3 - the post holder became Area Manager – Service Delivery Support from 1st February 2021, prior this
the post holder was Area Manager - Operational Training, Policy & Assurance from 1st November 2020 to 31st
January 2021 and prior to this the post holder was Area Manager - Community Safety from 1st April 2020 to
31st October 2020.
Note 4 - the post holder became Area Manager – Service Delivery from 1st September 2020, prior to this the
post holder was Area Manager – Response from 1st April 2020 to 31st August 2020.

The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band are set out in the table. There were no compulsory
redundancies during 2020/21 or 2021/22.

Exit Package Cost Band
(including special payments)
£0 - £20,000
£20,001 - £40,000
Total Cost Included in
Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement

Number of Other
Departures Agreed
2020/21 2021/22
1
0
0
0
1

Total Number of
Exit Packages by
Cost Band
2020/21 2021/22
1
0
0
0

0

1

0

Total Cost of all Exit
Packages in each
Band
2020/21
2021/22
£10,000
£0
£0
£0
£10,000

£0

The total cost in the table above includes £0 (£10,000 in FY 2020-21) for exit packages that have been charged
to the Authority’s Comprehensive income and Expenditure Statement in the current year.
Further information is provided in Note 35 Termination Benefits.
30. External Audit Costs
The Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts.
2020/21

2021/22

£000

£000

63

Fees payable to external auditors with regard to external audit services carried out by
the appointed auditor for the year
Audit overrun costs 2018/19 and provision established for ‘scale fee variations’

88

Total

25

25
63
88
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31. Grant Income
The Authority credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement in 2021/22:
2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000
Credited to Services

0
223
73

Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government – Local Council Tax Support
Scheme
Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government – FireLink Grant

450
190

5

Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government – Protection Uplift Grant
Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government – Tax Income Compensation
Scheme
Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government – Covid-19 Emergency
Funding
Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government – Local Audit Fees Grant
Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government - Transparency Code - New
Burdens
Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government - New Dimensions

0

Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government – Fire stoppers Initiative

5

2

National Lottery Fund – Grant for Marina Water Safety Project

2

1

Derbyshire County Council - Contribution to Young Driver Education Package

2

82

Home Office – Grenfell Infrastructure

0

60

Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government – Business Risk Review Grant

0

0
913
0
8

0
1,367

Other Smaller Grants
Total

175
124
72
13
8
6

0
1,047

32. Related Parties
The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals that have the
potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled or influenced by the Authority. Disclosure of these
transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Authority might have been constrained in its ability to
operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the
Authority.
Central Government
Central government has effective control over the general operations of the Authority – it is responsible for providing
the statutory framework within which the Authority operates, provides the majority of its funding in the form of
grants, and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the Authority has with other parties (e.g. council
tax bills, housing benefits). Grants received from government departments as at 31st March 2022 are set out in the
subjective analysis in Note 8a Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature.
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Members
Members of the Authority have direct control over the Authority’s financial and operating policies. During 2021/22
the Authority was made up of 12 Members from Derbyshire County Council and 4 Members from Derby City
Council. During the financial year 2021/22 the following transactions were entered into between Derbyshire County
Council - expenditure of £0.2m (of which £130,642 was unpaid as at 31st March 2022) and income of £600 (of
which none was owing as at 31st March 2022). During 2021/22 the following transactions were entered into between
the Authority and Derby City Council - expenditure of £0.3m (of which none was unpaid as at 31st March 2022).
Other payments are illustrated below and comprise predominantly of business rate charges, plus other contracted
services.
Organisation

Payments
£
143,255
73,591
197,747
320,917
79,741
243,409
246,298
1,006,874
139,008
207,505
18,936
115,109
2,792,390

Amber Valley Borough Council
Bolsover District Council
Chesterfield Borough Council
Derby City Council
Derbyshire Dales District Council
Derbyshire County Council
Derbyshire Police & Crime Commissioner
DPFP LLP
Erewash Borough Council
High Peak Borough Council
Local Government Association
South Derbyshire District Council
Total

Receipts
£

Outstanding
£

(600)
(486,420)

(130,642)
(44,095)

(487,020)

(174,737)

Officers
During the financial year 2021/22 no officers had an interest in an organisation that would have a potential to control
or influence the Authority or be controlled or influenced by the Authority.
Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced by the Authority
In December 2014 Members of Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority approved the creation of a Limited Liability
Partnership (LLP) between the Fire and Rescue Service, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC)
and Derbyshire Constabulary which oversaw the delivery of the Joint Police and Fire Headquarters and Joint
Training Centre projects. This enabled the interests of both partners and their Management Board Members to be
protected within a formal partnership agreement with equal voting rights. The Management Board of DPFP LLP
comprises eight Members in total; four from Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service, one from Derbyshire
Constabulary, and three from the OPCC. The Chair of Derbyshire Fire Authority and the PCC (Elected Officials)
alternate in sharing the roles of Chair and Vice Chair of the Board. Investment in the DPFP LLP amounted to
£12.605m as at 31st March 2022 which relates to the Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service share of the joint
headquarters and joint training centre.
During 2021/22 payments totalling £1.022m (£1.007m in 2020/21) where due to the LLP for rental, license and
service charges. At 31st March the redistribution of £0.395m (£0.390m in 2020/21) year end profit from the LLP
remained outstanding.

71

33. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing
The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below (including the value of
assets acquired under finance leases), together with the resources that have been used to finance it. Where capital
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used by the Authority, the
expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital
expenditure incurred historically by the Authority that has yet to be financed. The CFR is analysed in the second
part of this note.
2020/21
£000
8,694

Opening capital financing requirement

(779)
(403)
8,291
(403)

Capital investment
Property, plant, and equipment
Intangible assets
Sources of finance
Capital receipts
Government grants
Sums set aside from revenue
Direct revenue contributions
MRP inc finance lease repayments
Closing capital financing requirement
Movements in year

(403)
0
(403)

Explanation of movements in year
MRP provision in year
Assets acquired under finance leases/ (finance leases repaid)
Increase/(decrease) in capital financing requirement

1,124
317
(662)
0

2021/22
£000
8,291
2,258
59
(2,173)
(38)
(106)
(403)
7,888
(403)

(403)
0
(403)

34. Leases
Authority as Lessee
Finance Leases
The Authority has acquired a number of its fleet of vehicles under finance leases. The assets acquired under these
leases are carried as vehicles, plant, and equipment in the Balance Sheet at the following net amounts:
2020/21
£000
941
941

Vehicles, plant, furniture, and equipment
Total

These assets have previously been directly acquired and no further finance lease liability exists.
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2021/22
£000
589
589

Operating Leases
The Authority utilises a number of vehicles under operating lease arrangements, which typically have a life of five
years and there are two property rents in place for the new joint HQ and training centre at Ripley until 2040.
The future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable leases in future years are:
2020/21
£000
439
1,304
4,473
6,216

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Total

2021/22
£000
357
1,312
4,264
5,933

The expenditure charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement during the year in relation to
these leases was:
2020/21
£000
543
543

2021/22
£000
448
448

Minimum lease payments
Total

35. Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are payable as a result of either the Fire & Rescue Authorities decision to terminate an
employee’s employment before normal retirement age, or an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy
in exchange for those benefits. Voluntary early retirement does not represent a termination benefit, being instead
a "post- employment benefit".
The Authority did not terminate any contracts during 2021/22 (one in 2021/22), the number and cost of exit
packages are disclosed in Note 29 Officers Remuneration.

36. Defined Benefit Pension Schemes
Participation in Pension Schemes
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Authority makes contributions towards the
cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, the
Authority has a commitment to make the payments (for those benefits) and to disclose them at the time that
employees earn their future entitlement.
The Authority participates in two post-employment schemes, both of which are defined benefit schemes:
•

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), for administrative, support and control employees, is
administered locally by Derbyshire County Council. This is a funded defined benefits scheme based since
1 April 2014 on ‘Career Average Revaluated Earnings’ (CARE), meaning that the Authority and employees
pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with
investment assets.

•

The Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (FPS). This is split into four parts.
o

The 1992 Firefighters Pension Scheme, which has been closed to new entrants since 6 th April
2006. Its members are wholetime firefighters.

o

The 2006 Firefighters Pension Scheme, which has been closed to new entrants from 1 st April
2015. Its members are both on call and wholetime firefighters.
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o

The Modified Pension Scheme, which was a special pension scheme made available to on call
firefighters who were active after 1st July 2000, following a legal decision relating to the Part-time
Workers (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000. It will not receive any
new members.

o

The 2015 Firefighters Pension Scheme, which is currently open for new members and has
received some transfers from the other schemes if certain criteria are met. Its members are both
on call and wholetime firefighters.

All these schemes are unfunded schemes, meaning that there are no investment assets to meet the cost
of pension liabilities and cash has to be generated to meet pension payments as they fall due. The cost
of the scheme is met with contributions paid by employees and the Authority, with any deficit in the funding
required being met by a grant from the Home Office. The scheme is administered on behalf of Derbyshire
Fire and Rescue Service by West Yorkshire Pension Fund. Further details on these schemes can be
found in Note 2 - Accounting Policies.
The Authority also participates in the Firefighters’ Compensation Scheme. The Firefighters’ Compensation Scheme
(England) Order 2006 makes provision for the payment of pensions, allowances and gratuities to and in respect of
persons who die or are permanently disabled as a result of an injury sustained or disease contracted while
employed by a Fire and Rescue Authority. The level of benefits payable is dependent on the salary, service and
the degree of disablement of the member at the time the injury is incurred. Therefore, the level of long term benefits
payable can be both material and volatile. For this reason the Compensation Scheme is treated as an unfunded
defined benefit scheme and accounted for under International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19), in the same
manner as for the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes. The cost of the Compensation Scheme is met by the Authority.
The numerical entries below that refer to the FPS are for all schemes combined unless otherwise stated.
The principal risks to the Authority of the schemes are the longevity assumptions, statutory changes to the
schemes, structural changes to the schemes (i.e. large-scale withdrawals from the schemes), changes to inflation,
bond yields and the performance of the equity investments held by the schemes. These are mitigated to a certain
extent by the statutory requirements to charge to the General Fund the amounts required by statute as described
in the accounting policies note.
Discretionary Post-retirement Benefits
Discretionary post-retirement benefits on early retirement are an unfunded defined benefit arrangement, under
which liabilities are recognised when awards are made. There are no plan assets built up to meet these pension
liabilities.
Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits
The Authority recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when they are earned by
employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge the Authority is
required to make against council tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of postemployment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement in Reserves Statement. The
following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the General
Fund Balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during the year:

Significant factors affecting the 2021/22 Pension Statements
McCloud Impact
In December 2018 the Court of Appeal upheld a ruling (“McCloud/Sargeant”) that transitional protections in the
Judges’ and Firefighters’ Pension Schemes were unlawful on the grounds of age discrimination. The implications
of the ruling are expected to apply to the LGPS (and other public service schemes) as well. The UK government
requested leave to appeal to the Supreme Court, but this was denied at the end of June 2019.
In July 2020, the government published a consultation on proposed remedies for pension schemes to remove age
discrimination relating to the McCloud/Sargeant case. The actuaries for the Firefighters Pension Schemes and the
LGPS have provided estimates of the impact of this consultation and these estimates are included in this Statement
of Accounts.
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GMP Impact
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) was accrued by members of the Local Government Pension Scheme
between 6 April 1978 and 5 April 1997. The value of GMP is inherently unequal between males and females for a
number or reasons, including a higher retirement age for men and GMP accruing at a faster rate for women.
However overall equality of benefits was achieved for public service schemes through the interaction between
scheme pensions and the Second State Pension. The introduction of the new Single State Pension in April 2016
disrupted this arrangement and brought uncertainty over the ongoing indexation of GMPs, which could lead to
inequalities between men and women’s benefits.
The fund’s actuary has carried out calculations in order to estimate the impact that the GMP indexation changes
will have on the liabilities of Derbyshire Pension Fund for financial reporting purposes. These estimates are included
in the pension liabilities in the Statement of Accounts.
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Local
Government
Pension Scheme
2020/21 2021/22

Cost of Services
Service cost comprising:
- Current service costs
- Past service costs

£000

£000

£000

£000

(2,107)
0

(3,424)
0

(10,630)
(20)

(11,470)
(140)

0

0

0

0

(300)

(504)

(10,760)

(10,680)

(2,407)

(3,928)

(21,410)

(22,290)

6,306

2,290

0

0

(920)

383

0

0

(15,435)

5,358

(51,630)

6,510

0

0

0

0

450

(148)

3,540

(210)

(12,006)

3,955

(69,500)

(15,990)

- (Gain)/loss on settlements
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
- Net interest expense
Total post-employment benefits charged to the Surplus or Deficit
on the Provision of Services
Other post-employment benefits charged to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability comprising:
- Return on plan assets (excluding the amount included in the net
interest expense)
- Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in demographic
assumptions
- Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in financial assumptions
- Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the retained
settlement
- Other (experience)
Total post-employment benefits charged to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement

Firefighters’
Pension Scheme
2020/21 2021/22

The Authority is required to disclose if there are possible obligations which may require payment or a transfer of
economic value.

Movement in Reserves Statement
- reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision
of Services for post-employment benefits in accordance with the Code
Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for
pensions in the year:
- employers’ contributions payable to scheme

2,407

3,928

21,410

22,290

(1,089)

(1,126)

(4,395)

(4,539)

The Firefighter Pension Scheme has no assets.

Pension Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance
The amount included in the Balance
of its defined benefit plans is as follows:

Sheet

arising

Present value of the defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Subtotal
Other movements in the liability (asset)
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation
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from

the

Authority’s

obligation

in

respect

Funded Liabilities:
Local Government
Pension Scheme

Unfunded
Liabilities:
Firefighter Pension
Scheme

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

£000

£000

£000

2021/22
£000

64,819

63,567

536,090

536,520

(41,345)

(45,174)

0

0

23,474

18,393

536,090

536,520

0

0

0

0

23,474

18,393

536,090

536,520

Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of Scheme Assets
Funded Liabilities:
Local Government
Pension Scheme
2020/21
£000
33,548
779

2021/22
£000
41,345
854

6,306

2,290

The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates
Contributions from employer
Contributions from employees into the scheme

1,089
449

1,126
461

Benefits paid

(826)

(902)

41,345

45,174

Opening fair value of scheme assets
Interest income
Remeasurement gain/(loss)
The return on plan assets, excluding the amount included in the net interest
expense
Other

Closing fair value of scheme assets

Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation)
Funded Liabilities:
Local Government
Pension Scheme

Unfunded Liabilities:
Firefighter Pension
Scheme

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

£000

2021/22

£000

£000

46,105

64,819

478,630

536,090

Current service cost

2,107

3,424

10,630

11,470

Interest cost

1,079

1,358

10,760

10,680

449

461

1,920

2,010

920

(383)

0

0

15,435

(5,358)

51,630

(6,510)

0

0

0

0

(450)

148

(3,540)

210

Past service costs

0

0

20

140

Losses/(gains) on curtailment

0

0

0

0

Liabilities assumed on entity combinations

0

0

0

0

(826)

(902)

(13,960)

(17,570)

0

0

0

0

64,819

63,567

536,090

536,520

Opening balance at 1st April

Contributions by scheme participants
Remeasurements (gains) and losses:
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in
demographic assumptions
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial
assumptions
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the
retained settlement
-

Other (Experience gains/losses)

Benefits paid
Liabilities extinguished on settlements
st

Closing balance at 31 March
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£000

Breakdown of Firefighters’ Pension Scheme Transactions and Liabilities by Scheme
Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement
Cost of Services

1992 Scheme

2006 Scheme

Injury Benefit
Scheme

2015 Scheme

Total

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

2021/22

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Service cost comprising:
- Current service costs

(520)

(280)

(150)

(130)

(9,720)

(10,800)

(240)

(260)

(10,630)

(11,470)

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

(20)
0

(140)
0

0
0

0
0

(20)
0

(140)
0

- Net interest expense

(8,910)

(8,700)

(710)

(730)

(890)

(1,030)

(250)

(220)

(10,760)

(10,680)

Total post-employment benefits charged to the Surplus or
Deficit on the Provision of Services

(9,430)

(8,980)

(860)

(860)

(10,630)

(11,970)

(490)

(480)

(21,410)

(22,290)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(38,680)

4,650

(5,270)

660

(6,970)

1,090

(710)

110

(51,630)

6,510

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(5,820)

1,240

860

370

7,780

(1,900)

720

80

3,540

(210)

(53,930)

(3,090)

(5,270)

170

(9,820)

(12,780)

(480)

(290)

(69,500)

(15,990)

- Past service costs
- (Gain)/loss on settlements
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

Other post-employment benefits charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability comprising:
- Return on plan assets (excluding the amount included in the
net interest expense)
- Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in demographic
assumptions
- Actuarial gains and losses arising on changes in financial
assumptions
- Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the
retained settlement
- Other (experience)
Total post-employment benefits charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
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Movement in Reserves Statement

- reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on the
Provision of Services for post-employment benefits in accordance
with the Code
Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for
pensions in the year:
- employers’ contributions payable to scheme

1992 Scheme

2006 Scheme

2015 Scheme

Injury Benefit
Scheme

Total

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

2021/21

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

9,430

8,980

860

860

10,630

11,970

490

480

21,410

22,290

349

209

94

99

3,952

4,231

0

0

4,395

4,539

Pension Assets & Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet
1992 Scheme

Present value of the defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Sub-total
Other movements in the liability (asset)
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation

2006 Scheme

2015 Scheme

Injury Benefit
Scheme

Total

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

443,090

430,130

36,710

36,390

45,230

59,500

11,060

10,500

536,090

536,520

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

443,090

430,130

36,710

36,390

45,230

59,500

11,060

10,500

536,090

536,520

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

443,090

430,130

36,710

36,390

45,230

59,500

11,060

10,500

536,090

536,520
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Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation)
1992 Scheme

Opening balance at 1st April
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions by scheme participants
Remeasurements (gains) and losses:
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic
assumptions
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial
assumptions
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the
retained settlement
Other (experience gains/losses)
Past service costs
Transfers in
Losses/(gains) on curtailment
Liabilities assumed on entity combinations
Benefits paid
Liabilities extinguished on settlements
st

Closing balance at 31 March

2006 Scheme

2015 Scheme

Injury Benefit
Scheme

Total

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

402,010
520
8,910
140

443,090
280
8,700
90

31,520
150
710
30

36,710
130
730
40

33,700
9,720
890
1,750

45,230
10,800
1,030
1,880

11,400
240
250
0

11,060
260
220
0

478,630
10,630
10,760
1,920

536,090
11,470
10,680
2,010

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

38,680

(4,650)

5,270

(660)

6,970

(1,090)

710

(110)

51,630

(6,510)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5,820
0

(1,240)
0

(860)
0

(370)
0

(7,780)
0

1,900
0

(720)
0

(80)
0

(3,540)
0

210
0

0
0
0
(12,990)

0
0
0
(16,140)

0
0
0
(110)

0
0
0
(190)

20
0
0
(40)

140
0
0
(390)

0
0
0
(820)

0
0
0
(850)

20
0
0
(13,960)

140
0
0
(17,570)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

443,090

430,130

36,710

36,390

45,230

59,500

11,060

10,500

536,090

536,520
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The Local Government Pension Scheme’s assets consist of the following categories, by amount and by
proportion of the total assets held:
31st March
2021
£000
Equity investments
Consumer

31st March
2021
%

31st March
2022
£000

31st March
2022
%

700

2

179

1

407
149
313
367

1
0
1
1

115
57
86
118

0
0
0
0

567
8,314
10,817

1
20
26

162
1,581
2,298

1
4
6

5,378
3,485
740

13
8
2

5,879
3,791
802

13
8
2

Subtotal bonds

9,603

23

10,472

23

Property
UK

3,140

8

3,561

8

Overseas
Subtotal property

0
3,140

0
8

0
3,561

0
8

Private Equity

1,535

4

2,168

5

Investment Funds and Unit Trusts
Equities
Bonds

11,058
0

27
0

20,923
0

46
0

Infrastructure
Subtotal - investment funds and unit trusts

2,564
13,622

6
33

3,722
24,645

8
54

2,628

6

2,030

4

41,345

100

45,174

100

-

Manufacturing
Energy and utilities
Financial institutions
Health and care

Information technology
Other
Subtotal equity instruments
Bonds
-

Corporate
Government
Other

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

All scheme assets have quoted prices in active markets with the exception of the following:
Type
Bonds – Corporate
Private Equity
Property – UK

31st March
2021
£000
5,378
911
3,140

31st March
2022
£000
3,082
1,324
3,319

0
1,962
2,628
14,019

7,482
2,778
2,030
20,015

Investment Funds – Equities
Investment Funds – Infrastructure
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Total quoted prices not in active markets
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Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate of the
pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, etc.
The Firefighter Pension Scheme has been independently assessed by the Government Actuary Department
(GAD), and the Local Government Pension Scheme has been independently assessed by Hymans Robertson.
Estimates for both funds have been based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 st March 2019. The
significant assumptions used by the actuary have been:
Local Government
Pension Scheme

Mortality assumptions

2020/21
(yrs)
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:
- Men
- Women
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:
- Men
- Women

Firefighter Pension
Scheme

2021/22
(yrs)

2020/21
(yrs)

21.3

21.1

21.4

21.5

23.9

23.8

21.4

21.5

22.5
25.8

22.2
25.6

23.1
23.1

23.2
23.2

Local Government
Pension Scheme

Other Actuarial Assumptions

2021/22
(yrs)

Firefighter Pension
Scheme

2020/21

2021/22

2020/21

2021/22

%

%

%

%

Rate of CPI inflation
Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase in salaries – short term

2.80
3.50
N/A

3.15
3.85
N/A

2.40
4.15
N/A

3.00
4.75
N/A

Rate of increase in pensions
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities
CARE revaluation rate

2.80
2.05

3.15
2.75

2.40
2.00
4.15

3.00
2.65
4.75

All firefighter schemes have the same mortality and actuarial assumptions.
The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the table above.
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions
occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the assumption analysed changes
while all the other assumptions remain constant. The assumptions in longevity, for example, assume that life
expectancy increases or decreases for men and women. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some
of the assumptions may be interrelated. The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting
policies for the scheme i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method. The methods and types of
assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used in the previous period.
Impact on the Defined Benefit Obligation in the Pension Schemes 2021/22
Local Government
Pension Scheme (LGPS)

Longevity (increase or decrease in 1 year)
Rate of increase in salaries (increase or
decrease by 0.1%/yr for LGPS 0.5%/yr for
FFP)
Rate of increase in pensions (increase or
decrease by 0.1%/yr for LGPS 0.5%/yr for
FFP)
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities
(increase or decrease by 0.1%/yr for LGPS
0.5%/yr for FFP)

Firefighter Pension
Scheme (FFP)

Increase in
Assumption
£000
2,543

Decrease in
Assumption
£000
(2,543)

Increase in
Assumption
£000
19,000

Decrease in
Assumption
£000
(19,000)

175

(175)

8,000

(8,000)

1,274

(1,274)

42,000

(42,000)

1,460

(1,460)

(50,000)

50,000
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Impact on the Authority’s Cash Flows
The defined benefit liability shows the underlying commitments that the Authority has in the long run to pay
retirement benefits. The total liability of £554.9m has a substantial impact on the net worth of the Authority as
recorded in the Balance Sheet, however statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial
position of the Authority remains healthy:
•

•
•

The net liability on the Local Government Pension Scheme will be made good by increased contributions
over the remaining working life of employees (i.e. before payments fall due), as assessed by the scheme
actuary. The aims of the Fund are to keep employer contribution rates as constant as possible.
Contributions are set every three years as a result of the actuarial valuation of the Fund required by the
Regulations. The last actuarial valuation of the Fund was carried out as at 31st March 2019 and set
contributions for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 st March 2023. There are no minimum funding
requirements in the LGPS but the long term funding objective is for the Fund to achieve and then maintain
sufficient assets to cover 100% of projected accrued liabilities.
Finance is only required to be raised to cover firefighter pensions when the pensions are actually paid,
and any shortfalls are currently met by the Home Office. Any short term cash flow requirements are
actively managed by Corporate Financial Services.
Finance is only required to be raised to cover the costs of the firefighters’ compensation scheme when
the pensions are actually paid, and these costs are included in the Authority’s annual budget. The amount
spent in 2021/22 was £856k (2020/21, £823k).
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Firefighters’ Pension Fund Accounts
Fund Account

Fund Account

2020/21

2021/22

Total

Total

£000

£000
Contributions receivable:
Fire Authority

(4,395)
(370)
(1,925)

- contributions in relation to pensionable pay
- Ill Health Pensions

(410)

Firefighters’ contributions

(2,004)

(6,690)
(22)
(6,712)

(4,539)

(6,953)
Transfers in from other authorities
Total income to the fund

(140)
(7,093)

Benefits payable
12,319
1,133

- pensions

12,565

- commutations and lump sum retirement benefits

4,376

0

- lump sum death benefits

0

0

- Gad vs Milne backdated payments

0

Payments to and on account of leavers
0
13,452
6,740
(6,712)

- transfers out to other schemes
Total spending by the fund

80
17,021

Net amount payable for the year
Top-up grant received from the government

9,928
(6,574)

0

Gad V Milne additional grant received from government

0

28

Balance of top-up grant for the year receivable from
/(payable to) the Home Office

3,354

Net Assets Statement
2020/21

2021/22

£000

£000
Current assets
952
28

Payments in advance

942

Top-up receivable from the government

3,354

Current liabilities
0
(980)
0

Unpaid pension benefits

0

Amount owing to General Fund
Net Current Assets

(4,296)
0
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36. Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments
The Authority’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
▪

credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Authority.

▪

liquidity risk – the possibility that the Authority might not have funds available to meet its commitments to
make payments.

▪

market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Authority as a result of changes in such
measures as interest rates and stock market movements.

Risk management is carried under policies approved by the Authority in the annual Treasury Management Strategy
(TMS). The Authority provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering
specific areas, such as interest rate risk, credit risk and the investment of surplus cash.
Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the Authority’s
customers.
This risk is minimised through the Treasury Management Strategy, which provides strict criteria for placing
investments with financial institutions. The latest Treasury Management Strategy was approved by Fire Authority
on 10 February 2022 and can be found on the Authority’s website. The key issues within the strategy were:
▪

The Authorised Limit for 2021/22 was set at £10.98m. This is the maximum limit of external borrowings or
other long term liabilities such as finance leases.

▪

The Operational Boundary for 2021/22 was set at £10.38m. This is the expected maximum level of debt
and other long term liabilities during the year.

▪

The maximum proportions of fixed and variable interest rate exposure were set at 100% and 40%
respectively.

Customers for goods and services are assessed, taking into account their financial position, past experience and
other factors regarding inclusion and equality. Individual credit limits are set in accordance with internal ratings in
accordance with parameters set by the Authority.
The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in banks and building societies cannot
be assessed generally as the risk of any institution failing to make interest payments or repay the principal sum will
be specific to each individual institution. Recent experience has shown that it is rare for such entities to be unable
to meet their commitments. A risk of irrecoverability applies to all of the Authority’s deposits, but there was no
evidence at the 31st March 2022 that this was likely to crystallise.
The following analysis summarises the Authority’s potential maximum exposure to credit risk, based on recent
experience of default.

Amount at
31st March
2022

Historical
experience
of default

Estimated Maximum
Exposure to Credit Risk
31st March 2022
£000

10,844

0.00%

0

181

0.02%

0

£000
Deposits with Banks and Financial Institutions
Customers
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The Authority allows 30 days credit for customers. The age analysis of the customer balance is shown below:
2020/21
£000
401.9
18.9
0.0
0.1
0.0
420.9

Not yet due*
Less than three months
Three to six months
Six months to one year
More than one year

2021/22
£000
158.5
18.1
4.4
0.0
0.0

Total

181.0

*£89k of the amount owed by customers at 31st March 2022 relates to repayment of employee pension contributions
as a result of the Part-time Workers (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000. Some of the
staff affected are repaying their contributions over ten years via direct debit. This note has treated these amounts
outstanding as 'not yet due.' Should an employee default on the repayment the appropriate entry to the pension
scheme will also be reversed, so there is no risk to the Authority from these amounts.
Liquidity Risk
The Authority has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to ensure that cash is available as
needed. If unexpected movements happen, the Authority has ready access to borrowings from the money markets
and the Public Works Loans Board. There is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its
commitments under financial instruments. The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows:
2020/21
£000
(679)
(679)
(2,930)
(3,685)
(7,973)

Less than one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
More than five years
Total

2021/22
£000
(679)
(668)
(2,825)
(3122)
(7,294)

All trade and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year.
Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk
The Authority is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements on its borrowings and
investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Authority. For instance, a rise in interest
rates would have the following effects:
▪

borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of
Services will rise;

▪

borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities borrowings will fall;

▪

investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of
Services will rise;

▪

investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall.

Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not impact on
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services or Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. However,
changes in interest payable and receivable on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services and affect the General Fund Balance. Movements in the fair value
of fixed rate investments that have a quoted market price will be reflected in Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure.
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The Authority has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk. Policy is to aim to keep a maximum of
40% of its borrowings in variable rate loans. The Authority held no variable rate loans during 2021/22. During
periods of falling interest rates, and where economic circumstances make it favourable, fixed rate loans will be
reviewed to limit exposure to losses.
There is an active strategy for assessing interest rate exposure that feeds into the setting of the annual budget and
which is used to update the budget quarterly during the year. This allows any adverse changes to be
accommodated. The analysis will also advise whether new borrowing taken out is fixed or variable.
According to this assessment strategy, at 31st March 2022, if interest rates had been 1% higher with all other
variables held constant, the financial impact would be:
Impact of interest rate changes

£000

Increase in interest payable on variable rate borrowings
Increase in interest receivable on variable rate investments
Impact on Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services
Decrease in fair value of fixed rate investment assets
Impact on Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Decrease in fair value of fixed rate borrowings liabilities (no impact on Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure)

0
143
143
0
143
521

The impact of a 1% fall in interest rates would be as above but with the movements being reversed.
Foreign Exchange Risk
The Authority has no financial assets, or liabilities, denominated in foreign currencies and thus has no exposure to
loss arising from movements in exchange rates.
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Glossary of Terms used in the Statement of Accounts

The definitions within the glossary are designed to give the user an understanding of the technical terminology
contained in the Statement of Accounts.
Accounting Policies
These are a set of rules and codes of practice used when preparing the Accounts.
Accrual
A sum included in the final accounts to cover income or expenditure attributable to an accounting period for goods
supplied and received or works done but for which payment has not been received or made by the end of the
period.
Actuarial Gain or Loss
The change in actuarial deficits or surpluses that arise because either events have not coincided with the actuarial
assumptions made for the last valuation (experienced gains or losses), or because the actuarial assumptions have
changed.
Actuarial Valuation
A valuation of assets held, an estimate of the present value of benefits to be paid, and an estimate of required
future contributions, by an actuary, on behalf of a Pension Fund.
Amortisation
This is the amount set aside to pay for the loss in value of intangible assets.
Budget
This is a statement of the Authority’s (financial) plans for a specified period of time. A budget is prepared and
approved by the Authority prior to the start of the financial year. The Authority’s budget is prepared on an outturn
basis, which means that increases for pay and prices during the financial year are contained within the total budget
figure.
Business Rates Baseline
Determined for individual authorities at the outset of the business rates retention scheme by dividing the local share
of the Estimated Business Rates Aggregate between billing authorities on the basis of their proportionate share.
Call Off Contract
The Authority tenders for the supply of contracts.
Capital Expenditure
This is expenditure on new assets or on the enhancement of existing assets so as to prolong their useful life or
enhance market value.
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)
The capital financing requirement represents capital expenditure financed by external debt and not by capital
receipts, revenue contributions, capital grants or third party contributions at the time of spending. It measures the
Authority’s underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose.
Capital Grant
Grant from Central Government used to finance specific schemes in the capital programme. Where capital grants
are receivable, these are used, as far as possible, to finance capital expenditure to which they relate in the year
that the grants are received.
Capital Grants Unapplied
The Grants as described above which have yet to be used to finance capital expenditure.
Capital Receipts
Proceeds from the sale of an asset which may be used to finance new capital expenditure or to repay outstanding
loan debt as laid down within rules set by Central Government. They cannot be used to finance normal day to day
revenue spending.
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
The principal accountancy body dealing with local government finance.
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CIES
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Componentisation
The separation of an asset into identifiable and significant components that have differing useful lives. This is so
that components of an asset that have a shorter life than the asset itself are depreciated separately to ensure that
the annual charge to revenue fully reflects the use of the asset.
Consumption of Economic Benefits (CEB)
Impairment caused by either physical damage, or deterioration in the quality of the service provided by the asset.
Impairment caused by a general fall in prices is referred to as No CEB.
Corporate & Democratic Core
The costs associated with corporate policy making and Member based activities, together with costs relating to
corporate management, public accountability and treasury management.
Creditor
An amount owed by the Authority for work done, goods received, or services rendered but for which payment has
not been made as at the date of the Balance Sheet.
Current Service Cost (Pensions)
This measures the increase in the present value of pension liabilities generated in the financial year by employees.
It is an estimate of the true economic cost of employing people in the financial year, earning service that will
eventually entitle them to the receipt of a lump sum and pension when they retire.
Current Value
Current value is the value that assets and liabilities can be measured if they were sold or settled at the current
date.
Debtor
A sum of money due to the Authority in the relevant financial year but not received as at the Balance Sheet date.
Depreciation
The measure of the consumption or other reduction in the useful economic life of a non-current asset whether
arising from use, passage of time or obsolescence through technological or other changes.
Discretionary Added Years
Retirement benefits which the employer has no legal, contractual or constructive obligation to award and which are
awarded under the Authority’s discretionary powers, such as The Local Government (Discretionary Payments)
Regulations 1996, the Local Government (Discretionary Payments and Injury Benefits) (Scotland) Regulations
1998, or the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2001.
DPFP
Derbyshire Police and Fire Partnership (Limited Liability Partnership), a legal entity established to manage the build
of the new joint headquarters.
Earmarked Reserves
These reserves represent monies set aside that can only be used for the specific purpose for which they were
established.
Emoluments
All taxable sums paid to or received by an employee including the value of any none cash benefits received.
Financial Year
The period covered by a set of financial accounts. The Authority’s financial year commences 1 st April and finishes
31st March the following year.
General Fund
This reserve is to provide for unexpected expenditure that cannot be managed within existing budgets.
Government Grants Deferred
The balance of grants applied to the financing of non-current assets awaiting amortisation to the Income and
Expenditure Statement to match depreciation on relevant assets.
Impairment
A reduction in the value of a non-current asset below the amount included on the Balance Sheet.
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Imprest Account
Cash held locally to pay for small or urgent items.
Intangible Non-Current Assets
Assets which are not physical such as software licences.
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
These standards are developed by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and regulate the
preparation and presentation of Financial Statements. Any material departures from these Standards would be
disclosed in the Notes to the Accounts. International Financial Reporting Standards are new standards developed
by the IASB.
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) is an independent, privately-funded accounting standardsetter based in London with representatives from several counties in the world. The IASB as the successor to the
IASC adopted existing International Accounting Standards (IAS’s), many of which have been revised.
International Accounting Standard
International Accounting Standards (IAS) were issued by the Board of the International Accounting Standards
Committee (IASC).The IASC was the predecessor to the IASB.
Joint Venture
Arrangement under which two or more parties have contractually agreed to share control, such that decisions about
activities that significantly affect returns require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control, and joint
venturers have rights to the net assets of the arrangement
Limited Liability Partnership (LLP)
A legal business entity whereby the partners have limited liabilities.
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
The statutory minimum amount which an Authority is required to charge to revenue on an annual basis as a
provision to redeem debt.
Net Book Value
The amount at which non-current assets are included in the Balance Sheet.
Operating Lease
Agreement whereby ownership of the asset remains with the lessor and an annual rental is charged to the Income
and Expenditure Statement.
Operational Assets
Non-current assets held, occupied, or utilised by the Authority in the direct delivery of those services for which it
has statutory responsibility.
Past Service Cost (Pensions)
These costs represent the increase in liabilities arising from decisions taken in the current year to improve
retirement benefits, but whose financial effect is derived from years of service earned in earlier years.
PP&E
DFRS property, plant and equipment.
Precept
This is a levy, which the Authority makes through the council tax to pay for services.
Provision
A liability or loss which is likely or certain to be incurred but where the date and cost are uncertain.
Provision for Credit Liabilities
The provision for credit liabilities represents sums set aside for the repayment of Public Work Loans Board (PWLB)
debt and forms part of the capital financing reserve.
Public Works Loans Board (PWLB)
A Government Agency that provides longer term loans to Local Authorities at advantageous interest rates.
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Remuneration
Reward for employment in the form of pay, salary, or wage, including allowances, benefits (such as company car,
medical plan, and pension plan), bonuses, cash incentives, and monetary value of non-cash incentives.
Retirement Benefits
All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services rendered by employees that are payable
after the completion of employment. Retirement benefits do not include termination benefits payable as a result of
either (i) an employer’s decision to terminate employment before the normal retirement date or (ii) an employee’s
decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits, because these are not given in exchange
for services rendered by employees.
Revaluation Reserve
Amount arising from the revaluation of assets; the difference between the former book value of assets on the
balance sheet and the present (re-valued) book value of the asset.
Reserve
An amount set aside for specific or general purpose.
Revenue Expenditure
The day to day running costs incurred by the Authority in providing services.
Revenue Financing
Resources provided from the Authority’s revenue budget to finance the cost of capital projects.
Revenue Support Grant (RSG)
Grant provided by Central Government, through the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister, to all Local Authorities,
distributed according to a pre-determined formula. An Authority’s Revenue Support Grant amount plus the local
share of Estimated Business Rates Aggregate will together comprise its Settlement Funding Assessment.
Settlement Funding Assessment
Part of the local government finance settlement in England. It determines the distribution of revenue raised from
business rates and the distribution of Revenue Support Grant.
Tangible Non-Current Assets
These are assets which are physical such as buildings or land with an expected life of multiple years.
Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations – TUPE
Relevant to any redundancy decisions where a business or part of it is transferred from one owner or another.
Unusable Reserves
These are reserves resulting from the interaction of legislation and proper accounting practices. These reserves
are not resource backed and cannot be used for any other purpose.
Usable Reserves
These are held as a working balance or for a specific future purpose.
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ITEM 7
OPEN

DECISION

DERBYSHIRE FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY
28 JULY 2022
REPORT OF CHIEF FIRE OFFICER/CHIEF EXECUTIVE
INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION 2021/22

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1 To present Members with the Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion
2021/22.
2.

Recommendation

2.1 That Members approve the Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion 2021/22.
3.

Information and Analysis

3.1 The attached report confirms a satisfactory audit opinion from Internal Audit
for 2021/22 and demonstrated compliance with the requirements set out in
respect of the accounts and audit regulations and CIPFA code of corporate
governance.
4.

Internal Audit

4.1 Regulation 6 Paragraph 1 - A relevant body must undertake an effective internal
audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing
standards or guidance.
4.2 Regulation 6 Paragraph 2 - Any officer or member of a relevant body shall, if
the body requires:–
(a) Make available such documents of the body which relate to its
accounting and other records as appear to that body to be necessary for
the purpose of the audit; and
(b) Supply the body with such information and explanation as that body
considers necessary for that purpose.
4.3 Regulation 6 Paragraph 3 - The relevant body shall, at least once in each year,
conduct a review of the effectiveness of its system of internal audit.
4.4 Regulation 6 Paragraph 4 - The findings of the review referred to in paragraph
three shall be considered, as part of the consideration of the system of internal
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control referred to in paragraph (3) of regulation 4, by the committee or meeting
referred to in that paragraph.
5.

Legal Considerations

5.1 Not applicable.
6.

Risk Management Consideration

6.1 The effective review of governance and financial management controls
provides assurance that related corporate risks are being managed.
7.

Inclusion and Equality Considerations

7.1 Not applicable.
This report has been consulted upon and approved by the following officers:
Simon Allsop – Joint Director of Finance/ Treasurer
GPWG
Contact Officer: Mark Nash

Contact No: 01773 305305

Background Papers:
Appendix 1: Internal Audit Annual opinion 2021/22
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Appendix 1

Derbyshire Fire & Rescue –
Internal Audit Annual Report 2021-22
Derbyshire Fire & Rescue Authority
Report Produced: 07 June 2022
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Our Vision
To bring about improvements in the control, governance
and risk management arrangements of our Partners by
providing cost effective, high quality internal audit services.

Contacts
Richard Boneham CPFA
Head of Internal Audit (DCC) &
Head of Audit Partnership
c/o Derby City Council
Council House
Corporation Street
Derby, DE1 2FS
Tel. 01332 643280
richard.boneham@derby.gov.uk

Adrian Manifold CMIIA
Audit Manager

Mandy Marples CPFA, CCIP
Audit Manager

c/o Derby City Council
Council House
Corporation Street
Derby
DE1 2FS
Tel. 01332 643281

c/o Derby City Council
Council House
Corporation Street
Derby
DE1 2FS
Tel. 01332 643282

adrian.manifold@centralmidlandsaudit.co.uk

mandy.marples@centralmidlandsaudit.co.uk

Providing Excellent Audit Services in the Public Sector

Governance & Performance Working Group

Derbyshire Fire & Rescue – Internal Audit Annual Report 2021-22

Introduction
Why an Audit Opinion is required
The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) states:

Extracted from Public Sector Internal Audit Standards Updated March 2017 - 2450 Overall Opinions

In this instance, the Chief Audit Executive is Mandy Marples, Audit Manager.
With regard to overall opinions, CIPFA’s Local Government Application Note for the
United Kingdom Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2019 Edition (issued February
2019) also states:
“The Public Sector Requirement in PSIAS 2450 requires that the Chief Audit Executive
must provide an annual report to the board timed to support the annual
governance statement. This must include:
• an annual internal audit opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of
the organisation’s governance, risk and control framework – i.e. the control
environment
• a summary of the audit work from which the opinion is derived (including
reliance placed on work by other assurance providers)
• a statement on conformance with the PSIAS and the results of the Quality
Assurance and Improvement Programme.
The annual opinion should be guided by the CIPFA Framework Delivering Good
Governance in Local Government.
The annual report should also include:
• disclosure of any qualifications to that opinion, together with the reasons for
the qualification
• disclosure of any impairments (‘in fact or appearance’) or restriction in scope
• a comparison of the work actually undertaken with the work that was planned
and a summary of the performance of the internal audit function against its
performance measures and targets
• any issues the Chief Audit Executive judges particularly relevant to the
preparation of the annual governance statement
• progress against any improvement plans resulting from QAIP external
assessment.
In the context of the PSIAS, ‘opinion’ means that internal audit will have done
sufficient, evidenced work to form a supportable conclusion about the activity that it
has examined. Internal audit will word its opinion appropriately if it cannot give
reasonable assurance (e.g. because of limitations to the scope of, or adverse
findings arising from, its work).”
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How an Audit Opinion is Formed
Internal Audit's risk-based plan must take into account the requirement to produce
an annual internal audit opinion. Accordingly, the Audit Plan must incorporate
sufficient work to enable the Audit Manager to give an opinion on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk
management and control. Internal Audit must therefore have sufficient resources to
deliver the Audit Plan.

Internal
Audit
Findings

External
Assurance
Bodies

Progress
with
Actions

Audit Opinion
Possible Overall Opinions
The Audit Manager's opinion relative to the organisation as a whole could fall into
one of the following 3 categories:
•

Inadequate System of Governance, Risk and Internal Control – Findings
indicate significant weaknesses and the need for urgent remedial action.
Where corrective action has not yet started, the current remedial action is not,
at the time of the audit, sufficient or sufficiently progressing to address the
severity of the control weaknesses identified.

•

Adequate System of Governance, Risk and Internal Control Subject to
Reservations – A number of findings, some of which are significant, have been
raised. Where action is in progress to address these findings and other issues
known to management, these actions will be at too early a stage to allow a
satisfactory audit opinion to be given.

•

Satisfactory System of Governance, Risk and Internal Control - Findings indicate
that on the whole, arrangements are satisfactory, although some
enhancements may have been recommended.

Page 4 of 16

Governance & Performance Working Group

Derbyshire Fire & Rescue – Internal Audit Annual Report 2021-22

Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme
A quality assurance and improvement programme (QAIP) is designed to enable an
evaluation of the internal audit activity’s conformance with the Definition of Internal
Auditing and the Standards and an evaluation of whether internal auditors apply the
Code of Ethics. The programme also assesses the efficiency and effectiveness of the
internal audit activity and identifies opportunities for improvement.
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards state:

Extracted from Public Sector Internal Audit Standards Updated March 2017 - 1320 Reporting on the Quality
Assurance and Improvement Programme

Public Sector Internal Audit Standard 1312 also requires that:
"External assessments must be conducted at least once every five years by a
qualified, independent assessor or assessment team from outside the organisation.”
Assessments are based on the following 3 ratings:
•

Generally Conforms - means that an internal audit activity has a charter,
policies, and processes that are judged to be in conformance with the
Standards.

•

Partially Conforms - means deficiencies in practice are noted that are judged
to deviate from the Standards, but these deficiencies did not preclude the
internal audit activity from performing its responsibilities in an acceptable
manner.

•

Does Not Conform - means deficiencies in practice are judged to be so
significant as to seriously impair or preclude the internal audit activity from
performing adequately in all or in significant areas of its responsibilities.

Our last external quality assessment on our overall conformance with the Standards
was undertaken in 2017 and it was determined that we generally conformed with
each standard. Accordingly, another external quality assessment is due in 2022 and
CMAP management is currently in the process of procuring an organisation to
undertake the review.
In November 2021, the CMAP management team undertook a self-assessment
against the Standards and produced a revised QAIP which is appended at page 16
of this report. Following consultation with all members of the Audit Team, this QAIP
was reported to the Partnership Board on 2 March 2022 for approval. We are
committed to undertaking another self-assessment against the Standards in
preparation for the forthcoming External Quality Assessment.

Page 5 of 16

Governance & Performance Working Group

Derbyshire Fire & Rescue – Internal Audit Annual Report 2021-22
We have determined that CMAP Generally Conforms ' to the Standards. 'Generally
Conforms' means the evaluator has concluded that the relevant structures, policies,
and procedures of the activity, as well as the processes by which they are applied,
comply with the requirements of the individual Standard or element of the Code of
Ethics in all material respects. For the sections and major categories, this means that
there is general conformance to a majority of the individual Standards or elements of
the Code of Ethics, and at least partial conformance to the others, within the
section/category. There may be significant opportunities for improvement, but these
must not represent situations where the activity has not implemented the Standards
or the Code of Ethics, has not applied them effectively, or has not achieved their
stated objectives. As indicated above, general conformance does not require
complete/perfect conformance, the ideal situation, successful practice, etc.
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Audit Opinion 2021-22
Based on the work undertaken during the year, I have reached the overall opinion
that there is a Satisfactory System of Governance, Risk and Internal Control - Findings
indicate that on the whole, controls are satisfactory, although some enhancements
may have been recommended.
In forming this opinion, I am satisfied that no conflicts of interest have occurred which
would have any bearing on my independence or objectivity. Also, my organisational
independence and objectivity has not been subject to any impairment in fact or
appearance; nor has the scope of our work been restricted in any way.
I have arrived at this opinion having regard to the following:
•

The level of coverage provided by Internal Audit was considered adequate to
support the opinion.

•

Work has been planned and performed to obtain sufficient information and
explanation considered necessary to provide evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the organisation’s control environment is operating effectively.

•

Reliance is placed on other assurance providers who contribute to the overall
assurance framework.

•

Our insight gained from our interactions with Senior Management and the
Governance & Performance Working Group.

•

The degree to which recommended actions have been implemented to
address our concerns over risk and control weaknesses within the Service.

•

The changing risk environment within the Service has been taken into account
during the 2021-22 financial year. Key features include;
Remote Working – The Service successfully rolled out remote working during the
early stages of the pandemic and is now moving towards longer term agile
working. Key financial processes and governance arrangements have
continued, and we have reviewed the specific threat to personal and sensitive
information processed remotely by the Service.
Information Technology (IT) – An audit of remote working security controls and
policies was undertaken from a corporate leadership, ICT department and
remote workers perspective, as all parties have a significant role in the
transition from temporary to permanent agile working. This transition plus the
global cyber security risks from the invasion of Ukraine has required the Service
to ensure that it has robust online defences, and the audit was conducted with
these heightened risks in mind. The audit was given a Limited assurance rating
and identified some significant weaknesses where controls had been
weakened in some respects to enable remote working. The Service have
agreed actions to improve controls and manage risks in this area.
Internal Audit also reviewed the Service’s arrangements for Security Awareness
as a follow-up to the consultancy review conducted in the previous year. A
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Security Awareness programme had been introduced to the Service and
Reasonable assurance was given that the key components to a successful
security awareness program were in operation.
Capacity – At times during the year key staff were unable to meet with the
auditor and provide necessary documentation due to competing priorities.
This resulted in the delay in completion of some audits.
•

No adverse implications for the organisation’s Annual Governance Statement
have been identified from any of the work that Internal Audit has undertaken
in 2021-22.

•

The internal audit work we have carried out during the year has demonstrated
that in general there is a sound governance framework in place, risks are being
managed and the controls put in place to mitigate those risks are working in
practice. Where weaknesses have been identified, we have worked with
management to agree appropriate corrective actions and a timescale for
improvement.

My opinion is provided with the following caveats:
•

The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit has reviewed all risks, controls
and governance arrangements relating to the organisation. The opinion is
substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based audit work and as such, it
is only one component that is taken into account when producing the
organisation’s Annual Governance Statement.

•

No system of control can provide absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss, nor can Internal Audit give absolute assurance.

•

Full implementation of all agreed actions is essential if the benefits of the
control improvements detailed in each individual audit report are to be
realised.
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Audit Coverage
The 2021-22 Internal Audit Plan, approved by the Governance & Performance
Working Group on 22 February 2021, was informed by internal audit's own assessment
of risk and materiality in addition to consultation with Senior Management to ensure it
aligned to the organisation’s key risks and objectives. The Plan was amended during
the year and an audit of Fleet Management was removed from the original
approved Plan. An audit to review the Transparency of the Service’s website was
added to the Plan at the request of management.
The following tables summarise the 2021-22 Audit Plan assignments and their
outcomes as well as those assignments from the 2020-21 Audit Plan which were still
ongoing in 2021-22.
2021-22 Jobs
On-Call Payments
Procurement 2021-22
Transparency
Collaborative Agreements
IT Security Awareness
IT Homeworking Key Controls
B/Fwd Jobs
Risk Management 2020-21
Workforce Planning
Joint Working Arrangements
IT Business Continuity

Status

% Complete

Final Report
Final Report
Final Report
Draft Report
Final Report
Final Report

100%
100%
100%
95%
100%
100%

Status

% Complete

Final Report
Final Report
Final Report
Final Report

100%
100%
100%
100%

Assurance
Rating
Reasonable
Reasonable
Reasonable
Reasonable *
Reasonable
Limited
Assurance
Rating
Reasonable
Reasonable
Reasonable
Reasonable

* Provisional assurance rating as report is yet to be finalised

Assurances Provided 2021-22
8

1
0
Substantial

Reasonable

Limited

0

0

No

N/A

Of the 9 completed assignments, 8 attracted a Reasonable assurance rating; 1 a
Limited assurance rating and 1 has been substantially completed but hasn’t yet
been finalised.
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Assurance Ratings Explained
Substantial - A sound system of governance, risk management and control exists,
with internal controls operating effectively and being consistently applied to
support the achievement of objectives in the area audited.
Reasonable - There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management
and control in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for improvement
were identified which may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area
audited.
Limited - Significant gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance were identified.
Improvement is required to the system of governance, risk management and
control to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the area
audited.
No - Immediate action is required to address fundamental gaps, weaknesses or
non-compliance identified. The system of governance, risk management and
control is inadequate to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives
in the area audited.
N/A – The type of work undertaken did not allow us to reach a conclusion on the
adequacy of the overall level of internal control.
These assurance ratings are determined using our bespoke modelling technique
which takes into account the number of control weaknesses identified in relation to
those examined, weighted by the significance of the risks.
The following table seeks to summarise the extent of audit coverage provided to the
Service during 2021-22 and the assurance ratings associated with each audit type of
assignment.
Assurances Provided by Type of Audit Review
Summary of Audit
Plan 2021-22 Results
(incl. Jobs B/Fwd)

Type of Review
Key Financial
System

System/Risk

Not Yet Complete

Governance/E
thics

IT Audit

1

Anti-Fraud

Procurement/
Contract

Totals
1

Substantial
Reasonable

1

4

1

Limited

2

8

1

1

3

10

No
N/A
1

4

2

Key Financial System audits
An important area of Internal Audit's assurance work is the review of the risks and
controls associated with the Service’s main financial systems. The Key Financial
System audit in 2021-22 was on On-Call Payments. It incorporated a review of both
the processing of allowances for accuracy and completeness, and a review of the
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budgetary processes to ensure there was adequate monitoring, reporting and
scrutiny. The assurance rating for this audit was Reasonable.
System/Risk audits
One of our main roles is to review the internal control systems developed by
management to mitigate operational risks and report upon the adequacy of those
controls. We undertook 4 systems/risk audits in 2021-22 and all have been finalised.
These audits reviewed Procurement, Transparency of the Service’s website,
Workforce Planning and Risk Management. All 4 audits attracted a Reasonable
assurance rating.
Governance/ Ethics audits
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and
values, by which the Service is directed and controlled. Internal Audit reviews specific
areas of the governance framework each year. In 2021-22 we finalised an audit on
Joint Working Arrangements which had a Reasonable assurance rating and have
substantially completed an audit of the Service’s Collaborative Agreements. This is
also expected to have a Reasonable assurance rating although it is yet to be
finalised.
IT Audits
One key area of work each year is our IT audit coverage. This work is important as it
provides assurance around the Service’s mitigating actions to reduce the threat of
cyber-attacks and keep data secure. We have continued our practice of notifying IT
Management of any data security issues as they arise rather than delaying until the
formal reporting stage. This has added value to the audit process in that potential
data security issues can be mitigated in a timely manner. We then follow the
mitigations through to the implementation stage.
During the year we have finalised audits of IT Business Continuity and IT Security
Awareness with both attracting a Reasonable Assurance Rating. We also conducted
an Audit of IT Homeworking Key Controls where we identified some important
weaknesses where controls were weak or had deteriorated in some respects to
enable remote working, and we raised a number of moderate risk issues and a
significant risk issue in this regard. We will continue to focus on IT as we are still
identifying oversights that could lead to data breach or privacy violations.
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Audit Assignments 2021-22
Recommendations Made
Audit Assignments Completed in Period

Assurance Rating

Critical
Risk

Significant
Risk

Moderate
Risk

On Call Payments

Reasonable

Procurement 2021-22

Reasonable

Transparency

Reasonable

Risk Management 2020-21

Reasonable

1

Workforce Planning

Reasonable

3

Collaborative Agreements

Reasonable*

Joint Working Arrangements

Reasonable

IT - Security Awareness

Reasonable

IT Homeworking Key Controls

Limited

IT Business Continuity

1

% Recs
Closed

6

83%

2

100%

10

20%

2

33%

1

100%
n/a

1

Reasonable
TOTALS

Low
Risk

1

9

11%

2

5

43%

4

5

40%

3

4

57%

14

44

46%

* Provisional assurance rating as report is yet to be finalised

Internal Controls Examined
For the 2021-22 audits finalised to date, we established the following information
about the controls examined:

Page 12 of 16

Governance & Performance Working Group

Derbyshire Fire & Rescue – Internal Audit Annual Report 2021-22
Recommendations Made
The control weaknesses identified above resulted in 59 recommendations which
suggested actions for control improvements. The following table and charts show
where the recommendations came from, and the current status of all
recommendations made for 2021-22 audits:
Recommendations Status
Audit Assignments Completed in Period

Type of Review

Total
Closed

Action
Due

Key Financial System

5

1

Procurement 2021-22

System/Risk

3

Transparency

System/Risk

2

Risk Management 2020-21

System/Risk

1

System/Risk

4

On Call Payments

Workforce Planning

Being
Implemented

Future
Action

8
2

Collaborative Agreements

Governance/Ethics

Joint Working Arrangements

Governance/Ethics

1

IT - Security Awareness

IT Audit

3

4

IT Homeworking Key Controls

IT Audit

4

6

IT Business Continuity

IT Audit
TOTALS

8

4
27

9

1

2

3

20
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Recommendations Summary

These 59 ecommendations have
resulted from the audit assigments
finalised either during 2021-22 or
finalised in the time following the
year-end. 75% of all
recommendations made were
considered to present a low risk,
24% a moderate risk and 1% a
significant risk.

Of the 59 recommendations
made, 46% have been closed, 5%
have passed their original action
date and a revised target has
been set, 15% have passed their
original action date but we have
not yet received information
regarding the status of
management's action. The
remaining 34% have an agreed
original action date set in the
future.
5 of the moderate risk
recommendations raised have
been addressed to our
satisfaction, as have 22 of the low
risk recommendations. We will
continue to monitor all
recommendations not yet
addressed and will bring those
moderate risk recommendations
that remain outstanding to the
attention of the Governance &
Performance Working Group
throughout the coming year.
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Performance Measures
5 customer satisfaction surveys
have been returned. Surveys
contain 11 questions regarding
the audit service provided and
asked managers to score each
on a scale of 1-5 (1=Very Poor,
2=Poor, 3=Fair, 4=Good,
5=Excellent). From the customer
satisfaction returns received, the
overall average score out of 55
was 50.

As at 31 March 2022 we estimate
that we had completed 86% of
the revised Audit Plan against a
target of 90%. The chart shows
the current progress on 2021-22
audits as at the date of this
report.
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QAIP – Improvement Plan
ACTIONS
1. We should continue to heighten our profile by building on the relationship management

already established with each partner organisation. i.e. Regular meetings with Senior
Management combined with a regular on-site presence. Note under the current
circumstances (Covid pandemic) this needs to be through regular contact via virtual
meetings.
2. We should map competency levels of staff over the various audit disciplines (e.g.

contract, IT, probity, investigations etc.) that we can link to audit engagements to
demonstrate that the staff assigned are appropriate. We should continue to promote a
culture of continuous improvement which considers the needs of individuals by:
• staff completing the AMS in respect of any training received,
• undertaking GPCs in accordance with the hosts requirements and
• producing a Training & Development Plan.
3. We should ask staff to complete a Personal Development Plan and then produce a

Training & Development Plan for the Team.
4. We should aim to increase our knowledge around the use of data analytics and other

CAATs and identify the benefits it could bring to the audit processes.
• To ensure that audit engagements are supported by appropriate tools, we need to
develop a strategy for the use of data analytics.
5. To demonstrate stakeholder engagement with the process, we should ensure that the

QAIP Action Plan is a standard agenda item on both the CMAP Operational Group and
at Audit Section meetings.
6. To demonstrate each work programme has been appropriately approved, we should

seek earlier formal sign off of the control evaluation so we can better demonstrate
scrutiny and approval of coverage by audit management.
7. CMAP needs to explore potential external assessors that can deliver the appropriate

level of validation required and that understand the partnership ethos/approach.
8. We should continue to develop the process for incorporating other assurance

information into our overall risk assessment process and our overall opinion and how the
other assurance provider information we gather can be used to demonstrate an audit
assurance framework for each organisation.
9. We should ensure that our Audit Manual is complete, up-to-date, readily available and

used by all audit staff.
10. To support the improvement of the organisation's governance framework, we should

undertake consultancy work to facilitate the self-assessment of the effectiveness of the
Audit Committee at all partner organisations.
11. We should consider how we could systematically evaluate the potential for the

occurrence of fraud at each partner organisation and how each organisation manages
fraud risk.
12. To review all CMAP reports to assess compliance with the Web Content Accessibility

Guidelines (WCAG).
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